

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

Strategies for Health Care Administration Leaders to Reduce Hospital Employee Turnover

Malee Kirk Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Business Commons</u>, and the <u>Health and Medical Administration Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Malee Kirk

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Peter Anthony, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Jon Corey, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Denise Land, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2017

Abstract

Strategies for Health Care Administration Leaders to Reduce Hospital Employee

Turnover

by

Malee Kirk

MS, Central Michigan University, 2007

BA, Columbus State University, 1996

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2017

Abstract

Staff turnover is high in the hospital industry, influencing health care administration leaders to implement successful strategies to decrease staff turnover. The purpose of this case study was to explore successful strategies to reduce hospital employee turnover. Five health care leaders from Raleigh, North Carolina hospitals were in the sample drawn from the population of medical professionals with successful employee retention in their hospital settings. The conceptual framework for this study was the Herzberg dual-factor theory with the supporting theory, Maslow's hierarchy of needs theory, and the opposing theory, Vroom's expectancy theory. Semistructured interviews occurred with 5 leaders. The review of hospital human resource documents, website pages, and training program information combined with interview data for methodological triangulation using the Yin 5-step process, leading to 5 themes. Participants emphasized selective recruitment and hiring with a focus on hiring employees for a good organizational fit. Participants discussed different ways of engaging, supporting, and motivating hospital employees. Strategies included valuing employees, effective communication, recognition, and respect. Participants identified a fair, flexible, collaborative, and safe organizational culture as ideal for the retention of hospital employees who fit with the hospital environment. Reducing employee turnover may improve customer relations and quality of care in hospitals, leading to lower health care costs, representing positive social change for hospital employees and the patients served.

Strategies for Health Care Administration Leaders to Reduce Hospital Employee

Turnover

by

Malee Kirk

MS, Central Michigan University, 2007

BA, Columbus State University, 1996

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2017

Dedication

First, I want to thank God for his many blessings that he has bestowed upon me. For without him, none of this would be possible. I want to thank him for giving me the strength to complete this journey. As I traveled this journey, he was always there for me. I dedicate this study to my son, James Christopher Kirk. James, I would like to thank you for your continued support and encouragement. You have inspired me in so many ways that you will never understand. I thank God for you, and I will always love you.

To my parents, Jerry Kirk, Regina Kirk, and Dang Sansuwan, who have always supported me in my endeavors, thank you for your love, encouragement, and personal sacrifices. To my brothers, Eddie and Denis Kirk, thank you for allowing me to be your sister and encouraging me along the way without knowing it. This is also dedicated to the memory of my sister, Yvonne Kirk, whose life was a living example how great God is, which inspired me to continue pursuing my dream in the face of adversity. Mark 10:27: "All Things Are Possible".

Acknowledgments

I am extremely grateful to Dr. Peter Anthony, who served as my mentor and chairperson. I want to thank him for his countless hours of reflecting, reading, encouraging, and most of all, patience with me throughout the entire doctoral journey process. I wish to thank my committee members, Dr. Jon Corey and Dr. Denise Land, who were more than generous with their expertise and precious time.

I extend my gratitude to Dr. Amelia Pryce, who had took me under her wing and served as my mentor and coach. When the journey became very difficult to continue on she gave me wisdom and guidance. Thank you for your support and continuous motivation.

List of Tables	v
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	2
Problem Statement	3
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	4
Research Question	6
Interview Questions	6
Conceptual Framework	7
Operational Definitions	8
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	9
Assumptions	9
Limitations	
Delimitations	
Significance of the Study	11
Contribution to Business Practice	
Implications for Social Change	
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	14
Criteria for Literature Search and Selection	14
Herzberg's Dual-factor Theory	15
Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs Theory	16

Table of Contents

Vroom's Expectancy Theory	
Improve Quality of Working Life	
Leadership Involvement and Influence	
Job Satisfaction and Employee Commitment	
Organizational Culture	
Transition	45
Section 2: The Project	47
Purpose Statement	47
Role of the Researcher	48
Participants	51
Research Method and Design	54
Research Method	55
Research Design	
Population and Sampling	
Ethical Research	61
Data Collection Instruments	63
Data Collection Technique	65
Data Organization Technique	67
Data Analysis	68
Reliability and Validity	71
Reliability	71
Validity	

Transition and Summary	75
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	77
Introduction	77
Presentation of the Findings	78
Theme 1: Understanding the Problem	79
Theme 2: Recruiting Employees for Organizational Fit	83
Theme 3: Engaging, Supporting, and Motivating Employees	87
Theme 4: Valuing Employees through Communication, Recognition, and	
Respect	96
Theme 5: Maintaining a Flexible, Fair, Cooperative, Safe Organizational	
Culture	102
Relationship to Existing Literature and Conceptual Framework	108
Applications to Professional Practice	110
Implications for Social Change	111
Recommendations for Action	111
Recommendations for Further Research	112
Reflections	113
Summary and Study Conclusion	114
References	116
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	158
Appendix B: Screening Questions	160
Appendix C: Invitation Letter	161

Appendix D: Interview Questions	
---------------------------------	--

List of Tables

Table 1. References to Understanding Employee Turnover	79 - 80
Table 2. References to Recruitment and Organizational Fit	84
Table 3. References to Engagement, Support, and Motivation	88
Table 4. References to Valuing, Communication, Recognition, and Respect	
Table 5. References to Organizational Culture	102 -103

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

The need to hire and retain health care staff continues to grow, as leaders of health care organizations struggle to serve the needs of patients through the retention of committed staff (Al Hussami, Darawad, Saleh, & Hayajneh, 2014). As people live longer and the proportion of elderly in the population continues to increase, more health care jobs will be available that could lead to opportunities for job security and career advancement of hospital employees (Nancarrow, 2015; Spetz, Trupin, Bates, & Coffman, 2015). However, hospital leaders may notice a weakening dedication among new hires, as well as an increase in voluntary employee turnover rates (Gellatly, Cowden, & Cummings, 2014).

The increase in health care jobs and voluntary employee turnover exacerbate escalating health care costs and lower quality care, representing ongoing problems that health care leaders continue to confront (Kayyali, 2014). Employee turnover and retention are concerns to organization leaders who seek meaningful ways to retain a talented and committed workforce to lower the financial and quality service costs of employee turnover (Oser, Biebel, Pullen, & Harp, 2013). One way health care leaders aspire to reduce health care costs is to understand the causes of employee turnover and ways to enhance employee commitment to retain a talented workforce in their organizations (Wallis & Kennedy, 2013). Information gleaned from trustworthy research may help health care administrators reduce employee turnover and retain workers, thereby reducing costs for health care that stem from staff turnover in hospital settings.

Background of the Problem

Organizational leaders confront the challenge of retaining their employees (Hauff, Richter, & Tressin, 2015). With employee turnover and retention as major concerns to many organizational leaders, there must be accurate measurements and precise data regarding determining factors that influence organizations' employee losses (Griffin, Hogan, & Lambert, 2014; Hauff et al., 2015; Jadoo et al., 2015; Laschober & de Tormes, 2013). Determining leadership strategies for controlling employee turnover based on an understanding of employees' organizational and career intentions is part of developing purpose-trained administrative leaders who can focus on increasing the retention of health workers (Bonenberger, Aikins, Akweongo, & Wyss, 2014).

The application of leadership strategies for predicting and controlling employee turnover in hospitals may reduce the costs of employee turnover and help hospitals survive and even thrive in a challenging economy (Jeon & Yom, 2014). Employee turnover during the first year of employment can be especially problematic; therefore, hospitals will need to implement a strategic plan for staff retention efforts that will help decrease first-year employee turnover, among plans to address other employee turnover concerns (Daniels, Mackovjak, Audia, & Richards, 2013). Leaders who understand factors that influence and affect employee turnover can take steps to reduce problems that arise from employee turnover (Moneke & Umeh, 2013a). The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore strategies health care administrators use to reduce hospital employee turnover.

Problem Statement

Recruiting and training new employees are expensive organizational processes (Griffin et al., 2014; Lee, Lee, & Bernstein, 2013; Ramoo, Abdullah, & Piaw, 2013). Employee turnover in hospitals increases employee recruitment and training costs, which can be 200% of an employee's salary, thereby impacting the profitability of hospitals and increasing patients' health care costs (Call, Nyberg, Ployhart, & Weekley, 2015). The general business problem is that hospital administrators confront high employee turnover rates that affect employee attrition, hospital profitability, patient care, and health care expenses. The specific business problem is that some health care administrators lack effective strategies to reduce employee turnover in hospitals.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore effective strategies for health care administrators to use to reduce hospital employee turnover. The population group included medical professionals such as hospital administrators, physicians, and nurses with experience in hospital settings in Raleigh, North Carolina. The study results could benefit hospital administrators who need to implement better strategies for recruitment, retention plans, and training programs to help improve retention rates and decrease employee turnover of hospital staff. Decreased employee turnover may lead to improvements in customer relations, as employees commit to the organization and provide higher levels of quality patient care. The data collected could provide insight into the extent health care administrators need to conduct strategic processes to reduce employee turnover in hospitals. The study may benefit hospital administrators in implementing better practices for recruitment, retention plans, and training programs to help improve the retention rate of hospital staff, specifically health care professionals who are new to the health care industry. Increasing employee retention can improve customer relations, as employees commit to the organization. Leaders in health care administration will bring about social change to society and the greater community by improving the quality of care in their institutions.

Nature of the Study

This qualitative case study involved an exploration of strategies to reduce employee turnover in hospitals. In addition, a qualitative researcher begins with the study and meaning of how people live in a realistic environment in which they perform in their everyday roles (Yin, 2013). A quantitative method involves a focus on hypotheses with statistical tests on measurements of variables within certain confines that do not often encompass the relevant dynamic details about the contexts of people's lives (Franz, Worrell, & Vögele, 2013). As opposed to quantitative research, qualitative data collected about complex real world events may be appropriate for answering qualitative research questions posed outside of laboratory settings or experimental parameters (Harrison, Yu, Dicker, & Doyle, 2013). Qualitative research often yields a more fully articulated appreciation of a dynamic situation, in comparison to what might result from a quantitative method (Yazan, 2015). An articulated in-depth description of a dynamic situation is especially important for a topic like employee turnover and retention, because selected study participants provide insights leading to potential solutions, such as strategies for reducing hospital employee turnover. Mixed method research combines

both qualitative and quantitative methods (Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala, 2013). Using the qualitative method allowed me to explore strategies hospital administrators use to reduce employee turnover, by analyzing in-depth data collected from a relatively small but informed sample lead to a coherent comprehensive answer to the overarching research question. Of the different qualitative research designs, such as phenomenology, ethnography, narrative design, and case study design, I chose to use a case study design. Exploring strategies to reduce hospital employee turnover was not an appropriate topic for a phenomenology design that, according to Mayoh and Onwuegbuzie (2013), involves the study of the essence and meaning of unique personal experiences. Ethnography involves the study of and immersion in socio-cultural settings (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). Since the intent of this study was not about a specific culture, ethnography was not an appropriate design for this study. A narrative design revolves around the process of storytelling about individuals' lives and experiences (Scott, Brett-MacLean, Archibald, & Hartling, 2013), which was not of interest in this study. According to Yin (2013), a case study method allows researchers to assess and observe a situation in detail while keeping the contextual framework in mind. The collection and analysis of qualitative data from business settings via a case study design can represent a rigorous form of inquiry to help solve business problems (Cronin, 2014). By conducting a qualitative case study, I used the triangulation of collected data from multiple sources to gain insight into strategies health care administration leaders may apply in hospitals to reduce staff turnover.

Research Question

The primary research question of this study was as follows: What successful strategies do health care administrators used to reduce hospital employee turnover?

Interview Questions

The interview questions designed for this study signified a guide for extracting participants' responses. The purpose was to gather data from health care administrators in Raleigh, North Carolina who successfully reduced turnover. The guiding interview questions were:

- 1. What strategies did you apply in your organization to reduce employee turnover?
- 2. Of the strategies that you applied, which strategies do you believe have been most effective in reducing staff turnover?
- 3. What strategies did you apply to salary structure help to reduce staff turnover?
- 4. What policies and procedures did you apply to help to reduce staff turnover?
- 5. What working conditions do you promote to reduce staff turnover?
- 6. What are your experiences with career growth opportunities that reduced staff turnover?
- Of the strategies that you applied to reduce turnover, what strategies, if any, do you believe enhanced job satisfaction among staff?
- 8. Of the strategies that you applied to reduce turnover, what strategies, if any, do you believe decreased dissatisfaction among staff?

- 9. What publicly-available documents would you suggest that I review that could help me understand the strategies you used to reduce staff turnover?
- 10. What more can you add that we have not already discussed that can help me understand the strategies you used to reduce turnover of hospital staff?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework that guided this study was the dual-factor theory. Dual-factor theory encompasses Herzberg's theory of motivation and hygiene (Herzberg, 1987). Herzberg and colleagues initially theorized about variables in the work environment that prompt occupational fulfillment and disappointment (Herzberg, Mausner, & Snyderman, 1959). Dual-factor theory applied to research that involved job attitudes and productivity in the workplace, in which administrators identify and acknowledge both satisfaction and dissatisfaction in the work setting (Herzberg et al., 1959). Quality of work-life (QWL) is important in Herzberg's dual-factor theory, because based on the setting of any job, QWL may affect an employee's satisfaction or dissatisfaction. Therefore, improving QWL in hospitals may help deter employees from leaving their jobs (Lee, Dai, Park, & Mccreary, 2013).

Important constructs and propositions underlying the theory include job-related factors, such as salary, company policies and procedures, working conditions, and career growth (Asegid, Belachew, & Yimam, 2014). These job characteristics influence employees' desires to either leave or remain at their jobs. For example, many factors of job stress influence employee turnover, such as low pay, staff shortages, insufficient recognition, employer instability, an absence of advancement opportunities, and little

support from leadership (Asegid et al., 2014; Buttigieg & West, 2013; Gupta, Guha, & Krishnaswami, 2013; Hwang, Lee, Park, Chang, & Kim, 2014; Kim, Im, & Hwang, 2015; Lee, Lee, et al., 2013). In this study, I used dual-factor theory as the lens through which to view the experiences of participants who used effective strategies to reduce turnover of hospital staff.

Operational Definitions

Employee recruitment: Employee recruitment is the process of attracting and screening qualified employees, reviewing interviewees' qualifications, and selecting new hires for companies (Kam & Meyer, 2015).

Employee turnover: This term alludes to the deliberate or automatic separation of workers leaving their present place of work (Kam & Meyer, 2015).

Health care administrators: Health care administrators are health care executives or directors responsible for designing, guiding, organizing, and managing the delivery of health care (Quaye, 2016).

Herzberg's dual-factory theory: Herzberg's dual factor theory identify factors that related to employees' dissatisfaction and satisfaction with work, employee turnover, and retention (Porath, Gerbasi, & Schorch, 2015).

Intrinsic reward: Intrinsic rewards refer to when employees are satisfied with their jobs (Ryan & Ebbert, 2013).

Job dissatisfaction: This term refers to when employees experience unhappiness with their jobs (Kam & Meyer, 2015).

Job satisfaction: This term refers to an employee's sense of satisfaction and dissatisfaction within their job and its environments (Kam & Meyer, 2015).

Turnover intention: This term refer to the factors affecting employees' desire to quit their job (Larkin, Brasel, & Pines, 2013; Spell, Eby, & Vandenberg, 2014; Vujicic, Jovicic, Lalic, Gagic, & Cvejanov, 2014).

Quality of working life (QWL): QWL represents a multifaceted idea of a worker's general emotions about his or her work that stems from attitudes about pay, rewards, work environment, job content, training opportunities, occupational health and safety concerns, career development opportunities, decision-making, work stress, relations among coworkers, and work-life balance (Amini & Mortazavi, 2013; Gerhart & Fang, 2014).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions refer to conditions researchers assume or accept without the ability to verify the truths or facts related to those conditions (Henderson, Kimmelman, Fergusson, Grimshaw, & Hackam, 2013; Pilcher & Cortazzi, 2016). I assumed that it would be possible to determine strategies for health care administrators to reduce hospital employee turnover. I also assumed that participants would answer questions honestly and that participants had knowledge of successful strategies to reduce hospital employee turnover and the method and design were appropriate for capturing those strategies. My role in data collection and analysis in this project included serving as the instrument in data collection and performing qualitative data analysis. A related assumption was that I performed those roles while recognizing and taking steps to address and eliminate sources of bias in this study. When researchers solely rely on few participants' responses, biases may influence the results of study (Anney, 2015). Therefore, an assumption based on the recommendations of case study research experts such as Hyett, Kenny, and Dickson-Swift (2014), was that triangulation of data through the case study approach was an effective means of enhancing the trustworthiness of findings.

Limitations

In every study, there are limitations (Yeatman, Trinitapoli, & Hayford, 2013). Limitations are weaknesses in the study design that researchers identify and reveal to readers, participants, and observers of the case study research and results (Brutus, Aguinis, & Wassmer, 2013). The geographic location selected for this study was accessible for me; therefore, participants were from hospitals located within specific boundaries, which could limit the transferability of results to other settings and situations. Limitatons pertaining to data collection included travel constraints, time constrictions, and financial limitations; therefore, the collection of data was at a single point in time from interviews and document review processes that may not fully reflect all successful strategies that could be observable over time. Collecting data and information from participants for the study can be problematic, because of the different dispersed work locations and wide ranges of experiences. In-person interviews allow the researcher to observe facial and nonverbal expressions, while interviews conducted through the Internet do not include opportunities to observe possibly meaningful expressions (Szolnoki & Hoffmann, 2013). I conducted semistructured interviews, but was prepared

to conduct a Skype or Internet-based interview if necessary to accommodate the scheduling limitations of an interviewee, as appropriate, to achieve data saturation.

Delimitations

The delimitations noted here were the boundaries established for this research. Based on the participants' self-reported eligibilities, participants were adults at least 18 years old with experiences using strategies successfully to decrease employee turnover in hospital settings. The participants' job titles varied but job responsibilities included working in North Carolina hospitals in administration-level management positions involving human resources and employee recruitment, training, and retention. This case study was about North Carolina's health care administration; however, material in the literature review including conceptual and theoretical models that led to the framework and the open-ended interview questions, were comprehensive and included findings from research in other global health care settings. Appropriate transfer of findings to other settings and populations, aided by the provision of elaborate details about the population, sample, and other boundaries of the case, depends on the prudent judgment of readers (Anney, 2015; Crossman & Kazdin, 2016).

Significance of the Study

Findings from this case study provide existing and future leaders in health care administration with more knowledge to make better choices in developing and applying strategies to reduce employee turnover. Reducing hospital employee turnover and maintaining a quality health care workforce are significant challenges for hospital administrators (Nancarrow, 2015). By understanding and implementing strategies to reduce turnover of hospital employees, hospital administrators may enhance positive work environments and promote morale through engagement that may help improve the quality of patient care and reduce health care expenses (Dempsey & Reilly, 2016). This study is beneficial to health care administrators who want to understand and implement strategies to reduce employee turnover, directly improving business practices and leading to positive social change.

Contribution to Business Practice

Hospital nursing vacancies will reach 800,000, or 29% by 2020, and it is likely that hospital administrators will continue to confront workforce shortages and retention challenges without successful strategies to reduce the loss of trained and talented staff (Nancarrow, 2015). For example, within 2 years of graduating nursing school, more than 40% of new nurses may leave their first job (Hofler & Thomas, 2016). High hospital staff turnover can lead to higher health care costs and poorer levels of patient care (Van Bogaert, Adriaenssens, et al., 2014). Health care administrators have limited research available to develop their strategies to prevent employee attrition, yet they need to find ways to save money and reduce employee turnover in hospitals to minimize costs associated with hiring challenges (Lartey, Cummings, & Profetto-McGrath, 2014). High employee turnover within an organization may also imply a lack of support and commitment from leaders (Gatling, Kang, & Kim, 2016). When health care administration leaders understand strategies to reduce employee turnover, there may be more positive public perceptions of their leadership and organizations (El-Akremi, Colaianni, Portoghese, Galletta, & Battistelli, 2014).

Implications for Social Change

This study may result in positive social change stemming from the implementation of effective strategies for reducing employee turnover in hospitals. Minimizing health care employee turnover allowed health care professionals to offer uninterrupted care for their patients in a socially cohesive environment (Backhaus, Verbeek, van Rossum, Capezuti, & Hamers, 2014; Lee, Dai, et al., 2013). Developing strategies that help retain workers was fundamental to quality patient care and lower health care costs that are examples of the positive societal changes that may result from staff retention in health care organizations (Van Bogaert, Van Heusden, Timmermans, & Franck, 2014).

Reduced employee turnover may also lead to employee engagement and positive employee relationships that can reduce stress and burnout in the workplace and improve the health and well-being of workers (Buttigieg & West, 2013; Lee, Dai, et al., 2013). A healthy retained workforce diminishes labor shortages and reduces expensive recruitment and training regimes, potentially redistributing health resources in ways that more efficiently meet the needs of patients (Nancarrow, 2015). Findings from this study might help hospital administrators reduce staff turnover, thereby reducing unemployment, increasing the disposable income of health care workers, and contributing to higher income tax revenues that stimulate a growing economy and support social progress programs.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this literature review was to develop a foundation for understanding the problem of hospital staff turnover and to synthesize the previously published research about the different strategies applied to reduce employee turnover in various industries, health care settings, and geographical locations. A summary of the published findings about how internal environmental factors influence employee hospital employee turnover was vital to determining and applying effective strategies in hospitals. This comprehensive literature review includes a review of dual-factor theory and several related conceptual and theoretical models developed for understanding the phenomenon of employee turnover in modern organizational work settings.

Criteria for Literature Search and Selection

I conducted multiple searches using several databases to locate relevant literature. The database searches led to the identification of the literature used to form the foundation of this study. Databases accessed for peer-reviewed articles, consisted of some of Walden University's research databases, such as ABI/INFORM Complete, Academic Search Complete, Business Source Complete, Dissertations and Theses, Emerald Management Journals, Google Scholar, MEDLINE with Full Text, ProQuest Central, ProQuest Health and Medical Complete, ProQuest Nursing and Allied Health Source, Health Science, SAGE Premier, Science Direct, and Thoreau Search Multiple Databases. The keywords and phrases used in various database searches included *hospital employee turnover, hospital retention, health care and employee turnover, leader* *assumptions in research, limitations in research, delimitations in research, organizational perception and employee turnover*, and *staff turnover in hospitals*. The search terms I used ensured a literature review about health care administration and leadership involvement with reducing hospital staff turnover. Evaluation of the research findings for currency, credibility, and relevance led to the incorporation of 159 references from peer-reviewed resources, of which 98% of the references published within the 5 years prior to the completion of this research project.

Sources consisting of peer-reviewed articles from the fields of business and management, health sciences, and nursing provided the basis for understanding internal environmental factors linked to employee turnover. Understanding of these internal environmental factors led to effective strategies for reducing hospital employee turnover. The major themes for the literature review are about improving the quality of working life (QWL), leadership involvement and influence, job satisfaction and employee commitment, and organizational culture. Although a large amount of published literature pertains to health care administration, little of this research was about hospital employee turnover (Green, Miller, & Aarons, 2013; Steinmetz, de Vries, & Tijdens, 2014). The literature review culminates with the demonstration of the gap in related literature.

Herzberg's Dual-factor Theory

Herzberg et al. (1959) discussed how the dual-factor theory envelopes occupation fulfillment and work disappointment. Herzberg's dual-factor theory aligns with the purpose of this study to explore strategies health care administration uses to reduce employee turnover in hospitals. Herzberg et al. characterized the idea of occupation fulfillment by recognizing characteristic fulfillment. This can include acknowledgment, work errands, and the level of obligation from one perspective, and extraneous variables, such as working conditions, organization strategy, compensation, and competence (Carayon et al., 2013; Park, Boyle, Bergquist-Beringer, Staggs, & Dunton, 2014; Schaffner, Schiefele, & Ulferts, 2013; Van Bogaert, Van Heusden, et al., 2014). Leaders in health care administration should identify issues that affect hospital workers to the extent that they leave their jobs, with the purpose of developing solutions for reducing employee turnover (Nancarrow, 2015).

Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs Theory

The supporting theory for this study was Maslow's (1943) hierarchy of needs theory. From his study of college students, Maslow determined that goals drive motivation based on certain human needs, such as the needs for safety, security, love, belongingness, self-esteem. The relationship between these needs and the pursuit of these needs eventually leads to self-actualization.

Now known as Maslow's hierarchy of needs, the pyramidal structure applied to concepts, such as job satisfaction. Maslow (1943) noted that needs such as food, water, clothing, and shelter are the basics of security and when these needs are met, then self-esteem should be met. Taormina and Gao (2013) noted that needs for affiliation, belongingness, safety, esteem, and self-actualization may be satisfied when the previous needs are met on the pyramid.

Scholars throughout the decades continued to extend the theory to various human situations, including the workplace (Taormina & Gao, 2013; Thibodeaux, Labat, Lee, &

Labat, 2015; Thomas, 2014). Scholars, such as by Shahid and Azhar (2013) noted the need for additional resources to support basic human needs, to include the resources to attain health and safety. Thomas (2014) equated sources of extrinsic satisfaction with reflections of achievement and self-actualization, thereby tying together Maslow's hierarchy of needs and self-actualization with Herzberg's (1959) dual-factor theory. Leaders must understand job satisfaction in order to be able to realize satisfaction in lower level needs, such as the need for safety, love, belongingness, and esteem, leading to self-actualization.

Vroom's Expectancy Theory

Vroom's expectancy theory was the opposing theory for this study. Vroom's expectancy theory states that people make choices to maximize pleasure and minimize pain. For example, value placed on monetary reward leading to satisfaction stimulates pleasure and can stem from a satisfying productive workplace. Additional values bringing humans pleasure, according to Vroom, include financial incentive, upward mobility, and other types of rewards that managers and leaders can use in the workplace. Vroom added a measure of skills, personality, abilities, and knowledge to the idea of motivating employees in the workplace, applied by other scholars to the study of retention and employee turnover in the workplace (Thomas, 2014). Chang, Hsu, and Wu (2015), Gould-Williams et al. (2014) and Shweiki et al. (2015) are among contemporary authors who continued to apply Vroom's expectancy theory in the workplace along with the concepts of extrinsic and intrinsic rewards as motivators in work-related decisions.

Improve Quality of Working Life

Quality of working life (QWL) arises from the interaction between an employee's needs and organizational resources (Gillet, Fouquereau, Bonnaud-Antignac, Mokounkolo, & Colombat, 2013). Health care workers in hospitals must cope with stringent employment requests such as pay, rewards, work environment, job content, training opportunities, occupational health and safety concerns, career development opportunities, decision-making, work stress, relations among coworkers, and work-life balance that can adversely affect their wellbeing, job performance, and productivity (Laschinger, Nosko, Wilk, & Finegan, 2014). Physicians and nurses need to have a good QWL in order to perform well on the job and ensure that patient's safety and wellbeing comes first.

Yet, as Niks, de Jonge, Gevers, and Houtman (2013) noted, an individual's workwellbeing depends on the societal and institutional setting and how work stress and control impact the wellbeing of the individual. Employee turnover in hospitals involves many factors, such as factors that stem from job stress (Woodhead, Northrop, & Edelstein, 2014). Job stressors affect employees' QWL and employee turnover intention (Adriaenssens, De Gucht, & Maes, 2015; Tziner, Rabenu, Radomski, & Belkin, 2015; Van Bogaert, Van Heusden, et al., 2014).

As with most high-stress positions that service consumers, job stressors at work impact a patient's quality of care from staff, which is particularly evident in the health care field, where staff personally feel that their health behaviors affect the quality of patient care they deliver (Inabinett & Ballaro, 2014). For example, nurses suffer from higher rates of morbidity and absenteeism than other health care workers (Horrigan, Lightfoot, Larivière, & Jacklin, 2013). Researchers propose that QWL influences nurses by enhancing health and well-being, enhancing job performance, leading to excellence in health care and heightened patient safety (Horrigan et al., 2013). QWL should be included in an organization's mission statement. Information from work-like policies or programs can be useful to organizations when leaders are trying to find ways to regularize their stated work-life commitments.

QWL can also affect hospital employees in other areas of their lives, such as with their families, social lives, and financial statuses. Therefore, it is important to apply more specific and effective human resources policies to help improve employee QWL, as well as decrease future employee turnover by addressing job stressors (Barrett, 2014; Carayon et al., 2013). Because QWL influences health, work-life policies or programs may ensure employees that leaders in their organization have a vested interest in an employee's wellbeing.

One way to achieve a work-life balance among employees is to have leaders who understand that QWL does not only influence employees, but also influences the entire organization and organizational outcomes (Moneke & Umeh, 2013b; Wong & Laschinger, 2013). For example, the intention to leave among nurses may stem from the work environment and unit characteristics (Battistelli, Portoghese, Galletta, & Pohl, 2013). Hospital leaders adopt a work-life policy or program to help promote QWL programs that may help to reduce employee turnover (Moradi, Maghaminejad, & Azizi-Fini, 2014). Hospitals should have QWL programs incorporated within the organization's work life policy to reduce hospital staff employee turnover.

With limited numbers of health care professionals working in hospitals, many decisions may affect the outcome of patient care that is crucial to a hospital's business success (Luu, 2012). The resultant staff turnover is expensive for health care organizations, primarily because employee turnover costs not only affect budgets, but by extension, organizational resources (Li & Jones, 2013). There are significant effect for organizational leaders when organizational risk affects the provision of quality health care services to consumers and their patients.

Hospitals confront challenges providing quality health care. Staff may need years of education and training, depending on their medical specialty or job function. The reality of losing staff to high employee turnover rates can result in large amounts of transition costs along with decreased productivity and excellence of medical care, increasing the need to employ and instruct new staff (Dempsey & Reilly, 2016; Heponiemi, Kouvonen, Virtanen, Vänskä, & Elovainio, 2014; Hofler & Thomas, 2016). As hospital leaders continue to encounter many challenges and issues of budget constraints in the future, saving money along with improving retention of nurses will need to be the focus for hospitals across the United States.

By improving the QWL for health care professionals, hospitals can retain staff for long-term growth vital to sustainable goals in hospital organizations (Currie & Carr-Hill, 2012). For hospital staff, having a successful QWL enhances the likelihood that patients receive the care they expect to receive (McHugh, Kutney-Lee, Cimiotti, Sloane, & Aiken, 2011; Moradi et al., 2014). A successful QWL program in hospitals can ensure patients receive quality patient care because QWL is especially vital in a fast-paced and highstress work environment (Moradi et al., 2014). By improving hospital working conditions, quality of care for patients may improve as well.

Hospital-based fields frequently see high levels of exhaustion that lead to job turnover and attrition (Lee, Seo, Hladkyj, Lovell, & Schwartzmann, 2013). With the aging U.S. population, the health care administrators anticipate an increased need for hospital staff; the enlistment and retaining of skilled and veteran staff is an urgent concern to hospital administrators (Lee, Dai, et al., 2013). Patients who choose hospitals may make decisions based on the types of service they can expect to receive, which can stem from the reputation that staff has for both QWL and patient care (Luu, 2012).

Ensuring that staff receive QWL is vital in enhancing hospital reputation, producing less medical errors, and increasing patient safety. Medical errors are costly for hospitals and patients. Each year, approximately 210,000 to 440,000 avoidable mistakes lead to deaths, injuries, and illnesses of hospitalized patients (James, 2013; Smith, 2015). The Institute of Medicine (IOM) projected between 44,000 and 98,000 Americans die every year due to health mistakes that add annual costs of more than \$50 billion (Zaheer, Ginsburg, Chuang, & Grace, 2015). Between 2.9% and 16.6% of patients need additional hospitalizations from health care-related diseases or patient falls (Ausserhofer et al., 2013). These avoidable deaths, illnesses, and injuries lead to lost income and additional health care costs of up to \$29 billion annually, which could be preventable partly through QWL initiatives (Moradi et al., 2014).

Few hospital staff may seek help for workplace distresses that could lead to

negative career satisfaction, poor attitudes about positions, and medical errors (Dyrbye, Satele, Sloan, & Shanafelt, 2013). As in-patient care increases and staff become overwhelmed by workloads in hospitals, staff distress can eventually lead to increases in employee turnover. Stressors can lead to burnout that encompasses feelings of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced efficacy or discouragement (Albuquerque & Deshauer, 2014; Bešević-Ćomić, Bosankić, & Draganović, 2014; Tayfur & Arslan, 2013). Burnout can lead to employee turnover in health care staff (Woodhead et al., 2014). Nurses continue to experience burnout, as well as proficiency issues, safety fears, image problems, and quality of life concerns (Buffington, Zwink, Fink, DeVine, & Sanders, 2012; Moradi et al., 2014).

Skilled nursing care of the elderly alone is responsible for more than \$20 billion in annual Medicare costs, with annual costs escalated by turnover expenses (Thomas, Mor, Tyler, & Hyer, 2013). Carayon et al. (2013) highlighted the ongoing shortages of health care staff coinciding with the aging population and corresponding health care staff recruitment and replacement costs. As hospital leaders continue to encounter many challenges and issues of budget constraints in the future, saving money along with improving retention of hospital staff, such as registered nurses and colleagues, there will be challenges for hospitals across the country (Jeon & Yom, 2014).

As hospital administrators gain knowledge about retention challenges, focus remains on the welfare of patients (Moradi et al., 2014). Concerns continue about quality patient care when retention affects patients and staffing in hospitals (Hausknecht & Holwerda, 2013). With the increasing rate of employee turnover for nurses, focus also shifts toward the individual needs of staff that can help ensure quality care for patients in hospitals (Van Bogaert, Van Heusden, et al., 2014). For example, a nurse-friendly environment ensures that nurses' needs are met, such that fatigue from working long shift hours will not hinder nurses from meeting the safety needs of patients in hospitals (Geiger-Brown et al., 2012; Sanders, Krugman, & Schloffman, 2013). Working long hours and shifts often results in reduced alertness along with fatigue that undermines quality of life and welfare of patients.

The Occupational Safety and Health Administration (2013) noted that people working more than 8-hours are affected by lack of alertness. Many health care workers tend to work long shift hours in excess of 8 hours; prolonged labor hours lead to employee exhaustion, decreased production, and compromised patient and individual welfare (Tsai, Huang, Chien, Chiang, & Chiou, 2016). Sanders et al. (2013) established the connection between exhaustion, performance, and the work settings among 745 registered nurses (RNs) and noted that nurses in their study were more aware of greater mental exhaustion than physical exhaustion.

A balanced QWL perspective for nurses can help leaders in health care administration monitor how long staff work, to reduce fatigue among staff that can reduce negative impacts on patient care (Sanders et al., 2013). QWL initiatives that involve monitoring work shift hours helps to prevent staff exhaustion (Geiger-Brown et al., 2012). Attentiveness to QWL also decreases worries, disappointments with employment, and yearnings to leave work (Bogaert, Clarke, Willems, & Mondelaers, 2013; Stimpfel, Lake, Barton, Gorman, & Aiken, 2013).

Leadership Involvement and Influence

Effective leadership is vital to any organization, business environment, or setting. Leadership is the capacity to lead using various strategies to collectively accomplish organizational goals while motivating for action, facilitating an organization to develop, and adjust to changing circumstances (DeAngelis, Wall, & Che, 2013; Buttigieg & West, 2013; Raso, 2013). The common themes in various leadership definitions show that leadership is a process that occurs within a group context and involves the attainment of a goal, such as developing strategies to reduce employee turnover (Wallis & Kennedy, 2013).

Hospitals must have strong effective leadership to have healthy health care work environments, health care providers, and high quality patient care (Anonson et al., 2014; Brown, Fraser, Wong, Muise, & Cummings, 2013). Health care leadership requires the involvement of not only staff managers, but also the involvement of senior executives to plan, deliver, and evaluate patient care properly. As Dow, Diaz-Granados, Mazmanian, and Retchin (2013) suggested in their study of organizational leadership application in health care settings, engagement of all levels of the staff throughout the organizational hierarchy, including recognizing and engaging individuals and health care teams is necessary for organizational success.

Effective leadership across diverse types of organizations involves a team effort to make an organization successful and viable in a competing economic market (Kuang-Jung, Mei-Liang, Chu-Mei, & Chien-Jung, 2015). In hospitals and health care settings, collaboration is imperative for patient wellbeing (Wallis & Kennedy, 2013). Organizational development supporting successful collaboration needs to contain a philosophy where management engages employees through training and motivation (Castner, Foltz-Ramos, Schwartz, & Ceravolo, 2012; Otto, Mohr, Kottwitz, & Korlek, 2014). Leaders set the tone for the successful implementation of policies and programs that affect teams, collaboration, and the overall success of the organizational structure (Carayon et al., 2013; Dow et al., 2013). By shaping and influencing policy, leaders in health care administration affect retention and employee turnover and foster positive relations in the communities their organizations serve (Wallis & Kennedy, 2013).

Zaheer et al. (2015) suggested that leaders obtain concepts and recommendations from subordinates and assimilate the information into policymaking procedures. Wong and Laschinger (2013) found that leaders have a significant part in the empowerment process of employees that can influence intentions to remain in their jobs. For example, Jeon and Yom (2014) suggested that management practices and perceived organizational support through empowerment may entice employees, such as nurses and doctors, to remain in their jobs and professions.

Some hospital leaders developed leadership programs for leaders to develop the best leadership for their organization and ensure that leaders at each echelon of the organization change the organization to higher standards of accomplishment (Buttigieg & West, 2013). As in most businesses, senior health care leaders must use their power in their working environments to retain employees (Lievens & Vlerick, 2014). By being involved positively with staff, leaders in health care administration build stronger relations; as those relationships grow and become stronger, effective communication will also develop equity between leaders and their employees and between all hospital staff and their organizations' customers (Eberechukwu & Chukwuma, 2016).

One of the most significant elements that can influence the functioning and effectiveness of an organization is communication. Communication is important within any organization to ensure that leadership and employees build a relationship with one another. Therefore, communication is an essential portion of patient care, which occurs in various multifaceted care circumstances (Kitson, Muntlin Athlin, Elliott, & Cant, 2014). Mattson, Hellgren, and Göransson (2015) suggested that leader communication is essential to organizational and patient safety. Based on the variations of different communication approaches, leaders have a direct impact on patient care and employees' safety behaviors (Auer, Schwendimann, Koch, De Geest, & Ausserhofer, 2014).

Lack of communication directly relates to decreased patient safety in hospitals (Auer et al., 2014), which can also have a negative impact on the entire success of the organization (Kroning, 2015). Patient safety is a motivator for leaders and staff to use effective and proficient communication to fulfill their health care duties (Blosky & Spegman, 2015). Conducting safe practices in hospitals is a priority to ensure patients are safe while receiving care or treatments. A hospital culture where there is a lack of communication is dangerous for patient safety (Carayon et al., 2013). The focus on continuous improvement provides opportunities for employees to speak up about issues, ideas, or concerns that are both positive and negative. Encouraging employees to voice their concern and to speak up about things that matter to them can help build morale within a hospital organization and improve patient care (Auer et al., 2014).

Leaders strive for and achieve expertise in communication, circumstance observing, and common backing in a proper group structure elevate wellbeing execution, inspirational states of mind, and learning (Carayon et al., 2013; Castner et al., 2012). One responsibility leaders must shoulder is to communicate the organization's mission, plans, and objectives; in doing this, leaders convey the organizational culture by communicating the priorities and values that management holds in high regard while encouraging effective communication throughout the organization (Grabowski et al., 2014; Schwinn & Dinkel, 2015). Therefore, these skills are important in a hospital environment, because patient care is the priority for hospitals. Health care represents an advancing technological field in which people have close relationships with individuals who have extraordinary ways of communicating (Smith, 2015). An employee's perception of little support or insecurity about the purposes of management can have deleterious effects on enthusiasm and undermine efforts for encouraging effective collaboration and communication (Castner et al., 2012).

The fundamentals of leadership effectiveness across all types of businesses include relationship trust and loyalty between leadership and employees (Petrakis & Kostis, 2012). If trust is lost, then the leader's credibility becomes questionable (Su-Yueh et al., 2015). The more employees view leaders as trustworthy, the more improbable medical staff are to harbor troubles that lead them to leave their jobs (Laschinger & Fida, 2014). Organizational trust among leaders and subordinates is necessary for a successful organization (Su-Yueh et al., 2015). By including employees in an organization's decision-making process or making employees feel that they important and safe, leadership can impact positively employees' work performance levels or influence employees' decisions to stay or leave their organizations (Carayon et al., 2013). Employees are part of the process as interacting partners in deciding on what is common sense (Luu, 2012). Sharing ideas with employees and fostering inclusion drive organizational progress toward visions of new ideas to achieve common goals for the long-term growth of the organization (Dow et al., 2013).

With the lack of leadership involvement, employees will come to believe that they are liabilities to the organization and that leadership will not recognize how important employees are to the organization (Dill, Morgan, & Marshall, 2013). Organizations want to retain talent to keep employees who are assets for their company (Bourke, Waite, & Wright, 2014). By retaining talent, leaders retain employees, which reduces employee turnover and decreases the financial cost of hiring on a continuum basis (Cascio, 2014).

Replacing employees in hospitals can drive costs up and can cause a financial burden to hospitals when hiring new employees who are already facing other challenges (Dotson, Dave, Cazier, & Spaulding, 2014). For example, the rising health care costs, variations in clinical outcomes, competition between hospitals, and reluctance by hospitals to change are among the issues challenging the sustainability of the current hospital business model (Twigg & McCullough, 2014). The cost of replacing a nurse includes expenses for advertising, expenses associated with interviewing, and lost productivity, periods of short staffing leading to overtime expenses for remaining staff, or reliance on expensive temporary agency staff who are unfamiliar with the organization and other employees, increasing the potential for adverse patient outcomes (Asegid et al., 2014).

Successful leadership in hospital management, such as in clinical, financial, and operational divisions, adds competitive advantages to health care organizations. Different variations of ecological factors, such as changes in patient compensations, the sharp rise of competitiveness between hospices and hospital organizations, educational and progressive medical technological development, and staff insufficiencies and employee turnover, are challenges for hospital leaders throughout the different divisions (Kim et al., 2015). These ecological challenges have hospitals building schedules that help leaders excel in all parts of their organizations. The best leadership in all levels of the organization as well as leaders who have the necessary skillsets, proficiencies, and understanding help move the organization to higher standards and greater accomplishments (Kim et al., 2015).

As leaders in health care administration face complex issues and challenges with a growing aging population, leadership involvement is crucial in helping create positive work environments as well as sustain talent within an organization (Wallis & Kennedy, 2013). An aging society means that people are living longer and the steady increase of chronic illnesses associated with an aging population is jeopardizing the sustainability of health care systems (Hofler & Thomas, 2016; Nancarrow, 2015). To meet the growing needs of an aging society, hospital leaders address difficulties that require constant administration support, a transformative leadership style, and a cooperative strategic management (Ott & Ross, 2014; Röthlin, 2013).

Leadership involvement can cause ineffective or effective organizational outcomes of their employees. By developing strategies for employee turnover, leaders in health care administration can implement plans to reduce employee turnover. Planning and leadership improvement are strategic initiatives that require managerial consideration (Collins, McKinnies, Matthews, & Collins, 2013). Along these same lines, workforce shortages persist and require health care establishments to evaluate where strategic changes in leadership are appropriate for the future (Collins, McKinnies, Matthews, & Collins, 2015).

Visibility and approachability will need to be a part of the strategic process of changes in leadership so leaders in health care administration are visible to hospital employees and staff (Wallis & Kennedy, 2013). When leaders are visible to employees and employees have access to leaders, interdisciplinary learning, communication, and collaboration, desired by health care staff improve (Frich, Brewster, Cherlin, & Bradley, 2015). By being visible in hospitals, leaders provide themselves the opportunities to actively listen to employees, speak face-to-face with staff, and foster security of the employees' work surroundings (Collins et al., 2013).

Administration leaders in hospitals impact perceptions of workers about the support given to employees (Buttigieg & West, 2013; Laschinger et al., 2014). When there is a lack of desire for leaders to listen or respond to employee concerns, employee frustrations may increase based on a leader's actions (Fuwa, 2014; Wallis & Kennedy, 2013). Unresolved issues and management's failure of providing the necessary tools and resources for quality care may impact an individual's choice to leave his or her

employment (Ramoo et al., 2013). By being accessible and willing to listen to employees, leaders can fully engage with employees for ideas or expertise to make improvements to the organization (Biswas & Bhatnagar, (2013).

Job Satisfaction and Employee Commitment

A lack of job satisfaction is cause for employee turnover in the health care industry. Job satisfaction pertains to how employees feel or think about their jobs that comprises intellectual and emotional reactions to an employee's valuation of the quantity of connection between an employee's assumption and the real revenues expected from the worker's occupation (Bish, Kenny, & Nay, 2014; Djukic, Kovner, Brewer, Fatehi, & Greene, 2014; Jang et al., 2015; Körner, Wirtz, Bengel, & Göritz, 2015). Just as organizational policies and administration can affect different individuals, employees also have expectations about what their job should be in the organization. The concept of job satisfaction is complicated and multidimensional where its definition varies with the quintessence of the employment, as well as on an individual's desires of what his or her occupation ought to offer (Bonenberger et al., 2014; Farquharson et al., 2013; Frey, Bayón, & Totzek, 2013).

Organizational settings that provide health care achieve optimal customer satisfaction that may stem from employees' high levels of job satisfaction that elevates patient care (Lin, Shih, Huang, & Hsu, 2014). Therefore, one can assume that customer satisfaction relates back to employee job satisfaction that may relate to motivation, caring, and participation within the organization's goals. When health care staff experience dissatisfaction with their jobs, staff and patient well-being may suffer (Nancarrow, 2015). For example, employee occupation fulfillment employs a critical impact on consumer contentment, as content employees are more likely to be creative, deliver superior services to consumers, and improve productivity among coworkers (Pantouvakis & Bouranta, 2013).

Employees desire work in environments where leaders encourage employees to grow, learn, and become satisfied in the jobs (Pomirleanu & Mariadoss, 2015; Wallis & Kennedy, 2013). Health care facilities, such as hospitals, will continue to struggle with employee turnover if leaders are not competent in detecting an employee's level of satisfaction with their jobs (Lin et al., 2014). A leader's incompetence may lead to high employee turnover, decreased morale, poor performance, and low productivity, because of low job satisfaction leading to high employee turnover (Hunt, 2014; Yeh, 2014).

Researchers suggested a link between patient satisfaction and employee job satisfaction among nurses in hospital surroundings. McHugh et al. (2011) suggested that patient contentment coincided with nurse contentment, based on survey findings from a large sample of nurses in hospitals and assisted living facilities. While emotional wellbeing of staff, such as physicians, nurses, counselors and other health care staff can deteriorate with falling job satisfaction, falling job satisfaction can cause employees to leave their health care jobs, leading to employee turnover costs for the health care facility industry (Lin et al., 2014; Linnen, & Rowley, 2013). Organizational employee turnover in health care settings can total more millions of dollars in expenses each year, monetarily draining organizations (Brewer, Chao, Colder, Kovner, & Chacko, 2015; Oser et al., 2013). Leaders in health care administration can reduce these costs by identifying organizational events to increase retention and occupation contentment and reduce employee turnover (Moneke & Umeh, 2013a).

Having enough numbers of sufficiently qualified hospital staff is critical for the delivery of superior care and the upkeep of patient wellbeing and staff contentment (Ramoo et al., 2013). A health care professional's satisfaction and psychological wellbeing may stem from positive relationships with colleagues and an adequate, appropriately staffed working environment (Gillet et al., 2013; Jaafarpour & Khani, 2012). Because hospital staff work different shifts, long hours, and face the pressures of dealing with life and death on a daily basis, support of other staff is necessary for patient and employee well-being (Huang, You, & Tsai, 2012; Valiee, Peyrovi, & Nasrabadi, 2014). Hospital staff shortages may cause patients to look for care elsewhere at other hospitals, so reduced employee turnover of hospital staff has value and purpose for health service organizations, employees, and their clientele (Huang et al., 2012).

Several studies support the interrelatedness of job satisfaction and leadership. For example, Bormann and Abrahamson (2014) found a link between leadership behavior and job satisfaction, organizational output, and increased productivity. Therefore, by creating a work environment where employees experience job satisfaction, leaders in health care administration may increase hospital employee retention (Chang, 2015; Pasarón, 2013). Job satisfaction and job performance may depend on the work environment to the extent that it influences these constructs in positive or negative ways (Yang, 2014). Organizational commitment refers to a colleague's identity and level of obligation with a specific association that reveals an individual's attitudes to the organizational objectives and standards, a longing to remain with the organization, and the will to use their own attainment on the organization's behalf (Su-Yueh et al., 2015; Yang, Treadway, & Stepina, 2013). Therefore, one can conclude that organizational commitment influences certain organizational outcomes of employees. Some of these organizational outcomes of employees can include job satisfaction, job performance, and employee turnover. For example, nurse practitioners' work gratification has an optimistic and important effect on organizational obligation (Chang, 2015). By understanding why employees lack organizational commitment due to job-related factors, examining organizational outcomes may help leaders in health care administration to develop strategies for reducing employee turnover, which may also help increase employee commitment (Biswas & Bhatnagar, 2013).

Lack of organizational support, unfairness, and minimum socialization are contributing factors that can force employees to leave their jobs (Shahid & Azhar, 2013). In health care organizations, having highly committed employees is a significant part in refining the performance of the services provided to and attracting clients (Borhani, Jalali, Abbaszadeh, & Haghdoost, 2014), which leads to patient satisfaction (Berberoglu & Secim, 2015). Without employee commitment, leaders may be unable to fulfill organizational goals (Shahid & Azhar, 2013). Organizational goals provide objectives for employees to attain as well as opportunities for employee growth. Employees can recognize the importance of business integration, and therefore, embrace company principles. In a health care environment where anticipations for service distribution and medical results are high, connecting objective positioning to organizational responsibility is important to enhance an employee's work accomplishment (Lee, Seo, et al., 2013).

By building relationships with employees, leaders will become familiar with employees who are attached to the organization who are willing to commit for the longevity of the relationship (McCabe & Sambrook, 2014). Therefore, as leaders develop positive relationships with their employees, the commitment that comes from the individual is of a more willing nature. An employee's willingness to embrace and accomplish organizational goals is an integral part of having a successful organization. Employees who commit themselves to an organization will have a compelling feeling of affiliation and will want to associate carefully with the objectives of the organization (Moneke & Umeh, 2013b; Zhao et al., 2013).

Employees may show their enthusiasm and commitment by staying with the organization. When an employee is happy with his or her job, he or she may have a sense of belonging that influences his or her desire to stay at the job (Bonenberger et al., 2014). However, on the opposite end, as workers dedicate less time and enthusiasm to their interactions, they may eventually feel insufficient in their capability to participate effectively with people, which could eventually cause them to disengage from the organization (Thanacoody, Newman, & Fuchs, 2014). When employees become disengaged from the organization, the idea of being committed to something that no longer has appeal can lead to employee turnover (Thanacoody et al., 2014).

A hospital organization functions in a complex and changing environment where employees are continuously learning (Röthlin, 2013). Leaders in health care administration need to support and develop creative ways in continual learning for staff to provide consistent quality care in hospitals. Tsai (2014) suggested that health care establishments are extremely knowledgeable and demanding establishments that need frequent education to develop their employees' abilities. Leaders can influence employees through continual transformative learning, which may help to improve organizational commitment (Illeris, 2014). By promoting the concept that hospitals are learning organizations, leadership can attempt to utilize effective management to influence staff to commit to staying with hospitals. Staff may make decisions to stay on with hospitals based on their desire to be a part of a professional learning community where collegiality spreads learning opportunities throughout the organization (Bush, 2016). Organizational education in health care settings is essential to achieve the educational necessities in a multifaceted interrelated organization where workers need to know shared contextual information alongside with collective knowledge of roles and accountabilities to perform their given task and collectively provide safe patient care (Ratnapalan & Uleryk, 2014).

Hospital staff must also continue rigorous professional development that may involve academic research, training activities, and support of administrative duties (Benligiray & Sönmez, 2012). This professional development coincides with work duties and a work-family balance that can be challenging to hospital workers. However, as the work-family conflict decreases, organizational commitment increases (Benligiray & Sönmez, 2012). When staff experience work-family conflicts that interfere with professional development and work obligations, leaders of health care administration may consider providing resources and support to help staff balance their work and family schedules. Assurance, profession gratification, and worker emotional happiness correspond with positive work environment and work-life balance initiatives (Gilmartin, 2013; Stinglhamber et al., 2015). From this research, one can conclude that stress and work-family conflict have a negative relationship with employee organizational commitment while professional development and training have a positive relationship with organizational commitment.

Organizational Culture

A health care organization has a unique culture as it strives to satisfy both internal and external customers. As with any type of business, hospital organizations operate under the concept of retaining customers and attracting new customers, requiring an attractive organizational philosophy and culture (Moneke & Umeh, 2013a). The culture of an organization describes the organizational structure, which impacts individual and group contributions to the growth of an organization (Bryant, 2013; Bryant & Allen, 2013; Giles & Yates, 2014; Marino, Mays, & Thompson, 2015).

A review of the literature revealed that a hospital's organizational culture could affect employees negatively or positively. For example, organizations with a strong culture can shape how its employees work together as well as what they can achieve together. To instill a strong organizational culture, leaders in health care administration promote teamwork and provide support to those employees who may be thinking of leaving their jobs. To support the culture, management encourages employee involvement, engagement, and accountability at all levels and exhibit consistency in applying company policies (Dempsey & Reilly, 2016; Kramar, 2014; Queiros, Carlotto, Kaiseler, Dias, & Pereira, 2013; Ryan & Ebbert, 2013).

Hospitals can learn from corporations, as corporations with strong positive cultures experience many benefits, such as the ability of employees to focus, change, and adapt (Simoneaux & Stroud, 2014). By implementing strategic initiatives that align with an organization's goals and mission, an employee's behaviors and goals can include a positive outlook of the organization's mission-driven future direction (Ammendolia et al., 2016). When employee engagement enhances morale and productivity within an organization, employee recruitment and retention seems to be easier, which brings in higher profits (Dempsey & Reilly, 2016). A leader's goal is to promote the organization's culture among the employees of the organization. If leaders work diligently to promote, instill, and implement the culture throughout the organization, greater retention can occur. Creating an organizational culture of retention may reduce nurse turnover (Buffington et al., 2012). To instill a strong organizational culture, leaders in health care administration should promote teamwork and provide support to those employees who may be thinking of leaving their jobs.

Aligning strategic planning with an organization's objectives and mission may generate an atmosphere that employees perceive as positive, learning, and opportunities for growth. When leaders generate a work atmosphere that allows personnel to address major issues that are of importance to them, healthy dialogues and sharing common ground develops within the culture of the work environment. Developing an organization by aligning individual values with employment duties increases job satisfaction, employee retention rates, and reduces costs that are associated with employee turnover (Inabinett & Ballaro, 2014).

An organization's success may depend on connecting its culture. If the culture is weak, employees may become dissatisfied with working in an environment that is not conducive to providing quality service to the consumers. For example, a hospital culture has an influence on the way the hospital's physicians operate, as well as on the treatments patients receive (Carayon et al., 2013; Queiros et al., 2013). Improvement in patient safety usually is the result of a culture of open communication, teamwork, and a supportive environment, where characteristics of a group culture exist to benefit all stakeholders (Zaheer et al., 2015). Hospitals operate with a culture of a team-based system to manage patient health care needs. Effective and superior patient depends on teamwork (Lubbe & Roets, 2014; Van Bogaert et al., 2014).

Working in conjunction with other employees in a high stress environment can create tensions and behavioral issues. With new medical techniques and procedures being developed, leaders in hospitals must learn to adapt quickly to new medical knowledge. The organizational culture in a hospital, established by leadership, can affect employees' behaviors and job performances. Leaders are responsible and accountable for building the cultures in their workplaces. When a leader establishes a vision of a healthy workplace culture, the leader must also lead by the example of being accountable for his or her actions. Accordingly, leadership method and organizational culture can foretell organizational results (Smith, 2015).

Workplace culture is an important factor that drives employee allegiance and engagement. Research indicated that hospitals would achieve more if workers are in a culture that promotes dedication to their accomplishments (Brunges & Foley-Brinza, 2014). Leaders who develop cultures where workplace associations with superiors are important, they promote collegial support that influences staff to continue in their jobs (Brunetto et al., 2013). When leaders develop workplace cultures that are positive, employees may be more likely to commit to staying in their working environments (Khalili, 2014). A positive workplace culture influences the way people speak to one another and how people treat one another. Employees with positive attitudes elevate morale within their organizations, and a positive attitude among employees can lead to better organizational performance (Mulready-Shick & Flanagan, 2014). The goal for any organization is to ensure that productivity is high and that employee morale generates positive organizational outcomes (Galletta, Portoghese, Battistelli, & Leiter, 2013; Hamdani, Valcea, & Buckley, 2014). As with many jobs, employees who are happy and satisfied in their jobs will be committed to staying at their jobs. Therefore, nurses who share optimistic perceptions of collective leadership will be dedicated to their work unit as well as have less desire to leave their job (Galletta et al., 2013; Trybou, Pourcq, Paeshuyse, & Gemmel, 2014).

Hospital cultures are unique, due to the complexity of changing technologies and innovations that assist in providing safe patient care treatments to consumers.

Organizational efficacy is predicated upon the concept that culture develops within an organization over time (Bryant, 2013). The culture of an organization defines the organizational structure, which may impact individual and group contributions to the growth of an organization (Khalili, 2014). Leaders of health care administration, therefore, redesign their missions based on influences that relate to cultural attributes to survive economic instability and evolve successfully over time (Grabowski et al., 2014).

A relational connection exists between organizational culture and patient satisfaction; organizational culture contributes to deciding the environment observed by medical and nursing staff, and this in turn, has an influence on patient contentment (Mattson et al., 2015; Sebo, Herrmann, Bovier, & Haller). The culture in a hospital can affect its employees and patients. While technical issues, such as the accurateness of analysis and adherence to medical procedures are important, it is service quality that is critical to a hospital's culture. Service quality alludes to the custom where health services are provided to beneficiaries of health care services. Because patients are sometimes incapable to precisely evaluate the procedural standard of care, service quality is typically the main factor of patients' complete excellence care (Gupta, Gautam, & Srivastava, 2012).

A hospital's culture is unique and different from other high-contact services, insofar as the delivery of hospital services is based on group actions from every employee. Based on these features, one can argue that organizational concepts are formed from the factors that take place within an organizational culture. Therefore, patient satisfaction has an effect not only on every employees' attitudes, such as contentment or enthusiasm, but also by the combined attitudes and conduct of the hospital team (Sebo et al., 2015).

Effective organizational performance depends upon employee behaviors that fulfill organizational goals and commitment to employee and patient safety (Hyde, Harris, & Boaden, 2013). Establishing a safety philosophy in hospital settings has been a continuing objective through the prior years, founded on endorsements from the Institute of Medicine (Groves, 2014). The importance of safety culture in hospitals can make a huge difference in the relationship with patient and employee safety concerns, but most significantly, save lives. Managers of hospitals can have an impact by encouraging a resilient culture of safety (Carayon et al., 2013; Clark, Zickar, & Jex, 2014). As leaders become knowledgeable and aware of safety issues within an organization, improvements can then enhance patient and employee safety, creating a more attractive work environment (Jeffs et al., 2013; Pumar-Méndez, Attree, & Wakefield, 2014).

A safe and clean work environment in a hospital setting can prevent diseases from developing and populating throughout a hospital. In addition, a safe work environment can also create a culture that allows employees to feel confident in where they are exposed 24 hours a day to a work environment that can affect their ability to provide quality care. This is one reason why leaders in health care administration should lead by example; in other words, leaders should ensure that organizational culture in a hospital begins with the top level of leaders. An example of this is presented in a study conducted at Johns Hopkins Hospital. The safety philosophy at Johns Hopkins is signified as a creation achieved through the application of organizational structures and individual activities (McMillian & McEldowney, 2014).

The Johns Hopkins study on safety culture leads to the concept that safety is a creation accomplished through a communicative portrayal of shared values, shared beliefs, shared ideas, and professional behaviors that involves people, rather than the structure of an organization's safety culture (McMillian & McEldowney, 2014). Leadership must understand and fix the organization's safety problems, as one of the foremost significant accountabilities within an attractive health care environment (Doucette, 2014). This concept not only involves top leadership, but also employees at every level in a hospital organization where collaborative efforts between leaders and hospital employees can ensure a safety culture.

Collaborations with leaders in health care administration and hospital health care teams can forge together as the standard for successful partnerships in optimal care delivery. By keeping in mind that a shared leadership framework is beneficial to hospital employees, a collaborative environment can be established. An example of the shared leadership framework and its affects is presented in Sanders et al. (2013) study of nursing leaders creating a safe and adequate work environment. Staff at a hospital can all collaborate through partnerships to shape the work environment in a positive manner (Sanders et al., 2013).

Hospital leaders are in a unique dilemma. Leaders responsible for planning, implementing, and leading employees through organizational change initiatives are also responsible for influencing employees to participate in a collaborative effort. In addition, leaders are also responsible to influence employees in a partnership with others to help develop an organizational culture conducive to staff retention. Cooperative behaviors rely on partners actively working together and engaging in communication patterns to maintain positive interactions and relationships that can enhance employee commitment (Mulready-Shick & Flanagan, 2014).

In summary, discovery of the reasons why employees leave their jobs leads to many ideas about how to retain employees (Currie & Carr-Hill, 2012). Scholars, such as Daouk-Öyry, Anouze, Otaki, Dumit, and Osman (2014) reported that health staff shortages interfere with the abilities of patients to receive quality health care. As health care staff continue to leave health care organizations, employee turnover costs rise (Hayward, Bungay, Wolff, & MacDonald, 2016). Without employee turnover mitigation, employee turnover costs will increase, adding economic burdens to an already unstable economy in which many organizations underperform (Hayward et al., 2016). Therefore, exploring effective strategies for health care administrators to reduce employee turnover in hospitals may lead to improvements in the efficiencies of hospitals, leading to more sustainable hospital environments (Kramar, 2014). The findings from this qualitative case study may be helpful to health administration leaders seeking to effectively reduce hospital employee turnover.

Training, mentoring, educational awareness, and a supportive organizational culture may lower employee turnover for hospital health care workers and improves long-term retention (Mulready-Shick & Flanagan, 2014). Implementation of these areas of health care organizational practices in hospitals may help retention to improve and

employee turnover to decrease (Kim et al., 2015). Hospital staff members need continuous leadership support, safety, work-life balance among other positive working conditions, and developmental training programs to help guide them toward job satisfaction and commitment to their work settings in the health care system (Röthlin, 2013).

Transition

Section 1 included an overview of this qualitative case study regarding strategies North Carolina health care administrators use to reduce employee turnover of hospital employees. It included the background and foundation of the business problem, problem statement, purpose statement, the nature of the study, and research question. Section 1 also included operational definition of terms, the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations, the review of the professional and academic literature. The conceptual framework for this study was the Herzberg dual-factor theory, with the supporting theory of Maslow's hierarchy of needs theory, and the Vroom's expectancy theory as the opposing theory.

Section 1 also includes the implications of social changes. The findings from this study provide leaders in health care administration strategies in reducing high employee turnover in hospitals particularly physicians and nurses. By using Herzberg's dual-factor theory to indicate that there are factors that affect the work environment (Herzberg et al., 1959), leadership can implement policies that will help retain physicians and nurses in hospitals, thereby reducing employee turnover. The review of the literature revealed

several factors that could influence turnover in the health care industry and specifically among hospital staff.

Section 2 includes the details about the purpose statement, role of the researcher, and information on participants. This section also includes the chosen research method and design, the population and sampling strategy, instrument, data collection and organization techniques. The section includes the data analysis and the related reliability and validity issues of the study.

Section 3 contains the purpose statement and a summation of the findings from the study that included the literature review themes that affect employee turnover and leaders' strategies that reduce employee turnover. The section also includes application of professional practices, implication for social changes, recommendations for action and further action. Section 3 includes my personal reflection of the study.

Section 2: The Project

The intent of this research was to explore effective strategies used by leaders in North Carolina's health care administration to help them reduce the attrition of hospital employees. I collected data through semistructured interviews. Section 2 includes the purpose statement, role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization techniques, data analysis techniques, and information on reliability and validity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore effective strategies for health care administrators to use to reduce hospital employee turnover. The population group included medical professionals such as hospital administrators, physicians, and nurses with experience in hospital settings in Raleigh, North Carolina. The study results could benefit hospital administrators who need to implement better strategies for recruitment, retention plans, and training programs to help improve retention rates and decrease employee turnover of hospital staff.

Decreased employee turnover may lead to improvements in customer relations, as employees commit to the organization and provide higher levels of quality patient care. The data collected could provide insight into the extent health care administrators need to conduct strategic processes to reduce employee turnover in hospitals. The study may benefit hospital administrators in implementing better practices for recruitment, retention plans, and training programs to help improve the retention rate of hospital staff, specifically health care professionals who are new to the health care industry. The increasing employee retention can improve customer relations as employees commit to the organization. Leaders in health care administration will bring about social change to society and the greater community by improving the quality of care in their institutions.

Role of the Researcher

In this study, I was the fundamental instrument in collecting all data. My part as the investigator in this study involved the following responsibilities: (a) recruited study participants, (b) created the data collection instrument, (c) collected data by interviewing the study participants, (d) analyzed the data collected from the interviews, (e) addressed the research question of the study based on the results of the data analysis, and (f) generated the conclusions and recommendations of the study. Among these roles, one of the most critical was that of the investigator as the mechanism of data gathering and examination. I conducted research on leaders in health care administration who work in the state of North Carolina. My participants were from areas in and near Raleigh, North Carolina. These locations were selection based on the hospitals in these areas, my personal experiences with the health care system in these areas, and participants with the knowledge and experiences to answer the interview questions.

My relationship with the topic, participants, and research area was from a patient's standpoint, having been in the Wounded Warrior Unit while in the United States Army. I had different doctors and nurses who became a part of my treatment plan while in the unit. I observed many employee turnovers and saw how employee turnover at the hospital impacted patients and employees alike. As a patient, I noticed the complex issues and challenges to the budget constraints, profitability, and motivated workforce in the hospital. Wanting to be a part of the solution to the problem prompted me to explore the problem. I have never worked in the health care industry, and I was not personally acquainted with the study participants. My comprehension of the topic came from my experiences as a patient and the literature review.

It was my duty to ensure that the study complied with the three principles for academic research stated in the Belmont Report. These three principles are beneficence, respecting people's rights and dignity, and justice (Adams & Miles, 2013; U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). I upheld the doctrine of consideration for individuals by incorporating the procedures for attaining informed consent. In the course of obtaining informed consent, I ensured that potential participants had all the requisite information for making a knowledgeable decision on whether to take part in the study or not, such as the objective of the study, the nature of participation and time commitment expected from study participants. I gave information about my willingness to answer their questions, addressed concerns, and provided clarifications about the study. I upheld the principle of beneficence by outlining the risks and benefits of participation for study participants. I articulated to potential research subjects that participation in the study was on a voluntary basis, and that there were no incentives for study participation. Eligibility for study participation included specific inclusion standards drafted in relation to the purpose of the study. All participants were age 18 or older. Apart from this, no other restrictions—such as gender, race, or socioeconomic status—prevented interested and eligible individuals from participating in the study.

Reducing personal bias in data collection and analysis is important to ensure integrity in the collection of information and the analysis of data (Koch, Niesz, & McCarthy, 2013; Overgaard, 2015). As part of the content analysis for the study, I used data from the interview transcripts as evidence to support the themes and conclusions generated for the study. I did not express approval or disapproval, or agreement or disagreement, with the views expressed by the participants during the interviews, whether verbally or non-verbally. According to Stuckey (2013), biases can be reduced by not expressing personal opinions and ideas in response to the participants' views of the interview.

I strictly followed the procedure outlined in Yin's (2014) five-step analysis for qualitative case studies, as doing so would ensure that the data analysis occurred objectively. I used bracketing to avoid bias personal lens and perspective during the data analysis process. Open-ended questions in a semistructured interview format can help to diminish researcher bias (Cowan, 2014) and are flexible where an open discussion can occur between the interviewer and interviewee (Crocker et al., 2014). According to Yin (2013), methodological triangulation comprises of the use of multiple sources which aid in reduce bias. I used semistructured interviews and document review for methodological triangulation to mitigate bias and to increase credibility and improve the trustworthiness of the study.

Archbold, Dahle, and Jordan (2014) suggested that member checking confirms that a researcher catches the right words and meanings. Member checking, as noted by Houghton, Casey, Shaw, and Murphy (2013), is helpful for expanding the exactness of the transcriptions taking after interpretations of data. I used member checking to decrease personal biases in this study by allowing the participants to make the necessary corrections and clarifications, thereby avoiding misrepresentations of their views or other sources of bias, which would enhanced the credibility of this study. By taking these measures, I sought to prevent improperly influencing the participants' responses during the interviews.

I used several sources to collect data on the participants' perception on factors that influence employees to leave their jobs and strategies which leaders in health care administration can implement to reduce hospital employee turnover. Participants responded to a series of open-ended interview questions, which I had developed after a thorough, comprehensive review of the related literature. By conducting qualitative studies, participants can provide in-depth answers to open-ended questions, asked according to the interview protocol (see Appendix A).

Participants

Recruitment of study participants began with the identification of the population with potential participants. I used publicly available contact information provided by selected hospitals on their website pages for the contact information for potential participants. The population included health care administrators such as hospital administrators, physicians, and nurses in Raleigh, North Carolina hospitals, who had knowledge of strategies to reduce employee turnover of hospital staff.

Kazadi, Lievens, and Mahr (2015) noted that using purposefully sampling procedure is acceptable for a single case study analysis. I purposefully selected five health care professionals and administrators with self-report of at least 5 years working in hospitals and their knowledge of effective employee turnover strategies to reduce staff turnover. To participate in any study, individuals had to be a part of the population set by the researcher and met specific inclusion criteria used for criterion-based purposive sampling recommended for qualitative research studies (Andraski, Chandler, Powell, Humes, & Wakefield, 2014; Protheroe, Brooks, Chew-Graham, Gardner, & Rogers, 2013).

In this study, the inclusion criteria were as follows: (a) be currently employed as a medical professional in a North Carolina hospital, either as a hospital administrator, physician, nurse, or medical assistants, (b) have at least 5 years of knowledge employed in a hospital setting, and (c) be at least 18 years of age. Although there were no criteria for gender and ethnicity requirements, both men and women from all ethnic groups were eligible for participation within the study if they had the necessary experience of working in hospitals. Screening processing began when prospective participants claimed that they met the criteria for the study. The screening questions (see Appendix B) for medical professionals such as hospital administrators, physicians, and nurses in Raleigh, North Carolina who successfully reduced turnover were:

- 1. Are you a hospital administrator, physician, or nurse?
- 2. How long have you been a hospital administrator, physician, or nurse?
- 3. Do you have effective strategies to reduce employee turnover in hospitals?
- 4. What is your geographic location?

One of the challenges encountered by qualitative researchers is gaining access to participants. This challenge is addressed by using established links or connections and being open about the study (Opollo, Opollo, Gray, & Spies, 2014). To gain access to participants, I selected participants with whom I was not acquainted and did not have a personal or professional relationship.

The North Carolina Hospital Administration maintains a publicly available website with a publicly available directory. The publicly available directory listed on the website includes the list of hospital administrators, physicians, and nurses, as well as their job titles, telephone numbers, and email addresses.

Using the email addresses of the prospective participants from the publicly available email addresses published online, I sent out a formal invitation letter (see Appendix C) to participate in the study after the Walden Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved my study. This invitation letter included the pertinent details of the study, such as the purpose, why the people contacted were potential participants, the nature of participation, and the time commitment required for study participants. I also included my contact details so that individuals could contact me to express their interest to participate in the research, or if they had requests or needed clarifications regarding the study. Instead of being passive subjects, the participants were active subjects in this study, who shared their experiences and provided data.

Lowther et al. (2016) made several recommendations for enhancing the relationship between researchers and participants. Recommendations by Lowther et al. for establishing positive working relationships with participants included providing clear,

effective, and nonjudgmental communication and emphasizing the positive benefit of contributing to society which can enhance the self-worth of participants. To ensure positive working relationships with prospective participants, I remained available to answer questions about the study with clarity, and I remained nonjudgmental throughout the communication and data collection process.

Hall, Goddard, Speck, Martin, and Higginson (2013) also emphasized the importance of working relationships with participants, stating that their interest in a given study could be potentially enhanced by their desire to contribute to social progress and to be supportive of advancements in their fields. I emphasized the potential benefits of their contributions, and the voluntary nature of participation enhanced the trustworthiness of the working relationship. The welfare of participants was a priority in this study, and policies and procedures to protect participants' privacy were used through the adoption of an ethical orientation to the research activities were additional steps used to enhancing the positive nature of the working relationship.

Research Method and Design

The method for this study was a qualitative research method. The design was a case study design to explore effective strategies health care administrators in North Carolina use to reduce hospital employee turnover. The following subsections include the justifications and rationale for the method and design and why I chose to conduct the qualitative case study instead of the quantitative method or other qualitative designs.

Research Method

To achieve the purpose of the study, I used a qualitative research method to study participants' lived experiences. The primary focus in qualitative studies is to take the viewpoint of others and use that viewpoint to experience meanings and circumstances through their perspectives as individuals or groups of people (Hallberg, 2013; Moosa, 2013; Yin, 2013). The purpose of the study was also the basis for choosing to use the qualitative method instead of the quantitative method. In quantitative studies, numerical data used to quantify variables and test hypotheses lead to statistical inferences (Venkatesh et al., 2013; Whiffin, Bailey, Ellis-Hill, & Jarrett, 2014). Qualitative researchers extract contextualized, multidimensional descriptions of the phenomenon under investigation (Anney, 2015; Macur, 2013; Nassaji, 2015). Qualitative researchers explore specific subjects within their context, based on the subjective meanings and interpretations of people who have experience with these subjects (Yazan, 2015). Specifically, using a qualitative approach provides an in-depth understanding of the social phenomenon of human behavior or decision making of health care administrators (Kaur, 2016). I used the qualitative research method in this study to discover, collect, describe, and interpret data relating to health care administrators' interpretations of effective strategies to reduce employee turnover in hospitals.

Quantitative studies are most often based on random samples from defined populations (Allen, 2015; Hallberg, 2013). Quantitative researchers use the quantitative method for numerical data for statistical analysis and hypothesis testing (Allen, 2015; Nyberg, Moliterno, Hale, & Lepak, 2014). By comparison, the use of the qualitative approach was suitable for this research, because it allowed me to explore the professional experiences of hospital employees within the environment in which these experiences occur. I rejected the quantitative research method because the quantitative method would require gathering numerical information and would not uncover the distinct encounters of the participants and this method would not give an exhaustive portrayal of the strategies that the participants use to successfully to reduce employee turnover in the hospital.

With a mixed methods approach, researchers would use both qualitative and quantitative methods approach to analyze, interpret, and collect data (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013; Maxwell, 2015). A mixed method was not necessary for this study to answer the research question. I reject the mixed methods because I am a novice researcher without knowledge of incorporating statistical and textual data.

Research Design

For qualitative studies, possible study designs include phenomenology, case study, and ethnography (Grossoehme, 2014). Among these research designs, the case study was the most applicable for the objective of the study. Qualitative research involves presenting data collected from a single person or from a group of people (Risk, 2013; Sandelowski, 2014). Accordingly, this case study revolved around strategies health care administration leaders use to reduce employee turnover.

The focus of ethnography is to learn more about a particular culture through immersion, an end goal that was unrelated to the objective of the study. Ethnographers look to investigate marvels from an anthropological point of view, therefore an ethnographic analyst must inundate himself or herself in a general public to find out about the way of life (Grossoehme, 2014; Malagon-Maldonado, 2014). I rejected an ethnographic study because I would not be exploring how people live their lives based on their shared behavior and values within their cultural environment.

The use of a phenomenological design was also inappropriate for this study as the focus of phenomenology is to create a comprehensive understanding of an occurrence based on individual experiences. In the information investigation for phenomenological request, the researcher expects to reveal and deliver a portrayal of the member's lived understanding (Malagon-Maldonado, 2014). Phenomenology might be the strategy for the study of what an experience means to a specific gathering of individuals (Grossoehme, 2014). By a process of elimination, it became apparent that a case study design was optimal for this study. I rejected a phenomenological design because I am not looking to understand people's perceptions about a specific phenomenon.

Case studies apply to research about people, situations, time phases, assignments, procedures, organizations, or other classifications, using one or more data sources (Yazan, 2015). The practice of using a case study design allowed the researcher to explore the subject under investigation, as well as assess and observe the situation in detail within a particular contextual framework (Cronin, 2014; Ramthun & Matkin, 2014). Analyzing the factors that influence hospital employee turnover via a case study research design allowed for a rigorous form of inquiry. Prior case study applied to why employees leave their jobs, participants' values and beliefs, and understandings of the sociocultural and contextual factors that affect occupational performance and satisfaction

(Swaminathan, Jahagirdar, & Kulkarni, 2014). I chose a case study design to explore an issue occurring within a specific context, specifically employee turnover in hospitals.

Data collection of rich and detailed data from relatively small qualitative research samples involves the concept of data saturation (Yin, 2014). Data saturation occurs when additional data collection efforts yield no new information (Marshall, Cardon, Poddar, & Fontenot, 2013). Elo et al. (2014) and Siegle, Rubenstein, and Mitchell (2014) explained that achieving data saturation from interview data involves establishing a minimum initial sample size while also determining the number of additional interviews that would occurred until new ideas ceased from additional interview efforts, also known as the *stopping criterion* for establishing data saturation. Yin (2014) also discussed data saturation concepts and explained how a single case study with up to 10 participants could lead to data saturation required for credible findings. Therefore, the initial sample size for this study was five participants, but I was prepared to interview two additional participants until reaching data saturation.

Population and Sampling

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore effective strategies health care administrators in North Carolina used to reduce hospital employee turnover, the population for this study included medical professionals who were hospital administrators, physicians, or nurses with 5 years of experience in the hospital setting effectively using strategies to reduce employee turnover of hospital staff. This population of North Carolina hospital administrators, physicians, and nurses had the knowledge and experience with reducing employee turnover of hospital staff, which represented a population appropriate for the purpose of this study. Lucero et al. (2016) and Teeuw et al. (2014) recommend alignment of the population, research purpose, and research questions in case study designs. Therefore, a sample of participants with at least 5 years of hospital experience effectively reducing hospital staff turnover aligned well with the purpose of this case study leading to data to answer the overarching research question.

The North Carolina Hospital Association is responsible for a periodic report of labor shortages, employee turnover, and staff issues in North Carolina Hospitals, with the most recent report authored by Broome in 2010. Broome (2010) reported decreased employee turnover among North Carolina Hospital staff over the period from 2008 through 2010, with an employee turnover reduction of approximately 8% across all hospital staff positions, except for occupational therapists. Although a more recent report remains unpublished, the high reduction of employee turnover reported by Broome makes the North Carolina hospital administration staff an appropriate population to study to understand strategies to reduce employee turnover of hospital staff. The same report by Broome also indicated a measure of reduced employee turnover in the report was a length of employment of at least 5 years.

To recruit participants, I used a purposive sampling strategy for this study. A purposive sampling strategy involves the notion that participants for the study would be open, honest, and willing to contribute data (Robinson, 2014; Trochim, Donnelly, & Arora, 2014). Purposeful sampling requires focusing recruitment efforts on individuals who meet the specific inclusion criteria for the study (Cleary, Horsfall, & Hayter, 2014; Harrison, 2013; Palinkas et al., 2013); in this case, medical professionals who were

hospital administrators worked in a hospital setting for at least 5 years while effectively using strategies to reduce employee turnover of hospital staff. In qualitative studies, purposeful sampling allows for the recruitment of participants who have in-depth knowledge of the topic being studied (Palinkas et al., 2013), such as this case study, wherein the focus was on medical professionals as a group, and how to reduce attrition among its members.

For this study, my goal was to recruit 5 subjects from the population based in Raleigh, North Carolina. This initial sample size of 5 participants from the population was optimal on the basis of recommended considerations. First, in qualitative studies, researchers must acknowledge the issue of diminishing returns for data collection. Data saturation is the point when the collection of large volumes of data does not yield new information (Marshall et al., 2013). Second, in relation to the issue of diminishing returns, I considered the issue of saturation in qualitative studies, when new information appeared to yield significant contributions to the data leading to the themes for the study. The use of too large of a sample may not be feasible or efficient (Guetterman, 2015). A sample of 5 participants was adequate for this qualitative study wherein data collection stemmed from the detailed accounts of personal experiences. In a case study to explore the perceptions and experiences of employees in health care organizations, only workers with experiences with the issues at work should engage in in-depth interviews (Moll, 2014). By conducting the study with an initial sample size of 5 participants, while also prepared to add participants as necessary and appropriate for data saturation, data

collection from the interviews led to sufficiently valid themes derived from the data analysis to answer the research questions.

I invited participants to interview in Raleigh Public Library, which was accessible to participants who lived and worked in the same city in North Carolina. The library location was quiet and private environment to ensure recording quality. Only each participant and myself were present in the private room, and no one else was in hearing range of the interview. I briefed each individual on the purpose of the study and what to expect as a participant the study. The information gathered from the interviews remained confidential and private. Participants replied to a consent form and understood that confidentiality would apply to their involvement.

Ethical Research

While conducting this study, I complied with the standards for ethical academic research. I conducted this study in compliance with the regulations of the university and the Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB), which protected the welfare of participants in research studies. To comply with these regulations, the informed consent form included the policies and procedures to protect a participant's welfare and preserve a participant's privacy and data confidentiality. The informed consent for participation reached potential participants as an attachment to the invitation letter in (see Appendix C) for the study. I accessed these potential participants individually. I understood the ethical guidelines concerning the protection of human research participant. The IRB approval number for this study is 02-27-17-0322644.

Through the informed consent letters, I communicated to participants that participation in this study was strictly on a volunteer basis. There are no incentives for participating in the study, and there were no negative social, economic, or job-related consequences for declining to take part in the study. Similarly, I clarified to the participants that I was not affiliated with the medical institutions where they work, and that their participation in the study would be strictly confidential. Researchers must respect and ensure confidentiality for participants and should be careful not to put individuals' identities at risk (Petrova, Dewing, & Camilleri, 2016).

Participants were also free to respond to the interview questions with as much or as little detail as they were comfortable with and could decline to answer questions that made them feel uncomfortable to answer. Potential participants were aware that all interviews recorded were for data gathering and exploration purposes. The researcher's ability to establish trust and confidentiality with each respondent is necessary to obtain the desired information from each of the interviewees (Haahr, Norlyk, & Hall, 2014). There were no penalties for withdrawing from the study, and I prepared to destroy immediately any data collected from anyone who chose to withdraw. Study participants could withdraw at any point if they felt participation was distressing, difficult, or undesirable in any manner.

Researchers should be able to obtain, evaluate, and report the data without revealing the identities of the respondents (Cheng & Phillips, 2014). I implemented several procedures to protect participant privacy and data confidentiality. All data collected in this study were de-identified. No names or any other information that could identify participants were with the data; instead, respondents were "Hospital Administrator # X", "Physician # X", or "Nurse # X", and so on. The data stored in paper form includes reply to the informed consent forms and electronic data are the audio recordings of the interviews and transcripts of the recordings. All paper forms will remain in an inaccessible locked filing cabinet in my personal office. All replied informed consent forms will remain in a folder separate from the other data. Similarly, all computer files remain in password-protected records. Storage of all data, including subsequent drafts and reports, will occur for 5 years after completion of the study. Subsequently, I will destroy all paper forms by shredding and will permanently erase all electronic files associated with the study.

Data Collection Instruments

As the instrument for data collection from semistructured interviews and document review, I scheduled interviews with eligible personnel who expressed interest in taking part in the study on a specific date and at a location that was convenient to the participant. The purpose of the collection of data from both interviews and document review involving multiple informants was to apply methodological triangulation to add depth to the analysis of the data collected (Fusch & Ness, 2015) for qualitative studies. Data for case studies should stem from at least two of the following six data sources that Yin (2013) recommended for triangulation in case study research: (a) document review, (b) archival records, (c) interviews, (d) direct observations, (e) participant-observation (i.e. site visits), and (f) physical artifacts. Yin (2013) identified that the case study can be a single case or multiple cases bounded by time and location. I collected data by conducting individual interviews and publicly available document review.

On the day of the planned interview, I started the session by reiterating the policies stated in the informed consent form. Once this is done, I required the participant whom I was interviewing to reply to the informed consent form. I invited additional questions and confirmed the participants' consent to the terms of the informed consent form. I proceeded with the interview after confirmation of agreement with the informed consent terms. I reviewed the publicly available related documents to include hospital policies, hospital retention and data records before the interview sessions.

Interview questions are in Appendix D, and a guide to the interview protocol is listed in Appendix A. I adhered to a semistructured interview protocol that consists of a single set of open-ended questions, drafted based on recommendations and guidelines from Van Mastrigt et al. (2015). Using open-ended questions allow the study participants to respond to the questions with their own words. The use of open-ended questions did not limit the responses provided by a respondent and gave participants opportunity to introduce aspects of the topic under investigation that might not be brought up by other study respondents. Although semistructured interviews may lead to the discussion of topics irrelevant to the study, the practice of using an interview guide as a protocol helped me, as the interviewer, to make sure that all aspects of the subject that related to the purpose of the study remained the focus during the interviews.

Simpson and Quigley (2016) describes member checking as enhancing the consistency of a study. Scholars, such as Moreland and Apker (2015), noted member

checking provides researchers clarify as the participants check the researchers' interpretation of the participants' data, allowing them to comment on the researcher interpretation. I conducted member checking by interpreting the data from the participants and sharing my interpretations in a one- to two- page summary of the key findings with each participant. Each participant had the chance to remark on the elucidations of the information.

Data Collection Technique

The data collection techniques planned for this study included conducting, recording, and transcribing semistructured interviews and document review are frequent techniques of information gathering common in qualitative health care studies (Byrne, Brugha, Clarke, Lavelle, & McGarvey, 2015; Madhlangobe, Chikasha, Mafa, & Kurasha, 2014; Yin, 2013). Recording of interviews occurred with the use of my smart phone and transcription occurred through the use of a word processing file in which I typed the interviews verbatim as I listened to the recordings. The review of copies of documents occurred with notes taken on the contents, relevancy, and meaning of the documents, typed into the word processing file.

I adhered to a semistructured interview protocol, based on recommendations and guidelines from Van Mastrigt et al. (2015). Using semistructured interviews, as opposed to fully structured or unstructured interviews, allowed the study participants to respond to and expand relevant lines of inquiry and I could include additional probing questions deemed meaningful to the study. The use of semistructured interviews involve an initial guiding structure, also known as an interview protocol, but does not fully limit the questioning, thereby providing opportunities to introduce aspects of the topic under investigation that might not have otherwise emerged (Yin, 2014). The initial structure provided for semistructured interviews ensures that the conversational nature of the interviews does not digress into matters irrelevant to the research question, a possible disadvantage of the use of interviews for data collection (Doody & Noonan, 2013; Vogl, 2013). Another disadvantage to the recording and transcription of interview data is that the data collection technique can result in voluminous data that are difficult to organize, manage, and analyze (Zamawe, 2015). The use of qualitative data analysis software and intelligent data reduction techniques employed during analysis helped me overcome this disadvantage.

Review of documents, according to Pacho (2015), may lead to data that may not help answer the research question and documents offered for review may appear biased, disorganized, outdated, illegible, or irrelevant. Although there are these noted disadvantages to the document review as a form of data collection, document review may be an inexpensive unobtrusive source of corroborating data for the purposes of triangulation (Denzin, 2012).

After each interview, I personally transcribed the audio recordings from the audio files on my smartphone by typing the interview answers into a word processing file. I typed into the word processing files my notes from the review of documents and included images scanned into the computer, when necessary or appropriate to add to the meaning of the data from the document review. After I had formed my initial impressions from the data, each participant had the opportunity to review my initial interpretations of the data offered to me, in a process that qualitative research experts, such as Anney (2015), described as member checking. Using member checking helps ensure that analysis of participants' responses is reliable and that the interview process was completed in an ethical manner (Harvey, 2015; Morse, 2015). Member checking involves the process of allowing participants to review the analysis of the participants' interviews to ensure accuracy of my analysis (Hyett et al., 2014). I also sent the voluntary consent form via email to the participant prior to the interview to ensure the participant had ample time to review, read, and respond electronically that they consent.

Data Organization Technique

All documents labeled had dates and an identification number. I used sequential numbers as codes to identify participants, such as "Hospital Administrator # X", "Physician # X", or "Nurse # X", using sequential numbers assigned in the order in which participants opted into the study. I used word processing software to transcribe interview recordings and notes taken from the review of documents. After the completion and transcription of the interviews and following my evaluation of publicly available document review, I used NVivo 11, a qualitative analysis software program, for coding and analysis of the data. Through interviews, participants respond to open-ended questions where they feel free to express their views, lived experiences, and issues relating to their everyday functioning (Coenen, Stamm, Stucki, & Cieza, 2012; Verleye, Gemmel, & Rangarajan, 2014).

With the completion of the interviews, I transferred all data files to a portable drive, and I stored all data in a locked safe located in my home. I will store and protect all

information within a locked file for 5 years after completion of the study. The locked file is accessible to only myself. After all data remain stored 5 years, I will destroy all physical documents by shredding all physical data, and erase USB memory drives and audio voice recordings. To maintain confidentiality, I am the only person with the knowledge of the names of the participants and their organizations. Research participants require respect, which means that confidentiality is given to all private or personal matters or views (Vanclay, Baines, & Taylor, 2013).

I audio recorded the interviews on my smart phone for the purposes of collecting accurate and thorough interview data. After each interview, I personally transcribed the recordings of the words from the audio recordings by typing the words into a word processing file to ensure that information was in a textual format for content analysis, as recommended by Solans-Domènech et al. (2013). Use of NVivo software helped me organize and analyze data. I conducted member checking by sending my initial interpretations of the data to the participants for review.

Data Analysis

Data from semistructured interviews from multiple participants working in and near Raleigh, North Carolina, in combination with document review, provided information needed for data analysis in this study. A combination of interview data as the primary source along with secondary sources from document review enabled me to perform methodological triangulation in this case study. Triangulation of data, using multiple data sources from multiple sources, represents the opportunity to juxtapose and compare data to enhance the trustworthiness of the analytical findings that result from content analysis applied to data in qualitative studies (Anney, 2015; Hyett et al., 2014). I used the data from interviews and publicly available document review for triangulation during data analysis, using the Yin (2014) five-step process described below.

Adherence to the steps in five-step process helps researchers conduct an objective analysis of qualitative data, with the understanding that there are biases inherent to human researchers (Baškarada, 2014). Analyzing data using the five-step process can lead to valid conclusions derived from qualitative data (Crowe, Inder, & Porter, 2015). Yin's recursive five-phase cycle included: (a) compiling, (b) disassembling, (c) reassembling (and arranging), (d) interpreting, and (e) concluding. Compiling occurs with the intent to organizing data (Haines, Summers, Turnbull, Turnbull, & Palmer, 2015). I started the first process within 24 hours after the primary interview session. Disassembling occurs by analyzing textual content (Oleinik, Popova, Kirdina, & Shatalova, 2014). Baškarada (2014) stressed the process of disassembling distinct data into individual groups.

The next process was reassembling (and arranging) the data where I rearranged the data by linking the same coding categories together. After data collection, reassembling (and arranging) Baškarada (2014) and Hyett et al. (2014) recommended that the researcher make sense of the data by beginning to interpret the data. Following, the reassembling (and arranging) process, I conducted member checking by interpreting the data from the participants and sharing my interpretations in a one- to two- page summary of the key findings with each participant. Each participant had the chance to remark on the elucidations of the information. The last process of data analysis closes with the discussion of the findings. I used tables and narrative text to report the findings. Using the emergent themes for the study, I addressed the research question and juxtaposed the results of the data analysis with the findings from published peer-reviewed research and the conceptual framework for this study.

Methodological triangulation, as described by Chao (2014), was the methodology of combining more than one data source. Cairney and St. Denny (2015) expressed that methodological triangulation increases validity and reinforces the credibility of data. I used semistructured interviews and publicly available document review for data collection and analysis.

I used NVivo 11 to facilitate the process of content analysis and inference. The process of coding, annotating, and incorporating the use of qualitative data analysis software allows researchers to incorporate and integrate visual images, words, and numbers in context for analytic reasons (Castleberry, 2014; Edwards-Jones, 2014). The process of using software tools assisted me in analyzing the data. NVivo 11, a software, specifically designed for analysis of qualitative data, assists analysts in the identification of words, phrases, and ideas that may converge into themes, but does not take the place of the analyst, who must be continuously attentive to the coding and meaning of the data (Zamawe, 2015).

The conceptual framework interfaces with the literature and the methodology (Yazan, 2015). The conceptual framework guiding this study was the Herzberg dual-factor theory, while the supporting and opposing theories were Maslow's hierarchy of

needs theory and Vroom's expectancy theory, respectively. I explored the findings of the data with the perspective of Herzberg's, Maslow's, and the Vroom's theories. Comparing and contrasting the key themes that emerged from the data with the literature included newly published studies. I reported how the findings connected to, or related to, or varied from the finding in the literature review and the conceptual framework. I disseminated the findings from this study to the participants, leaders of medicinal services, staff nurses, and nurse managers through professional conferences, seminars, workshops, and meetings.

Reliability and Validity

In quantitative studies, the primary concern is for study reliability and validity. However, in qualitative studies, researchers focus on four specific aspects to uphold the integrity of the study findings. These four aspects are dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability (Anney, 2015). Pacho (2015) suggested that qualitative research trustworthiness is formed through its dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability.

Reliability

Dependability refers to the consistency of data for similar conditions (Anney, 2015) and is sometimes compared to the concept of reliability in quantitative research (Elo et al., 2014). Dependability is another issue connected to the context of the research study (Forber-Pratt, 2015). Dependability is the qualitative equivalent of reliability in quantitative studies (Anney, 2015; Taylor-Ritzler, Suarez-Balcazar, Garcia-Iriarte, Henry, & Balcazar, 2013) and pertains to accounting for changes in the context in which

research occurs. This case study pertained to a narrow geographical area, namely Raleigh, North Carolina. Conditions in medical institutions may differ with regard to location, physical environment, workforce demographics, leadership climate, organizational culture, and socioeconomic climate that involve health care teams in varied structures engaging in diverse processes (Dow et al., 2013). I asked participants to provide as much detail on the circumstances behind their views and experiences. Although repeat studies were beyond the scope of this research, I described the case study design elements, and methodology steps in detail, to help future researchers who wish to conduct this study in a different location or context. I gathered information with the utilization of very much recorded, steady strategies to guarantee truth-esteem, appropriateness, and dependability in this review.

Methodological triangulation, according to Fusch and Ness (2015), is a researcher's use of more than one data sources to study a research topic. I used methodological triangulation to increase credibility, relying upon multiple informants and multiple data collection sources. I utilized semistructured interviews and publicly available document review. I conducted member checking by interpreting the data from the participants and sharing my interpretations in a one-page summary of the key findings. In the member checking process, each participant had the chance to remark on the elucidations of the information.

Validity

Credibility pertains to describing the subject under investigation based on the participants' viewpoints (Meltzer et al., 2013; Trochim et al., 2014; Peake-Andrasik et

al., 2014). To preserve the accuracy and thoroughness of participants' answers, I recorded and transcribed interview data. To enhance credibility, purposeful sampling leads to informed participants with knowledge of and experiences with the subject matter (Anney, 2015; Hyett et al., 2014). Purposeful sampling and member checking heightened credibility. Member checking allowed the participants to make the necessary corrections and clarifications, thereby avoiding misrepresentations of their views or other sources of bias. Use of purposeful sampling and member checking enhanced the credibility of this study. Following my initial interpretations of the data in the initial data analysis steps, I asked participants to review my initial interpretations of the data in a process called member checking.

Transferability refers to findings applied to other situations under different settings (Anney, 2015), while confirmability is a standard for assessing the accuracy of the findings obtained from the data and observation of the participants (Houghton et al., 2013). Transferability is achievable in qualitative studies when the study findings are sufficiently general or mimic other backgrounds and settings (Trochim et al., 2014). In case studies, this is an inherent weakness, because the case study design has a specific context, thereby limiting the transferability of the study (Thelwell, Wagstaff, Rayner, Chapman, & Barker, 2016). Identifiable assumptions, limitations, delimitations, and the scope of the study help readers understand the context in which the findings of this study occurred to judge transferability appropriately (Anney, 2015). The suitability of the transferability of a review, according to Thelwell et al. (2016), relies upon the reasonable judgments of the reader. Boblin et al. noted subjective analysts ought to improve transferability by depicting the setting of the exploration. In this review, I provided enough data about the populace, sample, strategy, plan, and examining systems so another researcher can properly judge the transferability. Identifiable presumptions, confinements, delimitations, and the extent of the review help readers comprehend the setting in which the discoveries of this review transpired to judge transferability suitably (Anney, 2015). Be that as it may, I addressed this constraint by giving an intensive depiction of the foundation, setting, sample, participants, method, and the technique and plan components of this review. I addressed this limitation by providing a thorough description of the background, setting, participants, sample, and the method and design elements of this study.

The concern of confirmability involves the issue of researcher bias as a factor affecting the outcome of the study and requires ascertaining the degree to which readers can confirm the study findings (Trochim et al., 2014). Methodological triangulation, a process by which data from multiple sources undergo analysis with the purpose of comparing and validating findings, enhances confirmability in qualitative research studies (Houghton et al., 2013). Methodological triangulation may lead to the identification of points of convergence within data (Denzin, 2012). Triangulation may lead to the identification of points of convergence within the data or points of divergence that lead to new avenues for exploration (Carter, Bryant-Lukosius, DiCenso, Blythe, & Neville, 2014; Fielding, 2012). Through triangulation, I enhanced confirmability of insights from experts informing this study. I reviewed publicly available documents, including hospital human resource website pages, hiring and training program announcements and descriptions, and human resource policies and handbooks. Combining data from document review with data from semistructured interviews with multiple informants led to methodological triangulation.

Data saturation is also useful in strengthening the confirmability of a case study (Yazan, 2015). Although some experts claimed that conducting 5 interviews may be an acceptable minimum sample size for a case study, data saturation occurs at the point when no new data appears to emerge from continued data collection (O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). I was attentive to data saturation while maintaining a goal to ensure confirmability. The participants were professional experts in their field with the work experience and knowledge to assist in assessing the value of the evidence gathered from the interviews. The process of purposeful sampling and member checking enhances confirmability by ensuring that data and analysis reflects the accurate and meaningful realities of interest in this study (O'Reilly & Parker, 2013).

Transition and Summary

Section 2 included the purpose of the statement, my role as the researcher, and the selection of participants. Section 2 also included the research method and design, the population and sampling, the ethical research, the data instruments, data collection technique and data organization technique. I explained the data analysis and how the concepts related to this study. I also explained dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability.

Section 3 begins with the purpose statement and the presentation of findings. This section includes the application of professional practice and implications for social

change. Section 3 includes my recommendation for action and further research. I conclude the section with my experiences and reflections.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

In Section 3, I provide the introduction to the study results, the purpose of the study, and the presentation of the findings. I also provide a detailed narrative of data collection, and how the conceptual framework, the supporting theory, the opposing theory, and the findings were connected to the research question. Section 3 also includes the application to professional practice, implications for social change, and recommendations for action. Incorporated into this section are the recommendations for further research, a reflection on my experience within the Doctor of Business Administration (DBA) process of the doctoral journey, and the closing statement.

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the effective strategies health care administrators in Raleigh, North Carolina used to reduce hospital employee turnover. Employee turnover is a challenge that leaders experience in all industries; the purpose of this study was to explore employee retention strategies solely within medical institutions. Using multiple data sources from multiple participants led to five major themes. Participants reported that it is important to understand the problem of employee turnover and that the recruitment and hiring process should focus on hiring employees who are likely to have a good organizational fit. The participants in this case study identified a collaborative, safe, flexible organizational culture as ideal for the retention of hospital employees who have a good organizational fit with the hospital environment.

Section 3 includes recommendations for action, the implication of improvement to organization and individuals, and how the findings are beneficial to social change and behavior. Section 3 also includes recommendation for further research associated to the improvement of business practices, my reflection on the study, and the conclusion of this study.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question that guided the study was the following: What successful strategies do health care administrators use to reduce hospital employee turnover? To answer the research question, I conducted, recorded, and transcribed semistructured interviews with five medical personnel from a hospital in Raleigh, North Carolina. Participants had knowledge of effective turnover strategies to retain employees and acquired at least 5 years of leadership knowledge and experience in a hospital setting. The findings were derived from analyzing data obtained from review of public documents and semistructured interviews. I used Microsoft Word to transcribe and organize audio-recorded semistructured interviews. I retrieved a publicly available directory website containing a public list of hospital administrators, physicians, and nurses, their job titles, telephone numbers, and email addresses for recruitment. I used NVivo data analysis software to organize and analyze textual contents, and link like coding categories together for the data analysis. The five-step data analysis process included compiling, disassembling, and reassembling data to arrive at major emergent themes. From the data analysis process, five major themes emerged about successful strategies health care administrators use to reduce hospital employee turnover. The first theme pertained to the importance of and means to understand the problem of employee turnover in the hospital environment.

Theme 1: Understanding the Problem

All the participants in this study referred to the importance of recognizing and understanding the reasons and causes of employee turnover and why an employee would choose to leave employment voluntarily. Although the participants offered a series of successful strategies they experienced, according to all the participants in the study, strategies are only successful if the strategies addressed the cause of the problem in an organization. Table 1 includes the participants' references to understanding the reasons and causes of employee turnover. Participants in the study referred to the reasons, causes, and why employees leave organizations during 52 different times throughout the interview sessions, in addition to their 47 references to the roles and responsibilities of leaders, managers, and supervisors in addressing the problem. Additional documents discussed and reviewed included surveys described in greater detail below.

Table 1

Reference	Frequency
Leaders, managers, supervisors	4
Understanding	18
Surveys	13
Reasons	12
Causes	11
Why	11
Relationship	10

References to Understanding Employee Turnover

(table continues)

Reference	Frequency		
Total	52		

Understanding employee turnover. Key words and phrases reiterated by all of the members of the study sample that led to the identification of this first major theme included understanding, reasons, causes, and why employee turnover occurs. Although all participants in this study addressed an understanding of the reasons for employee turnover, two participants elaborated about the process of determining causes within the organization. For example, Physician 1 talked about, "reasons why employees are unhappy with their work" and added, "leaders first need to understand what the cause is or what affects turnover or retention. Leaders need to understand employee trust, engagements, satisfaction, and other factors that link to work environment which is a proactive approach to retention." Hospital administrator 1 claimed, "There are many reasons that employees leave the organization, oftentimes employers do not know these reasons." The hospital administrator added, "Supervisors, leaders ought to comprehend the reasons employees are unhappy in the workplace." Understanding the causes for turnover can help leaders find the right answers to decreased dissatisfaction among staff.

Consistent with what participants in this study reported, the discovery of the reasons employees leave their jobs leads to many ideas about how to retain employees (Currie & Carr-Hill, 2012). One way health care leaders aspire to reduce health care costs is to understand the causes of employee turnover and ways to retain a talented, committed

workforce in their organizations (Wallis & Kennedy, 2013). Participants agreed that this was the first step in the development of successful strategies to reduce hospital employee turnover. McHugh et al. (2011) advocated for the use of formal means to determine the contentment of employees in hospitals and health care settings, for the purposes of reducing burnout, dissatisfaction, and frustration. This was consistent with what participants in this study reported as an essential step toward understanding how to reduce employee turnover.

Relationships. Regarding the concept of relationships, participants discussed the relationships between leaders and followers that can help leaders understand employees and their needs. The concept of relationships in the workplace, which emerged from the data 10 times, pertained mostly to ways that leaders can develop relationships that help followers share their needs, concerns, and reasons they may be satisfied or dissatisfied with their work. For example, Physician 1 said, "Leaders' and followers' relationships have a greater influence on turnover than pay satisfaction." Nurse 2 said, "If someone's having problems at home or work, I hope I'd be able to see a change in behavior in them since I have a relationship with them. I care about my staff on a personal and professional level." Hospital administrator 1 described, "Solid connections, strong relationships with leaders and their subordinates within the organization. I cultivate strong relationships between myself and my followers which build trust. You have to form relationships." Nurse 3 also suggested, "Building a great relationship between leaders and their followers." Relationship building between leaders and employees reduce employee turnover.

The relationship fundamentals that participants stressed as important in reducing turnover were consistent with previous reports that leadership effectiveness across all types of businesses depends on relationships between leadership and employees (Petrakis & Kostis, 2012). Results culminating in this thematic finding are consistent with the ideas previously expressed by Eberechukwu and Chukwuma (2016), who reported that by being involved positively with staff, leaders in health care administration build stronger relations. Health care represents a field in which people have close relationships with individuals (Smith, 2015); accordingly, participants in this study emphasized the relationships among staff at all levels as an essential step in reducing employee turnover. A health care professional's satisfaction and psychological well-being may stem from positive relationships with colleagues (Gillet et al., 2013; Jaafarpour & Khani, 2012), which participants in this study claimed was integral to the success of strategies to reduce employee turnover.

Surveys. Participants talked about surveys and learning about employee concerns to understand their problems. The strategy is about being "proactive" based on employee surveys, and was mentioned 13 times collectively in the interview data. For example, Physician 1 added, "Leaders like myself scrutinize or evaluate strategies to retain employees" and described "employee experience surveys also known to others as satisfaction or engagement surveys evaluating the results from these surveys one can get the sense of what needs to be improved." Nurse 1 said, "Employee satisfaction surveys are a strategy I apply in my organization to reduce employee turnover to evaluate employees. The results are very rewarding. It lets you know what needs to be improved and that we value employee efforts." Nurse 2 similarly talked about, "Constantly conducting engagement surveys," stating that, "employment happiness is a key indicator of absenteeism and job satisfaction. Paying close attention to these surveys is an investment in the happiness of the employees." Nurse 3 stated that, "engagement surveys give employees the opportunity to be valued and heard." Hospital administrator 1 similarly said, "I conduct regularly surveys and meetings so employees can share their input. I listen to my followers, and I ask them for their input." Implementing employee satisfaction survey in the workplace reduces employee turnover and leaders gain a deeper understanding of what need to be improved for a healthy workplace.

Participants in this study claimed that surveys were a way to gauge employee engagement and commitment, which McCabe and Sambrook (2014) claimed was important in building relationships with employees and becoming familiar with employees who are attached to the organization who are willing to commit for the longevity of the relationship. Leaders strive for and achieve expertise in communication Carayon et al., 2013; Castner et al., 2012), which participants in this study claimed stemmed from close interactions with employees and employee surveys. The idea of honing in on employee states of satisfaction and dissatisfaction through surveys is consistent with the Herzberg (1987) model. Leaders in this study discussed how to access employees' perceptions of work-related factors through the employee surveys.

Theme 2: Recruiting Employees for Organizational Fit

The second major theme was about how to recruit employees for organizational fit. All the participants in the study talked about the recruitment and hiring process as the

first successful strategy offered during interview sessions. Each of the participants explained how a comprehensive hiring process appropriately aligned with the organizational culture can result in the selection of employees from among the candidates who have good organizational fits. Table 2 includes participants' references to the recruitment process and organizational fit. The discussion of candidates as potential employees occurred 18 times in the interviews, with a focus on organizational fit, referenced 14 times. Focus on the recruitment process occurred an additional 12 times throughout the interviews, with the use of referrals suggested six times.

Table 2

References to Recruitment and Organizational Fit

Reference	Frequency
Candidate	18
Fit	14
Recruitment	12
Referrals	6

Additional documents reviewed included human resource and administrative policies and procedures, job announcements, and new employee manuals, which reflected the ideas expressed by participants that prospective employees should understand the organization and that leaders should adhere to policies and procedures outlined for carefully evaluating the potential organizational fit of candidates. Other publicly available documentation reviewed included hospital website career pages that included a high number of related documents. For successful employment, leaders need to foster communication and promote understanding between staff and themselves, follow the outlines of human resource procedures and benefit programs, and explain how the hospital leaders develop applicable and consistent human resource practices and resources to the staff. Additional documents reviewed that related to this thematic area pertained to recruitment, hiring, and transferring; diversity and institutional equity and workplace expectations and guidelines.

Organizational fit. About matching candidates with the organization to achieve a good organizational fit, Nurse 1 said, "Hiring the right individual is one of the most effective strategies to apply to any organization to help reduce employee turnover." Nurse 1 elaborated that, "Employees who are the right fit for the organization in the first place will have no need to seek new employment. One can significantly reduce employee turnover rate by concentrating more on the recruitment process." Nurse 2 said, "We begin with hiring the right candidate, a fit for their role and a fit for the organization. Hiring the right candidate; a culture to fit for the organization decreased dissatisfaction." Nurse 3 claimed, "A simple best strategy to combat the issue is to hire the right candidates from the start. Interview and evaluate candidates carefully making sure that they fit with the company culture, the leaders, and co-workers." Administrator 1 similarly talked about the need for a new employee to, "be an effective solid match - a good fit in the company." Physician 1 said, "You want to hire employees who fit the organizational culture, employees who will perform well, will stay, and hire the right person for personorganizational fit." Hiring the right candidate to fit the culture of the organization increase job satisfaction in the workplace.

Biswas and Bhatnagar (2013) emphasized the role of perceived organizational fit with employee engagement, perceived organizational support, commitment and job satisfaction, consistent with the emphasis that participants in this study had on organizational fit. Ammendolia et al. (2016) similarly stressed strategic initiatives that align employees' expectations with an organization's goals, mission, and expected employee behaviors. Aligning an organization's objectives and mission with the most appropriate workforce to achieve them may generate a positive atmosphere, healthy dialogues, and sharing common ground. Participants voiced experiences consistent with previous claims by Inabinett and Ballaro (2014) that developing an organization by aligning individual values with employment duties increases job satisfaction, employee retention rates, and reduces employee turnover.

Employee referrals. Two participants spoke more elaborately about employee referrals. About referrals, Nurse 1 said, "Employee referrals are more loyal and committed." Administrator 1 said, "We also recruit from within and encourage referrals. Hiring from within reduce turnover since current workers have proven to be an effective fit in the company." Administrator 1 added, "The present workers offer referrals limit perplexity of the job expectations. They can sensibly depict, describe the open position, and the work environment to the individual he/she is alluding." The idea expressed was that referrals would be more likely to know more about the work environment, connect with other employees, and demonstrate a relatively acceptable organizational fit.

The findings in this study are consistent with the idea that a healthy workforce diminishes labor shortages and reduces expensive recruitment regimes, potentially redistributing health resources in ways that more efficiently meet the needs of patients (Nancarrow, 2015). To achieve those goals, two participants in this study emphasized employee referrals that can enhance the likelihood of organizational fit and reduce the expenses of recruitment. Other participants in this study talked about promoting from within, which enhances morale and productivity within an organization, which according to Dempsey and Reilly (2016) can ease employee recruitment costs, leading to higher organizational profits. Buffington et al. (2012) claimed that a leader's goal includes promoting the organization's culture among the employees of the organization, which according to some of the participants in this study is also the responsibility of other employees who can help recruit suitable co-workers through their referrals.

Theme 3: Engaging, Supporting, and Motivating Employees

The third theme was about how to engage, support, and motivate employees. All the participants in this study discussed ways they felt they successfully engaged, supported, and motivated employees. Engaging is one of the most common terms participants used to describe optimal, supportive, motivating work environments, referenced 24 times throughout the interview sessions. According to participants in the study, engaging and motivating employees involves providing education, training, and career or professional development opportunities, together referenced 139 times throughout the interviews, leading to growth, promotions, and advancements. Documents reviewed included engagement surveys, salary, and benefits structure, staff development website pages, benefits portions of the human resource manuals, pay administration policies, and related payroll documents. In addition, there were several online resources for training, course offering, professional development groups, giving and receiving feedback, the mentoring relationship, and tuition reimbursement programs, among other documents pertaining to engaging, supporting, and motivating employees through education, training, and related benefits.

Table 3

Reference	Frequency
Career Development (56)	68
Professional Development (12) Training	60
Growth	33
Engagement	24
Motivate	20
Promotion	14
Support	13
Mentoring	12
Education	11
Advancement	8

References to Engagement, Support, and Motivation

Engagement. About engagement, Nurse 1 said, "I create a culture of engagement all year long in our organization. A main factor of happiness and employee engagement is that employees have a sense of meaning and purpose in their work." Nurse 2 also identified "engagement" as a factor that can enhance employee satisfaction, and Nurse 3

said, "I encourage employees' engagement. Increase employee engagement keep the workforce engaged." Administrator 1 said, "Employee engagement is very important to me. Employee engagement in the workplace is important." Physician 1 similarly claimed, "I engage employees, which helps to develop employees and increase engagement in the workplace." The idea of engagement emerged several times from the interview data, demonstrating that the leaders interviewed believed that engagement could reduce employee turnover.

Results pertaining to this thematic finding are consistent with the idea previously published that employee engagement and positive employee relationships can reduce stress and burnout in the workplace and improve the health and well-being of workers, reducing employee turnover (Buttigieg & West, 2013; Lee, Lee, et al., 2013). Dempsey and Reilly (2016) claimed that promoting morale through engagement may help improve the quality of patient care and reduce health care expenses; according to participants in this study, successfully engaging employees can also reduce employee turnover. Findings in this study are also consistent with previous suggestions by Dow et al. (2013) from their study of organizational leadership application in health care settings, that engagement of all levels of the staff is necessary for organizational success.

Training and career development. Training, education, and professional and career development were primary strategies that all the participants in this study described as successful in engaging employees and in reducing employee turnover. For example, Nurse 1 said, "Career development and training is the most effective strategy to reduce employee turnover in our organization." Nurse 1 explained that, "Career

development and training helps employees feel more valuable to the company." Nurse 1 also explained that, "The company is investing in them. Career development and training create an environment where employees feel that they have a future with the organization." Nurse 2 said, "Career development, training, and education, engagement, leadership workshops, classroom instruction, seminars, and off-site training help develop our careers. Lack of development and growth leads to high turnover. Career development and training intensify employee expectancy levels." Nurse 3 said, "Invest in professional develop and training. Training increases worker productivity, employee satisfaction and consequently staff retention." Nurse 3 explained that, "Aspiring, ambitious, talent employees are continually looking to expand the expertise and sharpen their abilities and skills. If employers don't offer learning and development opportunities, there is a risk that they will lose the skill talented employees to other employees." Physician 1 also claimed, "employee development and training" is a way to reduce turnover, and added that, "Training needs to be consistent." The hospital administrator said, "Training is the most effective strategy because it increases employee satisfaction, enhances employee productivity, and enhances employees' profitability, and builds employees inspiration and fulfillment." The idea expressed by participants was that consistent, engaging, and personally beneficial training could meet employees' needs in ways that could lower the likelihood of voluntary employee turnover.

Findings pertaining to this thematic area are consistent with previous reports that organizational development supporting successful collaboration needs to contain a philosophy where management engages employees through training and motivation (Castner et al., 2012; Otto et al., 2014). Training and career development opportunities can enhance the quality of work life (Carreno, 2016; Pryce, 2016), which participants in this study claimed helped reduce employee turnover. Training and education is a part of a supportive organizational culture that helps lower employee turnover for hospital health care workers and improves long-term retention (Kim et al., 2015; Mulready-Shick & Flanagan, 2014). Participants' descriptions in this study align with the previous claims by Röthlin (2013) that hospital staff members need continuous leadership support for developmental training programs to help guide them toward job satisfaction and commitment to their work settings in the health care system.

Mentoring. References to mentoring included those from Nurse 1 who said, "Another auspicious strategy is a mentoring program. Mentoring is great for goaloriented feedback and support, veteran nurses pass on knowledge to less experienced nurses, crucial in retaining young or new nurses, and many hospitals do not have mentoring programs." Physician 1 also pointed out "coaching and mentoring" as a strategy to reduce turnover and the hospital administrator said, "We also incorporated a mentoring program. The mentoring program gives an organized component to creating solid connections, strong relationship with leaders and their subordinates." The hospital administrator explained that mentoring provides a, "solid foundation for growth and employee retention, the organization pairs a more experienced employee in their disciple with a less experienced employee in a similar area, by doing so this provides performance feedback, develops competencies, and individualized career development plan." Hospital administrator 1 added, "I also give coaching and regular feedback to my followers." The idea expressed by participants was that mentoring could lead to strengthened connections and relationship between employees and leaders and among the hospital staff which could help reduce employee turnover

Mentoring involves cooperative behaviors. According to previous research, cooperative behaviors rely on partners actively working together and engaging in communication patterns to maintain positive interactions and relationships that can enhance employee commitment (Mulready-Shick & Flanagan, 2014). Participants voiced similar sentiments about the mentoring relationship, in line with the claims made by Mulready-Shick and Flanagan (2014) that training, mentoring, and educational awareness are parts of a supportive organizational culture that may lower employee turnover for hospital health care workers and improves long-term retention. Mentoring, according to participants in this study and the reports of Lee, Lee, et al. (2013), can help improve the quality of work life that deters employees from leaving their jobs. Asegid et al. (2014) previously noted training, mentoring, and career growth aspects of working conditions in the Herzberg dual-factor model.

Motivating leadership. Regarding other motivators, Nurse 1 claimed, "Leaders play an important role in an organization. Leaders are in charge of motivating employees. Supervisors with great leadership skills offer feedback on employees' performance, which increases employee satisfaction among staff." Nurse 3 similarly said, "Leaders need to provide employees with a motivating environment giving employees a sense of pride in what they do. Job satisfaction equal to high productivity, motivation and low employee turnover." Physician 1 explained, "Motivated employees

stay with the hospital" and added that motivators include "pride in the organization, benefits, and salaries that are competitive, meaningful work, open doors for professional development and growth, acknowledgment, recognition, and appreciation showed to employees. The workplace is constantly changing - leaders' and employees' needs are everlastingly evolving." A motivating workplace environment increases productivity and job satisfaction in the workplace.

Participants' references to motivation are consistent with prior reports that organizational development supporting successful collaboration needs to contain a philosophy where management engages employees through training and motivation (Castner et al., 2012; Otto et al., 2014). Participants' discussion of motivation aligned with the Maslow (1943) supporting theory for this study that motivation stems from the drive to fulfill human needs and the Thomas (2014) publication tying together Maslow's hierarchy of needs and self-actualization with Herzberg's (1959) dual-factor theory. The participants' discussion of motivation also aligned with the idea expressed by Vroom (1964) that there is psychological importance to the idea of motivation in the workplace, which Thomas (2014) claimed can enhance retention and employee turnover in the workplace.

Compensation and benefits. Although participants did not credit salary, pay, or benefits as the most important motivators that could lead to employee retention, all participants did talk about tangible incentives as motivators. Regarding motivators, participants stressed pay/money/salary/compensation (27 references) and benefits (15 references). For example, Nurse 2 claimed, "Some may argue that employees have a

greater aspiration than money." However, Nurse 1 said, "Employees who believe the organization pay scale or structure is unfair will seek other employment, make sure the compensation structure is fair, reasonable, and clearly communicated." Physician 1 claimed that a "poor workplace and poor environment" is associated with "dissatisfaction with benefits and pay" and that turnover can stem from employees "not being paid adequately, satisfactorily, or sufficiently, and figure out if pay is the reason." Physician 1 added, "Employees that have a higher level of wage satisfaction will stay with their present employer. However, pay satisfaction and pay level are weak indicators of employee turnover. Pay dispersion has an impact on employee morale and job satisfaction." The hospital administrator said, "Satisfaction with pay is a predictor of retention." Satisfying employees are committed to the organization.

Attitudes about pay are a part of the multifaceted idea of quality of work life that stems from a worker's general emotions about his or her work that stems from attitudes about pay, rewards, and other aspects of their jobs (Amini & Mortazavi, 2013; Gerhart & Fang, 2014). Quality of work, important in Herzberg's dual-factor theory, may help deter employees from leaving their jobs (Lee, Seo, et al., 2013), consistent with participants' claims. The many factors previously identified as influential on employee turnover, that participants in these studies also discussed, included pay, recognition, and employer stability (Asegid et al., 2014; Buttigieg & West, 2013; Gupta et al., 2013; Hwang et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2015; Lee, Lee, et al., 2013).

About benefits, Nurse 1 explained, "In our organization, employees receive tuition reimbursement, health benefits to include spouses and children, paid holiday, and

retirement plan." Nurse 2 said, "Retirement, health benefits, tuition reimbursement, and paid holidays provide employees with a cushion, and it reduces employee turnover." Nurse 3 mentioned, "paid holidays, health benefits, and retirement program help to reduce employee turnover. Employees and leaders alike need to know about and understand the organization compensation incentives." Physician 1 claimed, "I promote a competitive benefit package. I incorporate pay, benefits, and incentives. Some companies incorporate bonuses. Health plans, paid holidays, and retirement plan are some of the benefits offered by our company." Salary structure, profit sharing, bonus programs, pension and health plans, paid time off, and tuition reimbursement help reduce employee turnover.

The claim of benefits being of value to employees, described by participants in this study, is consistent with the idea that values bringing humans pleasure, according to Vroom (1964), which include financial incentive, upward mobility, and other types of rewards that managers and leaders can use in the workplace. Benefits help improve the quality of work-life (Amini & Mortazavi, 2013; Gerhart & Fang, 2014), that leaders in this study emphasized were important factors in maintaining a healthy, happy workforce who can benefit from a work-life balance and high quality of work-life in hospital settings. Quality of working life arises from the interaction between an employee's needs and organizational resources (Gillet et al., 2013), which participants in this study claimed is necessary for successful reduction of employee turnover.

Theme 4: Valuing Employees through Communication, Recognition, and Respect

The fourth theme encompassed the idea of valuing employees through communication and inclusion. All the participants in the study talked about valuing, including, recognizing, and rewarding employees. Table 4 includes a summary of the terms participants used to describe the importance of valuing employees through communication, inclusion, and appreciation. Participants collectively mentioned valuing employees 23 times throughout the interviews, with 23 references to how communication can show value, respect, and appreciation of employees. The idea of recognition emerged from the data 16 times in addition to rewards (referenced 13 times) and the concept of appreciation (5 references). Additional documents reviewed related to this major thematic area, including employee appreciation website pages that offered information about collegial recognition programs and recognition awards.

Table 4

Reference	Frequency	
Communication	29	
Value	23	
Recognition	16	
Respect	13	
Reward	13	
Appreciate	5	

Reference to Valuing, Communication, Recognition, and Respect

Valuing and respecting employees. In the discussions about valuing employees, Nurse 1 shared, "we value employee efforts." Nurse 2 said, "I show my followers that I value and appreciate them recognizing their efforts and success." Nurse 3 said employees desire the "opportunity to be valued." Physician 1 explained that, "All employees want to feel esteemed for their aptitudes and skills and that their conclusions are valued. Employees feel valued when their employers include them in their long-term plan and demonstrate appreciation for their job." Administrator 1 claimed that, "employees feel devalued, feel cheapened, and unrecognized. Employers need to implement successful strategies to make employees feel valued." Administrator 1 explained, "We value excellence, respect, honesty, teamwork, and positive attitudes. A simple thank you from an employer, a free lunch goes a long way making employees feel valued." Valuing and respecting employees was a way that participants in the study used to successfully reduce employee turnover.

Respect was a motivator that participants discussed and claimed is a part of valuing employees and enhancing the workplace environment to reduce employee turnover. Regarding respect, Nurse 1 claimed, "We strive to create a respectful friendly work environment for people from all walks of life." Nurse 2 said, "Employees must respect their co-workers, respect in the workplace is an important factor in voluntary turnover, respect in our organization results in higher retention, respect for the individual, and respect their employees and their views." Nurse 3 claimed, "Employees need respect." Physician 1 stressed, "Leaders showing respect for the employees and also earning respect from the employees." Hospital administrator 1 similarly said, "I try

to promote and encourage everyone to respect each other." A respectful work environment, according to participants in this study, involves respect between employees and leaders and respect among the staff in general; a respectful work environment could reduce employee turnover.

Part of valuing employees is a leaders' ability to show appreciation. About appreciation, Nurse 1 said, "I show my followers that I value and appreciate them recognizing their efforts and success." Nurse 2 explained, "Employees want to feel appreciated and know that their organization wants them." Physician stressed, "acknowledgment, recognition, and appreciation showed to employees, and demonstrate appreciation for their job." Hospital administrator 1 claimed, "Appreciation is shown regularly in our organization." According to participants, appreciating employees helps to reduce the likelihood of voluntary employee turnover.

Job characteristics influence employees' desires to either leave or remain at their jobs. Participants in this study discussed factors, such insufficient recognition, feeling devalued, an absence of appreciation, minimal advancement opportunities, and little support from leadership, identified in previous studies as implicated in employee turnover (Asegid et al., 2014; Buttigieg & West, 2013; Gupta et al., 2013; Hwang et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2015; Lee, Lee, et al., 2013). Dow et al. (2013), like participants in this study, suggested that recognizing an employee's value to an organization enhances health care teams by boosting employee morale, and is necessary for organizational success. To reduce employee turnover, according to participants in this study and Dill et al. (2013), leadership must be able to recognize the value of and how important employees are to the organization.

Rewards and recognition. Different rewards discussed included tangible and intangible rewards. Nurse 1 said, "It is very, very important that feedback includes reward for good behavior, achievements, when employees go beyond the call of duty." Nurse 2 shared that, "Rewarding and recognizing employees is also a strategy that I used. I show my followers that I value and appreciate them recognizing their efforts and success. These rewards are tangible. In return, employees show their loyalty." Nurse 3 emphasized "a rewarding working environment" and claimed that, "They also need recognition from their leaders." Physician 1 said, "I also promote recognition and rewards. Acknowledgment and recognition are vital and can be as simple as a welltimed coordinated email telling employees that they are doing a great job. Additionally, I also incorporate budgetary rewards recognizing great performance." Administrator 1 said, "Rewards are meaningful and impact followers' perception of the organization. Receiving recognition, an employee feels responsible for their work, a sense of worth in their job. Rewards motivate employees. Rewards help employees be more productive." Rewards are a type of external motivation that participants believed help reduce employee turnover.

Intrinsic rewards refer to when employees are satisfied with their jobs (Ryan & Ebbert, 2013), which participants in this study credited to reductions in employee turnover. When employees feel happy and satisfied, there is an intrinsic reward that reinforces their desires to stay with an organization. Recognition and rewards are part of

the multifaceted quality of work-life (Amini & Mortazavi, 2013; Gerhart & Fang, 2014) that participants in this study described as necessary for the reduction of hospital employee turnover. When employees value rewards and recognition, according to Vroom (1964), the appeal to the psychological importance can lead to retention and reduce employee turnover in the workplace (Thomas, 2014). Chang et al. (2015), Gould-Williams et al. (2014) and Shweiki et al. (2015) are among contemporary authors who continued to emphasize the concepts of extrinsic and intrinsic rewards as motivators in work-related decisions, which according to participants are essential elements of successful strategies to reduce hospital employee turnover.

Communication. About communication, Nurse 1 said, "Effective communication between leaders and employees helps motivate employees, which keeps them excited to come to work. Effective communication influences positive employee morale and reduces turnover. Communication should be clear so information flows easily between different departments and within teams." Nurse 3 said, "Effective and open communication with your staff allows for them to trust in you. If you are not open to communication, they will not trust you and will not come to you." Nurse 3 added, "I always ask them to help me be a better leader so a positive environment will allow for your staff to tell you what they are thinking." Physician 1 said, "Communication cannot be stressed enough. Communicate, more communication, communicate, communicate again, and again, and again. Communication makes sense in any business. Clear transparent, meaningful internal, consistent communication between both employees and employers boost profitability and engagement." Administrator 1 said, "Talk to one another, ensure communication is open, leaders are approachable for questions and discussions. Without communication, there's no dialogue with what's going on in the hospital." The administrator added, "Working in hospitals can be stressful so it's important everyone does their part in communicating. Effective communication is key." Effective communication, according to participants in this study, could help reduce hospital employee turnover.

Results culminating in this thematic finding are consistent with the ideas previously expressed by Eberechukwu and Chukwuma (2016) who reported that relationships grow and become stronger through effective communication that develops equity between leaders, employees, hospital staff, and patients as customers. Communication is an essential portion of patient care, which occurs in various multifaceted care circumstances (Kitson et al., 2014) and according to participants in this study effective communication can help reduce employee turnover. According to participants in this study, communication also relates to visibility and approachability that Wallis and Kennedy (2013) claimed are part of the strategic processes of health care administration. When leaders are visible to employees and employees have access to leaders, interdisciplinary learning, communication, and collaboration, desired by health care staff improve (Frich et al., 2015), which according to participants in this study helps to reduce employee turnover. Strong leaders actively listen to employees, speak face-toface with staff, and foster effective communication (Collins et al., 2013), which members of the study sample claimed were essential elements of successful strategies to reduce hospital employee turnover.

Theme 5: Maintaining a Flexible, Fair, Cooperative, Safe Organizational Culture

The fifth theme emerged from participants' emphasis on maintaining a flexible, cooperative, and safe organizational culture. Participants collectively emphasized the importance of organizational culture, and maintaining a safe yet flexible work environment. Table 5 includes the key words participants used to describe the importance of an organizational culture (referenced 25 times) that is safe (referenced 23 times), healthy (referenced 12 times) and flexible (referenced 8 times) in the interview sessions. All participants discussed the concept of cooperation, teamwork, collaboration, and group cohesion, which together emerged from the data 12 times. The concept of trust emerged from the data more often (9 times) than the concepts of loyalty and commitment, referenced four times each. Additional documents reviewed included policy and procedure manuals as well as website pages that detailed health and wellness programs, workplace health and safety policies, and newsletters representative of the organizational culture and emphasis of employee well-being.

Table 5

Reference	Frequency
Culture	25
Environment	24
Safety	23
Healthy	12
Team/Group/Collaborate	12

References to Organizational Culture

103

Reference	Frequency
Trust	9
Flexible	8
Loyalty/Commitment	8

Culture. Regarding organizational culture, Nurse 1 said, "An organization with a happy working culture will retain its employees. A happy and flexible work culture helps support an effective communication strategy." Nurse 1 added, "Our organization is a culture of positive feedback and praise. Our organization possesses a culture of trust and respect." Nurse 2 shared, "I create a culture of engagement all year long in our organization. Cultivating and respecting our organization is a part of our culture." Nurse 3 claimed, "A strong and positive culture is key in any organization, but especially in hospital environments." Physician 1 similarly claimed, "culture reflects the values that employees need to maintain. The aspiration of any culture is to support the success of its organization. Hospital environments are fast paced and is a performance-based culture where people's lives matter." Hospital administrator 1 said, "A positive organizational culture is vital for employees to work well together. Our organization has a positive culture. We value excellence, respect, honesty, teamwork, and positive attitudes. Creating the right culture attracts and keeps our talented employees." Participants placed emphasis on an optimal organizational culture as a way to successfully reduce hospital employee turnover.

Participants' reports are consistent with the prior literature that revealed a hospital's organizational culture can affect employees negatively or positively (Dempsey & Reilly, 2016; Kramar, 2014; Queiros et al., 2013; Ryan & Ebbert, 2013). Aligned with participants' descriptions, leaders must work diligently to promote, instill, and implement the culture throughout the organization to reduce employee turnover (Buffington et al., 2012). Participants' explanations were consistent with the idea previously published that organizational culture can foretell organizational results (Smith, 2015), drive employee allegiance and engagement, and promote dedication (Brunges & Foley-Brinza, 2014). Leaders who develop cultures that promote collegial support influences staff to continue in their jobs (Brunetto et al., 2013; Khalili, 2014). A positive workplace culture influences the way people speak to one another and how people treat one another (Mulready-Shick & Flanagan, 2014), which participants claimed represented practices that can reduce hospital staff turnover.

Flexibility. About flexibility, Physician talked about offering, "flexible working conditions." Nurse 1 similarly described "a happy and flexible work culture" and added, "We embrace flexibility, create work-life balance for support for employees who are struggling with work and life." Hospital administrator 1 emphasized the idea that, "employees feel stress from overwork and they have a work-life unevenness imbalances." Nurse 2 claimed, "Flexible work plan has a positive impact on retention." Nurse 3 said, "I pay close attention to employee personal need, and this led to offer more flexibility, like compressed schedules." In today's workplace, employees requires a work life balance in order to retain employees.

QWL also pertains to work-life balance (Amini & Mortazavi, 2013; Gerhart & Fang, 2014), discussed by participants in this study as essential for the success of strategies to reduce employee turnover in hospital settings. One way to achieve a work-life balance among employees is to have leaders who understand that QWL does not only influence employees, but also influences the entire organization and organizational outcomes (Moneke & Umeh, 2013b; Wong & Laschinger, 2013), which participants in this study also echoed. Participants reports' of flexibility being essential for reducing hospital employee turnover aligns with the idea that work-life balance from flexibility also decreases worries, disappointments with employment, and yearnings to leave work (Bogaert et al., 2013; Stimpfel et al., 2013).

Environment. The work environment described by Nurse 1 is, "an environment where employees feel that they have a future with the organization. We strive to create a respectful friendly work environment. Leaders in this organization strive to create positive working environments where employees are satisfied and happy." Nurse 1 added, "We strive to ensure that there is no bullying and no discrimination within the company." Nurse 2 also talked about the need to "provide a positive working environment" to retain employees. Nurse 3 described, "a rewarding working environment, a positive work environment, and a motivating environment giving employees a sense of pride in what they do." Physician 1 described "a comfortable working environment" and Administrator 1 said it was important for employees to experience a work environment that aligns their expectations. The design and

maintenance of the work environment, according to participants, could occur in ways that help reduce voluntary employee turnover in hospital settings.

Participants in this study discussed the work environment in a context Herzberg et al. initially theorized about, involving variables in the work environment that prompt occupational fulfillment and disappointment. Participants' descriptions of the importance of work environment in reducing hospital employee turnover coincides with the idea that leadership involvement is crucial in helping create positive work environments as well as sustain talent within an organization (Wallis & Kennedy, 2013). Leaders also voiced sentiments consistent with prior reports that staff at a hospital can all collaborate through partnerships to shape the work environment in a positive manner (Sanders et al., 2013).

Safety. About the concept of safety, Nurse 1 shared that employees need, "a place where they can feel safe. If the hospital has substandard equipment, tools, or services, employees will leave. We provide proper lightings, new furniture, improve restrooms, and other health and safety provision." Nurse 2 said, "always stress safety, ensure safety guidelines are in place and that everyone adheres, conduct good hygiene, sterilized clean equipment, low noise control and a non-hazardous workplace, and exhibiting good behavior and manners." Physician 1 said, "having a safe working environment retains and attracts talent employees, employees need to know the organization does not tolerate any sort of provocation, and harassment or bullying in the work environment." Physician 1 added, "Ordering new furniture, for example, standing work stations, new chairs, great lighting and safety and health provision are a few working conditions that I promote to reduce employee turnover." Hospital administrator 1 also talked about, "Standing work

stations and safety and health provisions focus on safety to ensure everyone follows our safety protocols. You can never go overboard with being safe." A safe work environment decreases turnover.

According to findings in prior research, establishing a safety philosophy in hospital settings has been a continuing objective, founded on endorsements from the Institute of Medicine (Groves, 2014). This thematic finding is consistent with previous reports that safety culture in hospitals can make a difference in the relationships among staff and with patients. Managers of hospitals can have an impact by encouraging a resilient culture of safety (Carayon et al., 2013; Clark et al., 2014), which participants in this study indicated was a successful strategy for reducing employee turnover. Participants voiced sentiments that aligned with prior reports that, as leaders become knowledgeable and aware of safety issues within an organization, improvements can then enhance patient and employee safety, creating a more attractive work environment (Jeffs et al., 2013; Pumar-Méndez et al., 2014).

Teamwork. Regarding teamwork, collaboration, and group cohesion, Nurse 1 described an environment wherein "information flows easily between different departments and within teams." Nurse 2 shared, "My team and I work very closely every day. When something good happens to one of us or if it's bad, it has an impact on the team." Physician 1 suggested ensuring that, "unengaged or upset employee feel part of the team, with a future at the hospital; regular group building exercises help develop employees and increase engagement in the workplace." Teamwork helps to increase engagement job satisfaction and decreases turnover. Participants in this study echoed previous reports that leaders set the tone for the successful implementation of policies and programs that affect teams, collaboration, and the overall success of the organizational structure (Carayon et al., 2013; Dow et al., 2013). Teamwork in a supportive environment, according to participants and to Zaheer et al. (2015), flourish in a group culture intended to benefit all stakeholders. Hospitals operate with a culture of a team-based systems (Lubbe & Roets, 2014; Van Bogaert, Kowalski, Weeks, & Clarke, 2013); with that fact in mind, leaders in this study emphasized the role of teamwork and successful group building experiences in reducing hospital employee turnover.

Relationship to Existing Literature and Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study comprised of Herzberg's (1959) dualfactor theory, Maslow's (1943) hierarchy of needs, and Vroom's (1964) expectancy theories. These theories were used to identify with the findings to gain a deeper comprehension of the strategies hospital leaders need to diminish the occurrence of employee turnover. Documentation from review of documents and participants responses from the semistructured interviews supported Herzberg's, Maslow's, and Vroom's theories.

Herzberg's (1959), Maslow's (1943), and Vroom's (1964) theories supported the participants' response that it is important to understand the problem of employee turnover. Hiring the right employees for organizational-job fit and person-job fit connected supports the culture of the organization (Herzberg, 1959; Pryce, 2016). Recruiting applicants to fit the organizational culture align with Maslow (1943) theory.

Hiring the right applicants that meet the needs of the organization aligns with Vroom (1964) theory. Hiring the wrong applicants may result in decreases in productivity and high turnover rate. Participants in this study emphasized the recruitment and hiring process should focus on hiring employees that are likely to have a good organizational fit which reduce employee turnover.

The participants in this study discussed different ways they strategized in engaging, supporting, and motivating hospital employees. These strategies included valuing employees through effective communication, recognition, respect, engagement, support, and motivation. The findings in this study are consistent with prior literature that employees will quit their jobs if there is a lack of employee development and training (Stinglhamber et al., 2015). Maslow (1943) recommended that job satisfaction normally increases when employees feel that opportunities in the workplace help to meet their needs. Effective communication aligns with the Herzberg (1959) theory while effective communication between employees and leaders correlate with the Maslow (1943) theory. Effective communication and relationship building are facets of Herzberg motivationhygiene theory and Maslow hierarchy of needs theory of why employees are satisfied with their jobs. The participants in this case study identified a collaborative, safe, and flexible organizational culture as ideal for the retention of hospital employees who have a good organizational fit with the hospital environment. The finding is consistent with previous reports that a workplace can make a difference in the relationships among staff and leaders

Applications to Professional Practice

The findings from this study complement the body of learning methodologies and give current data on how the findings are related to upgrading business practices in the hospital industries, which may add to leaders' strategies for reducing employee turnover. Hospital leaders may utilize strategies of the five major themes found in this study to enhance their expert systems by implementing strategies to reduce the occurrence of staff turnover. The five themes from this study may frame an establishment for further research. These five themes may apply over any hospital, rural or city or veteran hospitals and the hospital industry worldwide; pioneers with strategies to diminish worker turnover in the work environment.

Herzberg et al.'s (1959) dual-factor theory, Maslow's (1943) hierarchy of needs theory, and Vroom's (1964) expectancy theory are the conceptual framework used to portray the factors that influence job dissatisfaction and high staff turnover. Factors that reduce employee turnover are workplace culture that drive employee engagement, great organizational support, fairness, and positive socialization reduce employee turnover (Biswas & Bhatnagar, 2013; Brunges & Foley-Brinza, 2014; Shahid & Azhar, 2013). Leaders understanding the problem of why employees leave to seek employment someplace else, recruiting employees for organizational fit, leaders engaging, support, and motivation employees, valuing employees through communication, recognition, and respect, and maintain a flexible, fair, cooperative, safe organizational culture strategies are some of the major factors in reducing employee turnover. It is essential for all leaders to actualize and comprehend strategies for reducing employee turnover.

Implications for Social Change

The associations for positive social change related to health care administration leaders reducing employee turnover in hospitals include the enhancement in the quality of life for physicians and nurses who are employed at hospitals. Health care administration leaders could bring about social change to society and the greater community by improving the quality of care in their institutions. Hospitals can be a dangerous place of employment, which has been associated with certain types of psychological, emotional, and physical challenges that goes along with serving sick or dying populations. Taking a broader look at different perspectives with different hospital experiences was also unique and lead to interesting findings. The implication for social change is that reducing employee turnover in hospitals may provide for improvement of quality of care in those institutions.

Recommendations for Action

Leaders not only in health care but other industries could benefit from successful strategies applied or developed to reduce employee turnover. Turnover rate is high in the health care industry (Gellatly et al., 2014; Horrigan et al., 2013). Understanding of the problem, recruiting employees for organizational fit, engaging, supporting, and motivating employees, valuing employees through communication, recognition, and respect, and maintaining a flexible, cooperative, safe organizational culture, engaging and motivating employees to include education, training, and career or professional development opportunities, valuing employees to include, recognizing and rewarding employees are some of the factors in reducing employee turnover.

I found, while conducting this research that effective strategies to reduce employee turnover in a hospital were needed to retain employees because health care workers will leave the organization seeking new employment if dissatisfied with their present working environment. I recommend that health care leaders develop communication and career development and training strategies for job and employee satisfaction to retain their employees. The discoveries from this study may inspire health care leaders to implement successful strategies to decrease staff turnover. I plan to disseminate the recommendation and results of the study to the participants, leaders of medical services, staff nurses, and nurse managers through professional conferences, seminars, workshops, and meetings.

Recommendations for Further Research

The purpose of this study was to explore effective strategies for health care administrators to use to reduce hospital employee turnover. The findings of the study are limited to the population included in the study, specifically health care administration leaders, physicians, and nurses in Raleigh, North Carolina hospitals. The results of this study could have a positive impact on social change that can lead to a higher level of quality patient care, employee work performance, and a safer, healthier stabilized health care atmosphere for communities. Enhancing the quality of life for physicians and nurses who are employed by hospitals and health care administration leaders could bring about social change to society and the greater community by improving the quality of care in their institutions. A recommendation for further research is to expand the population to include hospital staff employees such as physician assistants within specified departments to determine the effectiveness of strategies used in reducing turnover. Hospital organizations are like no other structured organizations, in part because of the uniqueness of how hospital operations are designed from an organizational stance. Therefore, future research with hospital staff employees who have less than 5 years of hospital experience could yield different results based solely on the number of years employees worked in hospitals. Additional research could add to the limited academic knowledge and understanding of successful strategies used to reduce employee turnover in hospitals.

Limitations of the study include that the population was limited to health care administrators who applied strategies to reduce turnover. A future study might relate to health care leaders and employees in civilian, veteran, and rural hospitals in different locations. Participation was restricted to hospital administrators, physician, and nurse from one single hospital located in Raleigh, North Carolina. The sample in this case study was five; a small sample, however replicating this study to a larger sample of nine cases may expand on the aftereffects of this research. Research could focus on urban and city hospitals using a multiple case study in Raleigh, North Carolina.

Reflections

As I began my DBA journey, I researched schools that believed in social change and the impact it would have on societies around the world. My research led me to Walden University and their Doctor of Business Administration degree program with a specialization in Leadership. I began this study with the preconceived idea that leaders in organizations were the link to employee turnover, as shown by the majority of previous studies. My interest in employee turnover was a patient's standpoint having been in the Wounded Warrior Unit while in the United States Army. I observed employee turnover and saw how employee turnover at the hospital impacted patients and employees. As a patient, I noticed the complex issues and challenges to the budget constraints, profitability, and motivated workforce in the hospital. Recognizing the pattern of employee turnover as a patient, as a Wounded Warrior, I had daily doctor's visits at the base hospital. My comprehension of the topic came from my experiences as a patient and the literature review.

Summary and Study Conclusion

This study represented a contribution to the identification of successful strategies to reduce employee turnover in hospital settings. The findings are consistent with previous similar studies addressing the problem of health care organizational employee turnover that leads to increased workload, staff shortages, and escalating health care costs. Adequate and fair pay, benefits, recognition, and rewards appear to represent a known source of employees' motivations, with a work-life balance and flexibility increasingly important to health care staff. The determination of organizational fit of prospective employees stems partly from clear definitions of roles and responsibilities, missions and goals, and expectations and objectives. Leaders can help prospective staff become aware of the organizational culture, which leaders must ensure is appealing and attentive to the concepts of a quality of working life.

Additional leadership skills required to implement successful strategies to reduce hospital employee turnover also include effective communication enhancing positive relationships between leaders and other health care professionals. A safe, positive working environment involving treating people with respect could result in the reduction of employee turnover and represent important leadership responsibilities in hospital settings. Consistent with findings in other industries, hospital jobs that attract employees involve meaningful and motivating engagement and opportunities for employees to apply and grow their skill sets. Education, training, and career development were elements considered essential components of successful strategies for reducing hospital employee turnover. Teamwork and group building contribute to a positive working environment and employee commitment among hospital staff.

This study resulted in several distinct contributions to recommendations for professional practice and future research, yielding strategies that, if applied, could lead to positive social change. Similar scholarly contributions alert health care leaders to become more knowledgeable about how to reduce employee turnover to help improve organizational productivity while reducing health care costs. The application of appropriate successful strategies can help leaders enhance the quality of patient care and the quality of life for health care staff.

References

- Adams, D. P., & Miles, T. P. (2013). The application of Belmont report principles to policy development. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, *39*(12), 16-21. doi:10.3928/00989134-20131028-07
- Adriaenssens, J., De Gucht, V., & Maes, S. (2015). Causes and consequences of occupational stress in emergency nurses, a longitudinal study. *Journal of Nursing Management, 23*, 346-358. doi:10.1111/jonm.12138
- Albuquerque, J., & Deshauer, D. (2014). Physician health: Beyond work-life balance. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 186*, 502-503. doi:10.1503/cmaj.140708
- Al Hussami, M., Darawad, M., Saleh, A., & Hayajneh, F. A. (2014). Predicting nurses' turnover intentions by demographic characteristics, perception of health, quality of work attitudes. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 20, 79-88. doi:10.1111/ijn.12124
- Allen, D. C. (2015). Research, when you know what you're doing: A review of essentials of qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Report*, 20, 451-453. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu
- Amini, A., & Mortazavi, S. (2013). The impact of the broadcasting mistake management culture in a healthy organization on the quality of the personnel work life. *Journal* of Clinical & Diagnostic Research, 7, 507-512.

doi:10.7860/JCDR/2013/4390.2808

Ammendolia, C., Côté, P., Cancelliere, C., Cassidy, J. D., Hartvigsen, J., Boyle, E., ... Amick, B. (2016). Healthy and productive workers: Using intervention mapping to design a workplace health promotion and wellness program to improve presenteeism. *BMC Public Health*, *16*, 1190-1196. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3843x

Andraski, M. P., Chandler, C., Powell, B., Humes, D., & Wakefield, S. (2014). Bridging the divide: HIV prevention research and black men who have sex with men. *American Journal of Public Health, 104*, 708-714.
doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301653

- Anney, V. (2015). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research: Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research & Policy Studies, 5*, 272-281. Retrieved from http://jeteraps.scholarlinkresearch.com
- Anonson, J., Walker, M. E., Arries, E., Maposa, S., Telford, P., & Berry, L. (2014).
 Qualities of exemplary nurse leaders: Perspectives of frontline nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management, 22*, 127-136. doi:10.1111/jonm.12092
- Archbold, C. A., Dahle, D., & Jordan, R. (2014). Policing "The Patch": Police response to rapid population growth in oil boomtowns in Western North Dakota. *Police Quarterly*, *17*, 386-413. doi:10.1177/1098611114549629
- Asegid, A., Belachew, T., & Yimam, E. (2014). Factors influencing job satisfaction and anticipated turnover among nurses in Sidama zone public health facilities, South Ethiopia. *Nursing Research & Practice*, 68, 90-97. doi:10.1155/2014/909768
- Auer, C., Schwendimann, R., Koch, R., De Geest, S., & Ausserhofer, D. (2014). How hospital leaders contribute to patient safety through the development of trust. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 44, 23-29.

doi:10.1097/NNA.00000000000017

- Ausserhofer, D., Schubert, M., Desmedt, M., Blegen, M. A., De Geest, S., &
 Schwendimann, R. (2013). The association of patient safety climate and nurse-related organizational factors with selected patient outcomes: A cross-sectional survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *50*, 240-252.
 doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.04.007
- Backhaus, R., Verbeek, H., van Rossum, E., Capezuti, E., & Hamers, J. P. (2014). Nurse staffing impact on quality of care in nursing homes: A systematic review of longitudinal studies. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 15, 383-393. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2013.12.080
- Barrett, A. K. (2014). Breaking boundaries: Temporality and work-life practices in hospital organizations. *Western Journal of Communication*, 78, 441-461. doi:10.1080/10570314.2014.926390
- Baškarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case study guidelines. *Qualitative Report, 19*, 1-18. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu
- Battistelli, A., Portoghese, I., Galletta M., & Pohl S. (2013). Beyond the tradition: Test of an integrative conceptual model on nurse turnover. *International Nursing Review*, 60, 103-111. doi:10.1111/j.1466-7657.2012.01024.x.

Benligiray, S., & Sönmez, H. (2012). Analysis of organizational commitment and workfamily conflict in view of doctors and nurses. *International Journal of Human Resource Management, 23*, 3890-3905. doi:10.1080/09585192.2012.665063

Berberoglu, A., & Secim, H. (2015). Organizational commitment and perceived

organizational performance among health care professionals: Empirical evidence from a private hospital in northern Cyprus. *Journal of Economics & Behavioral Studies*, 7, 64-71. Retrieved from http://www.ifrnd.org/journal/index.php/jebs

- Bešević-Ćomić, V., Bosankić, N., & Draganović, S. (2014). Burnout syndrome and selfefficacy among nurses. *Scripta Medica*, 45(1), 26-29. doi:10.7251/SMD1401025B
- Bish, M., Kenny, A., & Nay, R. (2014). Perceptions of structural empowerment: Nurse leaders in rural health services. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 22, 29-37. doi:10.1111/jonm.12029
- Biswas, S., & Bhatnagar, J. (2013). Mediator analysis of employee engagement: Role of perceived organizational support, PO fit organizational commitment and job satisfaction. *Vikalpa*, 38(1), 27-40. Retrieved from http://www.vikalpa.com/
- Blosky, M. A., & Spegman, A. (2015). Communication and a healthy work environment. *Nursing Management, 46*, 32-38. doi:10.1097/01.NUMA.0000465398.67041.58
- Bogaert, P., Clarke, S., Willems, R., & Mondelaers, M. (2013). Nurse practice environment, workload, burnout, job outcomes, and quality of care in psychiatric hospitals: A structural equation model approach. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69, 1515-1524. doi:10.1111/jan.12010
- Bonenberger, M., Aikins, M., Akweongo, P., & Wyss, K. (2014). The effects of health worker motivation and job satisfaction on turnover intention in Ghana: a crosssectional study. *Human Resources for Health*, *12*, 43-49. doi:10.1186/1478-4491-12-43

Borhani, F., Jalali, T., Abbaszadeh, A., & Haghdoost, A. (2014). Nurses' perception of ethical climate and organizational commitment. *Nursing Ethics*, *21*, 278-288. doi:10.1177/0969733013493215

Bormann, L., & Abrahamson, K. (2014). Do staff nurse perceptions of nurse leadership behaviors influence staff nurse job satisfaction? The case of a hospital applying for magnet designation. *Journal of Nursing Administration, 44*, 219-225. doi:10.1097/NNA.000000000000053

- Bourke, L., Waite, C., & Wright, J. (2014). Mentoring as a retention strategy to sustain the rural and remote health workforce. *Australian Journal of Rural Health, 22,* 2-7. doi:10.1111/ajr.12078
- Brewer, C. S., Chao, Y., Colder, C. R., Kovner, C. T., & Chacko, T. P. (2015). A structural equation model of turnover for a longitudinal survey among early career registered nurses. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *52*, 1735-1745. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.06.017
- Broome, S. (2010). *NCHA workforce report*. Raleigh, NC: North Carolina Hospital Association.
- Brown, P., Fraser, K., Wong, C. A., Muise, M., & Cummings, G. (2013). Factors influencing intentions to stay and retention of nurse managers: A systematic review. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 21, 459-472. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2834.2012.01352.x
- Brunetto, Y., Xerri, M., Shriberg, A., Farr-Wharton, R., Shacklock, K., Newman, S., & Dienger, J. (2013). The impact of workplace relationships on engagement, well-

being, commitment and turnover for nurses in Australia and the USA. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *69*, 2786-2799. doi:10.1111/jan.12165

- Brunges, M., & Foley-Brinza, C. (2014). Projects for increasing job satisfaction and creating a healthy work environment. Association of Operating Room Nurses Journal, 100, 670-681. doi:10.1016/j.aorn.2014.01.029
- Brutus, S., Aguinis, H., & Wassmer, U. (2013). Self-reported limitations and future directions in scholarly reports: Analysis and recommendations. *Journal of Management*, 39, 48-75. doi:10.1177/0149206312455245
- Bryant, P. C., & Allen, D. G. (2013). Compensation, benefits and employee turnover HR strategies for retaining top talent. *Compensation & Benefits Review*, 45, 171-175. doi:10.1177/0886368713494342
- Bryant, S. (2013). Organizational culture of Mississippi hospitals as perceived by laboratory professionals. *Clinical Laboratory Science*, *26*, 147-152. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- Buffington, A., Zwink, J., Fink, R., DeVine, D., & Sanders, C. (2012). Factors affecting nurse retention at an academic magnet hospital. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 42, 273-281. doi:10.1097/NNA.0b013e3182433812
- Bush, T. (2016). Collegiality and professional learning communities. *Educational* Management Administration Leadership, 44, 871-874.
 doi:10.1177/1741143216663993
- Buttigieg, S. C., & West, M. A. (2013). Senior management leadership, social support, job design and stressor-to-strain relationships in hospital practice. *Journal of*

Health Organization & Management, 27, 171-192.

doi:10.1108/14777261311321761

- Byrne, E., Brugha, R., Clarke, E., Lavelle, A., & McGarvey, A. (2015). Peer interviewing in medical education research: Experiences and perceptions of student interviewers and interviewees. *BMC Research Notes*, 8(1), 1-11. doi:10.1186/s13104-015-1484-2
- Cairney, P., & St. Denny, E. (2015). What is qualitative research (Bloombery).
 International Journal of Social Research Methodology: Theory & Practice, 18, 117-125. doi:10.1080/13645579.2014.957434
- Call, M. L., Nyberg, A. J., Ployhart, R. E., & Weekley, J. (2015). The dynamic nature of collective turnover and unit performance: The impact of time, quality, and replacements. *Academy of Management Journal, 58*, 1208-1232. doi:10.5465/amj.2013.0669
- Carayon, P., Karsh, B.-T., Gurses, A. P., Holden, R., Hoonakker, P., Hundt, A. S., ... Wetterneck, T. B. (2013). Macroergonomics in health care quality and patient safety. *Review of Human Factors & Ergonomics*, 8(1), 4-54. doi:10.1177/1557234X13492976
- Cascio, W. F. (2014). Leveraging employer branding, performance management and human resource development to enhance employee retention. *Human Resource Development International*, 17(2), 121-128. doi:10.1080/13678868.2014.886443
- Castleberry, A. (2014). NVivo 10 [Software program]. Version 10. QSR International, 2012. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 78, 25-26.

doi:10.5688/ajpe78125

- Carreno, J. R. (2016). The implications of employee turnover on credit unions (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10133531)
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*, 545-547. doi:10.1188/14.ONF.545-547
- Castner, J., Foltz-Ramos, K., Schwartz, D. G., & Ceravolo, D. (2012). A leadership challenge: Staff nurse perceptions after an organizational team STEPPS initiative. *Journal of Nursing Administration, 42*, 467-472. doi:10.1097/NNA.0b013e31826a1fc1

Chang, C. (2015). Moderating effects of nurses' organizational support on the relationship between job satisfaction and organizational commitment. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 37, 724-745. doi:10.1177/0193945914530047

- Chang, Y. W., Hsu, P. Y., & Wu, Z. Y. (2015). Exploring managers' intention to use business intelligence: The role of motivations. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 34, 273-285. doi:10.1080/0144929X.2014.968208
- Chao, H. (2014). Models and credibility. *Philosophy of the Social Sciences, 44*, 588-605. doi:10.1177/004839311453154
- Cheng, H. G., & Phillips, M. R. (2014). Secondary analysis of existing data:
 Opportunities and implementation. *Shanghai Archives of Psychiatry*, *26*, 371-375.
 doi:10.11919/j.issn.1002-0829.214171

- Clark, O., Zickar, M., & Jex, S. (2014). Role definition as a moderator of the relationship between safety climate and organizational citizenship behavior among hospital nurses. *Journal of Business & Psychology, 29*(1), 101-110. doi:10.1007/s10869-013-9302-0
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 473-475. doi:10.1111/jan.12163
- Coenen, M., Stamm, T., Stucki, G., & Cieza, A. (2012). Individual interviews and focus groups in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: A comparison of two qualitative methods. *Quality of Life Research, 21*, 359-370. doi:10.1007/s11136-011-9943-2
- Collins, S. K., McKinnies, R. C., Matthews, E., & Collins, K. S. (2013). Succession planning: Trends regarding the perspectives of chief executive officers in US hospitals. *Health Care Manager, 32*, 233-245.

doi:10.1097/HCM.0b013e31829d7386

- Collins, S. K., McKinnies, R. C., Matthews, E. P., & Collins, K. S. (2015). A ministudy of employee turnover in US hospitals. *Health Care Manager*, *34*, 23-27. doi:10.1097/HCM.000000000000038
- Cowan, J. (2014). Noteworthy matters for attention in reflective journal writing. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, *15*, 53-64. doi:10.1177/1469787413514647
- Crocker, T., Besterman-Dahan, K., Himmelgreen, D., Castañeda, H., Gwede, C. K., & Kumar, N. (2014). Use of semi-structured interviews to explore competing demands in a prostate cancer prevention intervention clinical trial (PCPICT).

Qualitative Report, 19, 1-16. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR

- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry. *Nurse Researcher, 21*, 19-27. doi:10.7748/nr.21.5.19.e1240
- Crossman, M. K., & Kazdin, A. E. (2016). Additional evidence is needed to recommend acquiring a dog to families of children with autism spectrum disorder: A response to Wright and colleagues. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 46, 332-335. doi:10.1007/s10803-015-2542-2
- Crowe, M., Inder, M., & Porter, R. (2015). Conducting qualitative research in mental health: Thematic and content analyses. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 49, 616-623. doi:10.1177/0004867415582053
- Currie, E. J., & Carr-Hill, R. A. (2012). What are the reasons for high turnover in nursing? A discussion of presumed causal factors and remedies. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 49, 1180-1189. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.01.001
- Daniels, C. S., Mackovjak, J. R., Audia, J. M., & Richards, S. M. (2013). Stop the revolving door: Implement retention initiatives that work. *Nursing Management*, 44, 40-47. doi:10.1097/01.NUMA.0000432221.09629.04
- Daouk-Öyry, L., Anouze, A., Otaki, F., Dumit, N. Y., & Osman, I. (2014). The JOINT model of nurse absenteeism and turnover: A systematic review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 51, 93-110. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2013.06.018
- DeAngelis, K. J., Wall, A. F., & Che, J. (2013). The impact of preservice preparation and early career support on novice teachers' career intentions and decisions. *Journal* of Teacher Education, 64, 338-355. doi:10.1177/0022487113488945

- Dempsey, C., & Reilly, B. (2016). Nurse engagement: What are the contributing factors for success? *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 21, 1-2. doi:10.3912/OJIN.Vol21No01Man02
- Denzin, N. K. (2012). Triangulation 2.0. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 6*, 80-88. doi:10.1177/1558689812437186
- Dill, J. S., Morgan, J. C., & Marshall, V. W. (2013). Contingency, employment intentions, and retention of vulnerable low-wage workers: an examination of nursing assistants in nursing homes. *Gerontologist*, 53, 222-234. doi:10.1093/geront/gns085
- Djukic, M., Kovner, C. T., Brewer, C. S., Fatehi, F., & Greene, W. H. (2014). Exploring direct and indirect influences of physical work environment on job satisfaction for early-career registered nurses employed in hospitals. *Research in Nursing & Health, 37*, 312-325. doi:10.1002/nur.21606
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data. *Nurse Researcher, 20*, 28-32. doi:10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327
- Dotson, M. J., Dave, D. S., Cazier, J. A., & Spaulding, T. J. (2014). An empirical analysis of nurse retention: What keeps RN's in nursing? *Journal of Nursing Administration, 44*, 111-116. doi:10.1097/NNA.00000000000034
- Doucette, J. N. (2014). Leadership Q&A. Nursing Management, 45, 56-66. doi:10.1097/01.NUMA.0000456665.58791.f9
- Dow, A. W., Diaz-Granados, D., Mazmanian, P. E., & Retchin, S. M. (2013). Applying organizational science to health care: A framework for collaborative practice.

Journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges, 88, 952-957. doi:10.1097/ACM.0b013e31829523d1

- Dyrbye, L. N., Satele, D., Sloan, J., & Shanafelt, T. D. (2013). Utility of a brief screening tool to identify physicians in distress. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 28, 421-427. doi:10.1007/s11606-012-2252-9
- Eberechukwu, A., & Chukwuma, A. (2016). Integrated marketing communication in building customer-based equity. *International Journal of Management & Economics Intervention, 2*, 573-582. doi:10.18535/ijmei/v2i3.02
- Edwards-Jones, A. (2014). Qualitative data analysis with NVIVO. *Journal of Education* for Teaching: International Research & Pedagogy, 40, 193-195. doi:10.1080/02607476.2013.866724
- El-Akremi, A., Colaianni, G., Portoghese, I., Galletta, M., & Battistelli, A. (2014). How organizational support impacts affective commitment and turnover among Italian nurses: A multilevel mediation model. *International Journal of Human Resource Management, 25*, 1185-1207. doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.826713
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).
 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open, 4*, 1-10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633

Farquharson, B., Bell, C., Johnston, D., Jones, M., Schofield, P., Allan, J., & Johnston,
M. (2013). Nursing stress and patient care: Real-time investigation of the effect of nursing tasks and demands on psychological stress, physiological stress, and job performance: Study protocol. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69, 2327-2335.

doi:10.1111/jan.12090

- Fielding, N. G. (2012). Triangulation and mixed methods designs data integration with new research technologies. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 6, 124-136. doi:10.1177/1558689812437101
- Forber-Pratt, A. J. (2015). "You're going to do what?" Challenges of autoethnography in the academy. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *21*, 821-835. doi:10.1177/1077800415574908
- Franz, A., Worrell, M., & Vögele, C. (2013). Integrating mixed method data in psychological research combining Q methodology and questionnaires in a study investigating cultural and psychological influences on adolescent sexual behavior. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 7, 370-389. doi:10.1177/1558689813483368
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling & Development, 91*, 184-194. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00085.x
- Frey, R. V., Bayón, T., & Totzek, D. (2013). How customer satisfaction affects employee satisfaction and retention in a professional services context. *Journal of Service Research*, 16, 503-517. doi:10.1177/1094670513490236
- Frich, J. C., Brewster, A. L., Cherlin, E. J., & Bradley, E. H. (2015). Leadership development programs for physicians: A systematic review. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 30, 656–674. doi:10.1007/s11606-014-3141-1
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report, 20,* 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu

Fuwa, M. (2014). Work-family conflict and attitudes toward marriage. Journal of Family

Issues, 35, 731-754. doi:10.1177/0192513X12474631

- Galletta, M., Portoghese, I., Battistelli, A., & Leiter, M. P. (2013). The roles of unit leadership and nurse-physician collaboration on nursing turnover intention.
 Journal of Advanced Nursing, 69, 1771-1784. doi:10.1111/jan.12039
- Gatling, A., Kang, H. J. A., & Kim, J. S. (2016). The effects of authentic leadership and organizational commitment on turnover intention. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 37, 181-199. doi:10.1108/LODJ-05-2014-0090
- Geiger-Brown, J., Rogers, V. E., Trinkoff, A. M., Kane, R. L., Bausell, R. B., & Scharf,
 S. M. (2012). Sleep, sleepiness, fatigue, and performance of 12-hour-shift nurses. *Chronobiology International, Journal of Biological & Medical Rhythm Research,*29, 211-219. doi:10.3109/07420528.2011.645752
- Gellatly, I. R., Cowden, T. L., & Cummings, G. G. (2014). Staff nurse commitment, work relationships, and turnover intentions: A latent profile analysis. *Nursing Research*, 63, 170-181. doi:10.1097/NNR.00000000000035
- Gerhart, B., & Fang, M. (2014). Pay for (individual) performance: Issues, claims, evidence and the role of sorting effects. *Human Resource Management Review*, 24, 41-52. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2013.08.010
- Giles, D., & Yates, R. (2014). Enabling educational leaders: Qualitatively surveying an organization's culture. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 22, 94-106. doi:10.1108/IJOA-11-2011-0526
- Gillet, N., Fouquereau, E., Bonnaud-Antignac, A., Mokounkolo, R., & Colombat, P. (2013). The mediating role of organizational justice in the relationship between

transformational leadership and nurses' quality of work life: A cross-sectional questionnaire survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies, 50*, 1359-1367. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.12.012

Gilmartin, M. J. (2013). Thirty years of nursing turnover research: Looking back to move forward. *Medical Care Research & Review*, 70(1), 3-28.
doi:10.1177/1077558712449056

- Gould-Williams, J. S., Bottomley, P., Redman, T. O. M., Snape, E. D., Bishop, D. J.,
 Limpanitgul, T., & Mostafa, A. M. S. (2014). Civic duty and employee outcomes:
 Do high commitment human resource practices and work overload matter? *Public Administration*, *92*, 937-953. doi:10.1111/padm.12019
- Grabowski, D. C., O'Malley, A. J., Afendulis, C. C., Caudry, D. J., Elliot, A., & Zimmerman, S. (2014). Culture change and nursing home quality of care. *Gerontologist*, 54, 35-45. doi:10.1093/geront/gnt143
- Green, A. E., Miller, E. A., & Aarons, G. A. (2013). Transformational leadership moderates the relationship between emotional exhaustion and turnover intention among community mental health providers. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 49, 373-379. doi:10.1007/s10597-011-9463-0
- Griffin, M. L., Hogan, N. L., & Lambert, E. G. (2014). Career stage theory and turnover intent among correctional officers. *Criminal Justice & Behavior*, 41, 4-19. doi:10.1177/0093854813503638
- Grossoehme, D. H. (2014). Overview of qualitative research. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy, 20*, 109-122. doi:10.1080/08854726.2014.925660

- Groves, P. S. (2014). The relationship between safety culture and patient outcomes:
 Results from pilot meta-analyses. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, *36*, 66-77. doi:10.1177/0193945913490080
- Guetterman, T. (2015). Descriptions of sampling practices within five approaches to qualitative research in education and the health sciences. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *16*(2), 25. Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net
- Gupta, N. P., Gautam, P., & Srivastava, J. N. (2012). Determinants of patient satisfaction in public hospitals and their remediabilities. *BMC Proceedings*, *6*, 4-10. doi:10.1186/1753-6561-6-S5-P4
- Gupta, P., Guha, S., & Krishnaswami, S. (2013). Firm growth and its determinants.
 Journal of Innovation & Entrepreneurship, 2(15), 1-14. doi:10.1186/2192-53722-15
- Haahr, A., Norlyk, A., & Hall, E. O. (2014). Ethical challenges embedded in qualitative research interviews with close relatives. *Nursing Ethics*, *21*(1), 6-15. doi:10.1177/0969733013486370
- Haines, S. J., Summers, J. A., Turnbull, A. P., Turnbull, H. R., & Palmer, S. (2015).
 Fostering habib's engagement and self-regulation a case study of a child from a refugee family at home and preschool. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 35, 28-39. doi:10.1177/0271121414552905
- Hall, S., Goddard, C., Speck, P., Higginson, I. (2013). It makes me feel that I'm still relevant: A qualitative study of the views of nursing home residents on dignity therapy and taking part in a phase II randomised controlled trial of a palliative

care psychotherapy. Palliative Medicine, 27, 358-66.

doi:10.1177/0269216312449272

- Hallberg, L. (2013). Quality criteria and generalization of results from qualitative studies.
 International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health & Well-Being, 8, 1-9.
 doi:10.3402/qhw.v8i0.20647
- Hamdani, M. R., Valcea, S., & Buckley, M. R. (2014). The relentless pursuit of construct validity in the design of employment interviews. *Human Resource Management Review*, 24, 160-176. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2013.07.002
- Harrison, A. S., Yu, Y., Dicker, A. P., & Doyle, L. A. (2013). Using qualitative measures to improve quality in radiation oncology. *American Journal of Medical Quality*, 28, 345-351. doi:10.1177/1062860612461826
- Harrison, R. L. III., (2013). Using mixed methods designs in the Journal of Business
 Research, 1990-2010. *Journal of Business Research*, 66, 2153-2162.
 doi:10.1016/j/busres.2012.01.006
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38(1), 23-38. doi:10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Hauff, S., Richter, N., & Tressin, T. (2015). Situational job characteristics and job satisfaction: The moderating role of national culture. *International Business Review*, 24, 710-720. doi:10.1016/j.ibusrev.2015.01.003
- Hausknecht, J. P., & Holwerda, J. A. (2013). When does employee turnover matter? Dynamic member configurations, productive capacity, and collective

performance. Organization Science, 24, 210-225. doi:10.1287/orsc.1110.0720

- Hayward, D., Bungay, V., Wolff, A. C., & MacDonald, V. (2016). A qualitative study of experienced nurses' voluntary turnover: Learning from their perspectives. *Journal* of Clinical Nursing, 25, 1336-1345. doi:10.1111/jocn.13210
- Henderson, V. C., Kimmelman, J., Fergusson, D., Grimshaw, J. M., & Hackam, D. G.
 (2013). Threats to validity in the design and conduct of preclinical efficacy studies: A systematic review of guidelines for in vivo animal experiments. *PLoS Medicine*, 10, 1-4. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001489
- Heponiemi, T., Kouvonen, A., Virtanen, M., Vänskä, J., & Elovainio, M. (2014). The prospective effects of workplace violence on physicians' job satisfaction and turnover intentions: The buffering effect of job control. *BMC Health Services Research, 14*, 1-16. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-14-19
- Herzberg, F. (1987). One more time: How do you motivate employees? *Harvard Business Review*, 65(5), 109-120. Retrieved from http://www.hbr.org
- Herzberg, F., Mausner, B., & Snyderman, B. B. (1959). *The motivation to work* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Wiley.
- Hofler, L., & Thomas, K. (2016). Transition of new graduate nurses to the workforce:
 Challenges and solutions in the changing health care environment. *North Carolina Medical Journal*, 77(2), 133-136. doi:10.18043/ncm.77.2.133
- Horrigan, J., Lightfoot, N. E., Larivière, M., & Jacklin, K. (2013). Evaluating and improving nurses' health and quality of work life. *Workplace Health & Safety, 61*, 173-181. doi:10.3928/21650799-20130327-18

- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Researcher*, *20*, 12-17. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Huang, C., You, C., & Tsai, M. (2012). A multidimensional analysis of ethical climate, job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and organizational citizenship behaviors. *Nursing Ethics*, *19*, 513-529. doi:10.1177/0969733011433923
- Hunt, D. (2014). Does value congruence between nurses and supervisors effect job satisfaction and turnover? *Journal of Nursing Management*, 22, 572-582. doi:10.1111/jonm.12055
- Hwang, J., Lee, J. J., Park, S., Chang, H., & Kim, S. S. (2014). The impact of occupational stress on employee's turnover intention in the luxury hotel segment. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Administration*, 15, 60-77. doi:10.1080/15256480.2014.872898
- Hyde, P., Harris, C., & Boaden, R. (2013). Pro-social organizational behavior of health care workers. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 24, 3115-3130. doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.775030
- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health & Wellbeing*, 7, 1283-1294. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.23606
- Illeris, K. (2014). Transformative learning and identity. *Journal of Transformative Education*, *12*(2), 148-163. doi:10.1177/1541344614548423
- Inabinett, J. M., & Ballaro, J. M. (2014). Developing an organization by predicting employee retention by matching corporate culture with employee's values: A

correlation study. *Organization Development Journal, 32*(1), 55-74. Retrieved from http://www.isodc.org

- Jaafarpour, M., & Khani, A. (2012). Evaluation of the nurses' job satisfaction, and its association with their moral sensitivities and well-being. *Journal of Clinical & Diagnostic Research*, 6, 1761-1764. doi:10.7860/JCDR/2012/4068.2638
- Jadoo, S. A., Aljunid, S. M., Dastan, I., Tawfeeq, R. S., Mustafa, M. A., Ganasegeran, K.,
 & AlDubai, S. (2015). Job satisfaction and turnover intention among Iraqi doctors
 a descriptive cross-sectional multicentre study. *Human Resources for Health*,
 13, 21. doi:10.1186/s12960-015-0014-6

James, J. (2013). A new, evidence-based estimate of patient harms associated with hospital care. *Journal of Patient Safety*, 9, 122-128. doi:10.1097=PTS.0b013e3182948a69

- Jang, Y., Lee, A. A., Zadrozny, M., Bae, S. H., Kim, M. T., & Marti, N. C. (2015). Determinants of job satisfaction and turnover intent in home health workers. The role of job demands and resources. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 3(1), 59-64, doi:10.1177/0733464815586059
- Jeffs, L., Sidani, S., Rose, D., Espin, S., Smith, O., Martin, K., & Ferris, E. (2013). Using theory and evidence to drive measurement of patient, nurse and organizational outcomes of professional nursing practice. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 19, 141-148. doi:10.1111/ijn.12048
- Jeon, J. H., & Yom, Y. H. (2014). Roles of empowerment and emotional intelligence in the relationship between job embeddedness and turnover intension among general

hospital nurses. *Journal of Korean Academy of Nursing Administration*, 20, 302-312. doi:10.11111/jkana.2014.20.3.302

- Kam, C., & Meyer, J. P. (2015). How careless responding and acquiescence response bias can influence construct dimensionality the case of job satisfaction. *Organizational Research Methods*, 18, 512-541. doi:10.1177/1094428115571894
- Kaur, M. (2016). Application of mixed method approach in public health research. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine*, *41*, 93-97. doi:10.4103/0970-0218.173495
- Kayyali, A. (2014). The impact of turnover in nursing homes. *American Journal of Nursing*, *114*(9), 69-70. doi:10.1097/01.NAJ.0000453762.61882.82
- Kazadi, K., Lievens, A., & Mahr, D. (2015). Stakeholder co-creation during the innovation process: Identifying capabilities for knowledge creation among multiple stakeholders. *Journal of Business Research*, 69, 525-540. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.05.009
- Khalili, M. (2014). A study on relationship between organizational culture and organizational commitment. *Management Science Letters, 4,* 1463-1466. doi:10.5267/j.msl.2014.6.018
- Kim, S. S., Im, J., & Hwang, J. (2015). The effects of mentoring on role stress, job attitude, and turnover intention in the hotel industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management, 48*, 68-82. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.04.006
- Kitson, A. L., Muntlin Athlin, A., Elliott, J., & Cant, M. L. (2014). What's my line? A narrative review and synthesis of the literature on registered nurses'
 communication behaviors between shifts. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 1228-

1242. doi:10.1111/jan.12321

- Koch, L. C., Niesz, T., & McCarthy, H. (2013). Understanding and reporting qualitative research: An analytical review and recommendations for submitting authors.
 Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin, 57, 131-143. doi:10.1177/0034355213502549
- Körner, M., Wirtz, M. A., Bengel, J., & Göritz, A. S. (2015). Relationship of organizational culture, teamwork and job satisfaction in inter-professional teams.
 BMC Health Services Research, 15, 1-12. doi:10.1186/s12913-015-0888-y
- Kramar, R. (2014). Beyond strategic human resource management: Is sustainable human resource management the next approach? *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 25, 1069-1089. doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.816863
- Kroning, M. (2015). Team concepts. Are you an evolutionary leader? *Nursing Management, 46*, 13-15. doi:10.1097/01.NUMA.0000469357.94813.9b
- Kuang-Jung, C., Mei-Liang, C., Chu-Mei, L., & Chien-Jung, H. (2015). Integrated marketing communication, collaborative marketing, and global brand building in Taiwan. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 7, 99-107. Retrieved from http://www.ijoi-online.org/
- Larkin, J. E., Brasel, A. M., & Pines, H. A. (2013). Cross-disciplinary applications of I/O psychology concepts: Predicting student retention and employee turnover. *Review* of General Psychology, 17, 82-92. doi:10.1037/a0030999
- Lartey, S., Cummings, G., & Profetto-McGrath, J. (2014). Interventions that promote retention of experienced registered nurses in health care settings: A systematic review. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 22, 1027-1041.

doi:10.1111/jonm.12105

- Laschinger, H. K. S., & Fida, R. (2014). A time-lagged analysis of the effect of authentic leadership on workplace bullying, burnout, and occupational turnover intentions. *European Journal of Work & Organizational Psychology, 23*, 739-753. doi:10.1080/1359432X.2013.804646
- Laschinger, H. K. S., Nosko, A., Wilk, P., & Finegan, J. (2014). Effects of unit empowerment and perceived support for professional nursing practice on unit effectiveness and individual nurse well-being: A time-lagged study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies, 51*, 1615-1623. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.04.010
- Laschober, T. C., & de Tormes, L. T. (2013). Substance use disorder counselors' job performance and turnover after 1 year: Linear or curvilinear relationship? *Administration & Policy in Mental Health*, 40, 300–310. doi:10.1007/s10488-012-0420-1
- Lee, R. T., Seo, B., Hladkyj, S., Lovell, B. L., & Schwartzmann, L. (2013). Correlates of physician burnout across regions and specialties: A meta-analysis. *Human Resources for Health*, 11, 1-16. doi:10.1186/1478-4491-11-48
- Lee, Y., Dai, Y., Park, C., & Mccreary, L. L. (2013). Predicting quality of work life on nurses' intention to leave. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 45, 160-168. doi:10.1111/jnu.12017
- Lee, Y., Lee, M., & Bernstein, K. (2013). Effect of workplace bullying and job stress on turnover intention in hospital nurses. *Journal of Korean Academy of Psychiatric* & Mental Health Nursing, 22(2), 77-87. doi:10.12934/jkpmhn.2013.22.2.77

- Li, Y., & Jones, C. B. (2013). A literature review of nursing turnover costs. *Journal of Nursing Management, 21*, 405-418. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2834.2012.01411.x
- Lievens, I., & Vlerick, P. (2014). Transformational leadership and safety performance among nurses: The mediating role of knowledge-related job characteristics. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 651-661. doi:10.1111/jan.12229
- Lin, M. H., Shih, W. M. J., Huang, T. S., & Hsu, H. C. (2014). Effects of empowering inservice training program to improve job satisfaction among nurse aides in long term care facilities. *International Journal of Management, IT & Engineering, 4*, 439-455. Retrieved from http://www.aabri.com/jmmr.html
- Linnen, D., & Rowley, A. (2013). Making a case for nurse empowerment. *Nursing, 43*, 45-48. doi:10.I097/01.NURSE.0000435200.50282.56
- Lowther, K., Harding, R., Ahmed, A., Gikaara, N., Ali, Z., Kariuki, H., ... Selman, L. (2016). Conducting experimental research in marginalised populations: clinical and methodological implications from a mixed-methods randomised controlled trial in Kenya. *AIDS Care*, 28(1), 60-63. doi:10.1080/09540121.2016.1146214
- Lubbe, J., & Roets, L. (2014). Nurses' scope of practice and the implication for quality nursing care. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, *46*, 58-64. doi:10.1111/jnu.12058
- Lucero, J., Wallerstein, N., Duran, B., Alegria, M., Greene-Moton, E., Israel, B., ... & Schulz, A. (2016). Development of a mixed methods investigation of process and outcomes of community-based participatory research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1177/1558689816633309

Luu, T. T. (2012). Corporate social responsibility, leadership, and brand equity in health

care service. Social Responsibility Journal, 8, 347-362.

doi:10.1108/17471111211247929

- Macur, M. (2013). Quality in health care: Possibilities and limitations of quantitative research instruments among health care users. *Quality & Quantity, 47*, 1703-1716. doi:10.1007/s11135-011-9621-z
- Madhlangobe, L., Chikasha, J., Mafa, O., & Kurasha, P. (2014). Persistence,
 perseverance, and success (PPS): A case study to describe motivational factors
 that encourage Zimbabwe Open University ODL students to enroll, persist, and
 graduate with master's and doctorate credentials. *Sage Open, 4*, 1-15.
 doi:10.1177/2158244014544291
- Malagon-Maldonado, G. (2014). Qualitative research in health design. *Health Environments Research & Design Journal, 7*(4), 120-134. doi:10.1177/193758671400700411
- Marino, P. A., Mays, A. C., & Thompson, E. J. (2015). Bypass rapid assessment triage: How culture change improved one emergency department's safety, throughput and patient satisfaction. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, *41*, 213-220. doi:10.1016/j.jen.2014.07.010

Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research? A review of qualitative interviews in is research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 54(1), 11-22. Retrieved from http://www.tandfonline.com/toc/ucis20/current

Maslow, A. H. (1943). A theory of human motivation. Psychological Review, 50, 370-

396. doi:10.1037/h0054346

- Mattson, M., Hellgren, J., & Göransson, S. (2015). Leader communication approaches and patient safety: An integrated model. *Journal of Safety Research*, 53, 53-58. doi:10.1016/j.jsr.2015.03.008
- Maxwell, J. (2015). Expanding the history and range of mixed methods research. *Journal* of Mixed Methods Research, 2(25), 15-20. doi:10.1177/1558689815571132
- Mayoh, J., & Onwuegbuzie, A. (2013). Toward a conceptualization of mixed methods phenomenological research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *9*, 91-107. doi:10.1177/1558689813505358
- McCabe, T. J., & Sambrook, S. (2014). The antecedents, attributes and consequences of trust among nurses and nurse managers: A concept analysis. *International Journal* of Nursing Studies, 51, 815-827. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2013.10.003
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion, 30*, 537-542.
 doi:10.1177/0267659114559116
- McHugh, M. D., Kutney-Lee, A., Cimiotti, J. P., Sloane, D. M., & Aiken, L. H. (2011).
 Nurses' widespread job dissatisfaction, burnout, and frustration with health
 benefits signal problems for patient care. Health *Affairs*, *30*, 202-210.
 doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2010.0100
- McMillian, L. R., & McEldowney, R. (2014). Is there really safety in numbers? *Nursing Management*, 45, 26-29. doi:10.1097/01.NUMA.0000453282.72241.1c

Meltzer, E. O., Schatz, M., Nathan, R., Garris, C., Stanford, R. H., & Kosinski, M.

(2013). Reliability, validity, and responsiveness of the rhinitis control assessment test in patients with rhinitis. *Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology, 131*, 379-386. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2012.10.022

- Moll, S. E. (2014). The web of silence: A qualitative case study of early intervention and support for health care workers with mental ill-health. *BMC Public Health*, 14, 1-23. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-138
- Moneke, N., & Umeh, O. J. (2013a). Factors influencing critical care nurses' perception of their overall job satisfaction: An empirical study. *Journal of Nursing Administration, 43,* 201-207. doi:10.1097/NNA.0b013e31828958af
- Moneke, N., & Umeh, O. J. (2013b). Performance potential: How leadership behaviors impact critical care nurse job satisfaction. *Nursing Management*, 44(1), 53-55. doi:10.1097/01.NUMA.0000424019.83292.fa
- Moosa, D. (2013). Challenges to anonymity and representation in educational qualitative research in a small community: A reflection on my research journey. *Journal of Comparative & International Education*, *43*, 483-495.
 doi:10.1080/03057925.2013.797733
- Moradi, T., Maghaminejad, F., & Azizi-Fini, I. (2014). Quality of working life of nurses and its related factors. *Nursing & Midwifery Studies*, 3(2), e19450- e19456. doi:10.17795/nmsjournal19450
- Moreland, J., & Apker, J. (2015). Conflict and stress in hospital nursing: Improving communicative responses to enduring professional challenges. *Health Communication*, 1, 1–9. doi:10.1080/10410236.2015.1007548

- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1212-1222.
 doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Mulready-Shick, J., & Flanagan, K. (2014). Building the evidence for dedicated education unit sustainability and partnership success. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 35, 287-294. doi:10.5480/14-1379
- Nancarrow, S. A. (2015). Six principles to enhance health workforce flexibility. *Human Resources for Health*, *13*, 9-14. doi:10.1186/1478-4491-13-9
- Nassaji, H. (2015). Qualitative and descriptive research: Data type versus data analysis. *Language Teaching Research, 19*, 129-132. doi:10.1177/1362168815572747
- Niks, I. W., de Jonge, J., Gevers, J. P., & Houtman, I. L. (2013). Design of the discovery project: Tailored work-oriented interventions to improve employee health, wellbeing, and performance-related outcomes in hospital care. *BMC Health Services Research, 13*, 1-11. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-13-66
- Nyberg, A. J., Moliterno, T. P., Hale, D., & Lepak, D. P. (2014). Resource-based perspectives on unit-level human capital a review and integration. *Journal of Management*, *40*, 316-346. doi:10.1177/0149206312458703
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration. (2013). *Extended Unusual Work Shifts*. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov
- Oleinik, A., Popova, I., Kirdina, S., & Shatalova, T. (2014). On the choice of measures of reliability and validity in the content-analysis of texts. *Quality & Quantity, 48*, 2703-2718. doi:10.1007/s11135-013-9919-0

- Opollo, J. G., Opollo, D. A., Gray, J., & Spies, L. (2014). Conducting international nursing research: Challenges and opportunities. *Nurse Researcher*, 22, 29-33. doi:10.7748/nr.22.2.29.e1279
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2013). 'Unsatisfactory saturation': A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 13, 190-197. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106
- Oser, C. B., Biebel, E. P., Pullen, E., & Harp, K. L. (2013). Causes, consequences, and prevention of burnout among substance abuse treatment counselors: A rural versus urban comparison. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, 45(1), 17-27. Retrieved from http://www.journalofpsychoactivedrugs.com/articles.html
- Ott, J., & Ross, C. (2014). The journey toward shared governance: The lived experience of nurse managers and staff nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 22, 761-768. doi:10.1111/jonm.12032
- Otto, K., Mohr, G., Kottwitz, M. U., & Korlek, S. (2014). The joint impact of microeconomic parameters and job insecurity perceptions on commitment towards one's job, occupation and career: A multilevel approach. *Economic & Industrial Democracy*, 37, 43-71. doi:10.1177/0143831X14535822
- Overgaard, S. (2015). How to do things with brackets: The epoché explained. *Continental Philosophy Review, 43*, 1–17. doi:10.1007/s11007-015-9322-8
- Pacho, T. (2015). Exploring participants' experiences using case study. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 5(4), 44-53.
 doi:10.1016/j.joon.2008.07.009

Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2013). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration & Policy in Mental Health Services Research*, 40, 1-12. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y

Pantouvakis, A., & Bouranta, N. (2013). The interrelationship between service features, job satisfaction and customer satisfaction. *TQM Journal*, 25, 186-201. doi:10.1108/17542731311299618

Park, S. H., Boyle, D. K., Bergquist-Beringer, S., Staggs, V. S., & Dunton, N. E. (2014). Concurrent and lagged effects of registered nurse turnover and staffing on unitacquired pressure ulcers. Health *Services Research*, 49, 1205–1225. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12158

Pasarón, R. (2013). Nurse practitioner job satisfaction: Looking for successful outcomes. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 22, 2593-2604.

doi:10.1111/j.1365-2702.2012.04331.x

- Peake-Andrasik, M., Chandler, C., Powell, B., Humes, D., Wakefield, S., Kripke, K., & Eckstein, D. (2014). Bridging the divide: HIV prevention research and black men who have sex with men. *American Journal of Public Health, 104*, 708-714. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301653
- Petrakis, P., & Kostis, P. (2012). The role of knowledge and trust in SMEs. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, *6*, 1-20. doi:10.1007/s13132-012-0115-6
- Petrova, E., Dewing, J., & Camilleri, M. (2016). Confidentiality in participatory research. *Nursing Ethics, 23*, 442-454. doi:10.1177/0969733014564909

- Pilcher, N., & Cortazzi, M. (2016). Dialogues: 'QUANT'researchers on 'QUAL'methods. *Qualitative Report. 21*, 450-473. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu
- Pomirleanu, N., & Mariadoss, B. (2015). The influence of organizational and functional support on the development of salesperson job satisfaction. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management, 35*, 33-50. doi:10.1080/08853134.2014.988716
- Porath, C. L., Gerbasi, A., & Schorch, S. L. (2015). The effects of civility on advice, leadership, and performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100, 1–15. doi:10.1037/apl0000016
- Protheroe, J., Brooks, H., Chew-Graham, C., Gardner, C., & Rogers, A. (2013).
 'Permission to participate?' A qualitative study of participation in patients from differing socio-economic backgrounds. *Journal of Health Psychology, 18*, 1046-1055. doi:10.1177/1359105312459876
- Pryce, A. C. (2016). Strategies to Reduce Employee Turnover in Small Retail Businesses (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10244097)
- Pumar-Méndez, M. J., Attree, M., & Wakefield, A. (2014). Methodological aspects in the assessment of safety culture in the hospital setting: A review of the literature. *Nurse Education Today, 34*, 162-168. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2013.08.008
- Quaye, R. K. (2016). Assessing the role of GPs in Nordic health care systems. Leadership in Health Services, 29(2), 122-135. doi:10.1108/LHS-11-2015-0036

Queiros, C., Carlotto, M. S., Kaiseler, M., Dias, S., & Pereira, A. M. (2013). Predictors of

burnout among nurses: An interactionist approach. *Psicothema*, *25*, 330-335. doi:10.7334/psicothema2012.246

- Ramoo, V., Abdullah, K. L., & Piaw, C. Y. (2013). The relationship between job satisfaction and intention to leave current employment among registered nurses in a teaching hospital. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 22, 3141-3152. doi:10.1111/jocn.12260
- Ramthun, A. J., & Matkin, G. S. (2014). Leading dangerously: A case study of military teams and shared leadership in dangerous environments. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 21, 244-256. doi:10.1177/1548051814529827
- Raso, R. (2013). Leadership Q&A. *Nursing Management*, 44, 6-56. doi:10.1097/01.NUMA.0000434468.74837.32
- Ratnapalan, S., & Uleryk, E. (2014). Organizational learning in health care organizations. *Systems*, *2*(1), 24-33. doi:10.3390/systems2010024
- Risk, J. L. (2013). Building a new life: A chaplain's theory based case study of chronic illness. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy*, 19, 81-98. doi:10.1080/08854726.2013.806117
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *11*, 25-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Röthlin, F. (2013). Managerial strategies to reorient hospitals towards health promotion. *Journal of Health Organization & Management*, 27, 747-761.
 doi:10.1108/JHOM-07-2011-0070

- Ryan, M. E., & Ebbert, D. W. (2013). Nurse practitioner satisfaction: Identifying perceived beliefs and barriers. *Journal for Nurse Practitioners*, 9, 428-434. doi:10.1016/j.nurpra.2013.05.014
- Sandelowski, M. (2014). A matter of taste: Evaluating the quality of qualitative research. *Nursing Inquiry, 22*, 86-94. doi:10.1111/nin.12080
- Sanders, C. L., Krugman, M., & Schloffman, D. H. (2013). Leading change to create a healthy and satisfying work environment. *Nursing Administration Quarterly*, *37*, 346. doi:10.1097/NAQ.0b013e3182a2fa2d
- Schaffner, E., Schiefele, U., & Ulferts, H. (2013). Reading amount as a mediator of the effects of intrinsic and extrinsic reading motivation on reading comprehension. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 48, 369-385. doi:10.1002/rrq.52
- Schwinn, S., & Dinkel, S. (2015). Changing the culture of long-term care: Combating heterosexism. *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 20, 1-11. doi:10.3912/OJIN.Vol20No02PPT03
- Scott, S. D., Brett-MacLean, P., Archibald, M., & Hartling, L. (2013). Protocol for a systematic review of the use of narrative storytelling and visual-arts-based approaches as knowledge translation tools in health care. *Systematic Reviews*, *2*, 19-20. doi:10.1186/2046-4053-2-19
- Sebo, P., Herrmann, F. R., Bovier, P., & Haller, D. M. (2015). What are patients' expectations about the organization of their primary care physicians' practices? *BMC Health Services Research*, 15, 1-13. doi:10.1186/s12913-015-0985-y

Shahid, A., & Azhar, S. M. (2013). Gaining employee commitment: Linking to organizational effectiveness. *Journal of Management Research*, *5*, 250-268. doi:10.5296/jmr.v5i1.2319

Shweiki, E., Martin, N. D., Beekley, A. C., Jenoff, J. S., Koenig, G. J., Kaulback, K. R.,
... & Cohen, M. J. (2015). Applying expectancy theory to residency training:
proposing opportunities to understand resident motivation and enhance residency
training. *Advances in Medical Education & Practice*, *6*, 339–346.
doi:10.2147/AMEP.S76587

- Siegle, D., Rubenstein, L. D., & Mitchell, M. S. (2014). Honors students' perceptions of their high school experiences: The influence of teachers on student motivation. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 58, 35-50. doi:10.1177/0016986213513496
- Simoneaux, S. L., & Stroud, C. L. (2014). Business best practices: A strong corporate culture is key to success. *Journal of Pension Benefits*, 22(1), 51-53. Retrieved from http://www.aspenpublishers.com
- Simpson, A., & Quigley, C. F. (2016). Member checking process with adolescent students: Not just reading a transcript. *Qualitative Report*, 21, 376-392. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu
- Smith, C. (2015). Exemplary leadership: How style and culture predict organizational outcomes. *Nursing Management*, 46, 47-51.

doi:10.1097/01.NUMA.0000456659.17651.c0

Solans-Domènech, M., Adam, P., Guillamón, I., Permanyer-Miralda, G., Pons, J. M. V.,
& Escarrabill, J. (2013). Impact of clinical and health services research projects

on decision-making: A qualitative study. *Health Research Policy & Systems, 11*, 15-26. doi:10.1186/1478-4505-11-15

- Spell, H. B., Eby, L. T., & Vandenberg, R. J. (2014). Developmental climate: A crosslevel analysis of voluntary turnover and job performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 84, 283-292. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2014.02.001
- Spetz, J., Trupin, L., Bates, T., & Coffman, J. M. (2015). Future demand for long-term care workers will be influenced by demographic and utilization changes. Health *Affairs, 34*, 936-945. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0005
- Steinmetz, S., de Vries, D. H., & Tijdens, K. G. (2014). Should I stay or should I go? The impact of working time and wages on retention in the health workforce. *Human Resources for Health*, 12, 23-35. doi:10.1186/1478-4491-12-23
- Stimpfel, A. W., Lake, E., Barton, S., Gorman, K. C., & Aiken, L. (2013). How differing shift lengths relate to quality outcomes in pediatrics. *Journal of Nursing Administration.* 43, 95-100. doi:10.1097/NNA.0b013e31827f2244
- Stinglhamber, F., Marique, G., Caesens, G., Desmette, D., Hansez, I., Hanin, D., &
 Bertrand, F. (2015). Employees' organizational identification and affective organizational commitment: An integrative approach. *PLOS One, 10*, 1-23. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0123955
- Stuckey, H. L. (2013). Three types of interviews: Qualitative research methods in social health. *Journal of Social Health & Didactics*, 1(2), 56-59. doi:10.4103/2321-0656.115294

Su-Yueh, C., Wen-Chuan, W., Ching-Sheng, C., Chia-Tzu, L., Jung-Yuan, K., Hui-

Ching, W., ... & Shu-I, L. (2015). Organizational justice, trust, and identification and their effects on organizational commitment in hospital nursing staff. *BMC Health Services Research, 15*, 1-17. doi:10.1186/s12913-015-1016-8

Swaminathan, A., Jahagirdar, S., & Kulkarni, C. (2014). Client center care: Looking through the lens of quantitative and qualitative measures- case studies. *Indian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 46(1), 10-15. Retrieved from http://medind.nic.in/iba/t14/i1/ibat14i1p10.pdf

- Szolnoki, G., & Hoffmann, D. (2013). Online, face-to-face and telephone surveys— Comparing different sampling methods in wine consumer research. *Wine Economics & Policy*, 2(2), 57-66. doi:10.1016/j.wep.2013.10.001
- Taormina, R. J., & Gao, J. H. (2013). Maslow and the motivation hierarchy: Measuring satisfaction of the needs. *American Journal of Psychology*, *126*, 155-177. doi:10.5406/amerjpsyc.126.2.0155
- Tayfur, O., & Arslan, M. (2013). The role of lack of reciprocity, supervisory support, workload and work-family conflict on exhaustion: Evidence from physicians. *Psychology, Health, & Medicine, 18*, 564-575.
 doi:10.1080/13548506.2012.756535

U01.10.1000/15540500.2012.750555

Taylor-Ritzler, T., Suarez-Balcazar, Y., Garcia-Iriarte, E., Henry, D. B., & Balcazar, F. E. (2013). Understanding and measuring evaluation capacity: A model and instrument validation study. *American Journal of Evaluation*, *34*, 190-206. doi:10.1177/1098214012471421

- Teeuw, W. J., Slot, D. E., Susanto, H., Gerdes, V. E., Abbas, F., D'Aiuto, F., ... Loos, B.
 G. (2014). Treatment of periodontitis improves the atherosclerotic profile: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology, 41*, 70-79. doi:10.1111/jcpe.12171
- Thanacoody, P. R., Newman, A., & Fuchs, S. (2014). Affective commitment and turnover intentions among health care professionals: The role of emotional exhaustion and disengagement. *International Journal of Human Resource Management, 25*, 1841-1869. doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.860389

Thelwell, R. C., Wagstaff, C. R., Rayner, A., Chapman, M., & Barker, J. (2016).
 Exploring athletes' perceptions of coach stress in elite sport environments.
 Journal of Sports Sciences. 1-12. Advance online publication.
 doi:10.1080/02640414.2016.1154979

Thibodeaux, A. K., Labat, M. B., Lee, D. E., & Labat, C. A. (2015). The effects of leadership and high-stakes testing on teacher retention. *Academy of Educational Leadership Journal*, 9, 227-249. Retrieved from

http://www.alliedacademies.org/academy-of-educational-leadership-journal/

- Thomas, K. J. (2014) Workplace technology and the creation of boundaries the role of VHRD in a 24/7 work environment. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 16, 281-295. doi:10.1177/1523422314532092
- Thomas, K. S., Mor, V., Tyler, D. A., & Hyer, K. (2013). The relationships among licensed nurse turnover, retention, and rehospitalization of nursing home residents. *Gerontologist*, 53, 211–221. doi:10.1093/geront/gns082

- Trochim, W. M. K., Donnelly, J. P., & Arora, K. (2014). *Research Methods: The essential knowledge base*. Mason, OH: Atomic Dog.
- Trybou, J., Pourcq, K., Paeshuyse, M., & Gemmel, P. (2014). The importance of social exchange to nurses and nurse assistants: Impact on retention factors. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 22, 563-571. doi:10.1111/jonm.12039
- Tsai, Y. (2014). Learning organizations, internal marketing, and organizational commitment in hospitals. *BMC Health Services Research*, 14, 152-165. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-14-152
- Tsai, Y., Huang, N., Chien, L., Chiang, J., & Chiou, S. (2016). Work hours and turnover intention among hospital physicians in Taiwan: Does income matter? *BMC Health Services Research*, 16, 667-686. doi:10.1186/s12913-016-1916-2
- Twigg, D., & McCullough, K. (2014). Nurse retention: A review of strategies to create and enhance positive practice environments in clinical settings. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 51, 85-92. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2013.05.015
- Tziner, A., Rabenu, E., Radomski, R., & Belkin, A. (2015). Work stress and turnover intentions among hospital physicians: The mediating role of burnout and work satisfaction. *Journal of Work & Organizational Psychology*, 31, 207-213. doi:10.1016/j.rpto.2015.05.001
- U. S. Department of Health & Human Services. (1979). *The Belmont report*. Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov
- Valiee, S., Peyrovi, H., & Nasrabadi, A. N. (2014). Critical care nurses' perception of nursing error and its causes: A qualitative study. *Contemporary Nurse: A Journal*

for the Australian Nursing Profession, 46, 206-213.

doi:10.5172/conu.2014.46.2.206f

- Van Bogaert, P., Adriaenssens, J., Dilles, T., Martens, D., Van Rompaey, B., & Timmermans, O. (2014). Impact of role, job and organizational characteristics on nursing unit managers' work related stress and well-being. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 2622-2633. doi:10.1111/jan.12449
- Van Bogaert, P., Kowalski, C., Weeks, S. M., & Clarke, S. P. (2013). The relationship between nurse practice environment, nurse work characteristics, burnout and job outcome and quality of nursing care: A cross-sectional survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 50, 1667-1677. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2013.05.010
- Van Bogaert, P., Timmermans, O., Weeks, S. M., Van Heusden, D., Wouters, K., & Franck, E. (2014). Nursing unit teams matter, impact of unit-level nurse practice environment, nurse work characteristics, and burnout on nurse reported job outcomes, and quality of care, and patient adverse events: A cross-sectional survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies, 51*, 1123-1134. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2013.12.009
- Van Bogaert, P., Van Heusden, D., Timmermans, O., & Franck, E. (2014). Nurse work engagement impacts job outcome and nurse-assessed quality of care: model testing with nurse practice environment and nurse work characteristics as predictors. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*, 1261-1289. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01261
- Vanclay, F., Baines, J. T., & Taylor, C. N. (2013). Principles for ethical research involving humans: Ethical professional practice in impact assessment part I.

Impact Assessment & Project Appraisal, 31, 243-253. doi:10.1080/14615517.2013.850307

- Van Mastrigt, G. G., Paulus, A. G., Aarts, M., Evers, S. A., Alayli-Goebbels, A. G., Van Mastrigt, G. A., & Alayli-Goebbels, A. F. (2015). A qualitative study on the views of experts regarding the incorporation of non-health outcomes into the economic evaluations of public health interventions. *BMC Public Health*, 15, 1-17. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-2247-7
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, 37(1), 21-54. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org/
- Verleye, K., Gemmel, P., & Rangarajan, D. (2014). Managing engagement behaviors in a network of customers and stakeholders: Evidence from the nursing home sector. *Journal of Service Research*, 17, 68-84. doi:10.1177/1094670513494015
- Vogl, S. (2013). Telephone versus face-to-face interviews mode effect on semistructured interviews with children. *Sociological Methodology*, 43(1), 133-177. doi:10.1177/0081175012465967
- Vroom, V. (1964). Work and motivation. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Vujicic, D., Jovicic, A., Lalic, D., Gagic, S., & Cvejanov, A. (2014). The relation between job insecurity, job satisfaction and organizational commitment among employees in the tourism sector in Novi Sad. *Economic & Industrial Democracy*, *38*, 633-652. doi:10.1177/0143831X14527017

Wallis, A., & Kennedy, K. I. (2013). Leadership training to improve nurse retention.

Journal of Nursing Management, 21, 624-632. doi:10.1111/j.1365-

2834.2012.01443.x

- Whiffin, C. J., Bailey, C., Ellis-Hill, C., & Jarrett, N. (2014). Challenges and solutions during analysis in a longitudinal narrative case study. *Nurse Researcher*, *21*, 20-26. doi:10.7748/nr2014.03.21.4.20.e1238
- Wong, C. A., & Laschinger, H. K. (2013). Authentic leadership, performance, and job satisfaction: The mediating role of empowerment. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69, 947-959. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2012.06089.x
- Woodhead, E. L., Northrop, L., & Edelstein, B. (2014). Stress, social support, and burnout among long-term care nursing staff. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 35(1), 1-22. doi:10.1177/0733464814542465
- Yang, J., Treadway, D. C., & Stepina, L. P. (2013). Justice and politics: Mechanisms for the underlying relationships of role demands to employees' satisfaction and turnover intentions. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 43, 1624-1635. doi:10.1111/jasp.12115
- Yang, Y. F. (2014). Studies of transformational leadership: Evaluating two alternative models of trust and satisfaction. *Psychological Reports*, *114*, 740-757. doi:10.2466/01.04.PR0.114k27w2
- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 134-152. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/tqr

Yeatman, S., Trinitapoli, J., & Hayford, S. (2013). Limitations of clinic-based studies on

HIV and fertility preferences. *American Journal of Public Health*, *101*, 5-5. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301333

- Yeh, Y. P. (2014). Exploring the impacts of employee advocacy on job satisfaction and organizational commitment: Case of Taiwanese airlines. *Journal of Air Transport Management*, 36, 94-100. doi:10.1016/j.jairtraman.2014.01.002
- Yin, R. K. (2013). Validity and generalization in future case study evaluations. *Evaluation*, 19, 321-332. doi:10.1177/1356389013497081
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks: CA: Sage.
- Zaheer, S., Ginsburg, L., Chuang, Y., & Grace, S. L. (2015). Patient safety climate (PSC) perceptions of frontline staff in acute care hospitals: Examining the role of ease of reporting, unit norms of openness, and participative leadership. *Health Care Management Review, 40*(1), 13-23. doi:10.1097/HMR.0000000000000005
- Zamawe, F. C. (2015). The implication of using NVivo software in qualitative data analysis: Evidence-based reflections. *Malawi Medical Journal*, 27(1), 13-15. Retrieved from http://www.mmj.mw
- Zhao, X., Sun, T., Cao, Q., Li, C., Duan, X., Fan, L., & Liu, Y. (2013). The impact of quality of work life on job embeddedness and affective commitment and their coeffect on turnover intention of nurses. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 22, 780-788. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2702.2012.04198.x

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Time of Interview:

Interviewer:

Interviewee pseudonym:

Date:

Location of the interview:

Introductory Interview Protocol

Welcome and thank you for your participation today. My name is Malee Kirk. I am a doctorate student at Walden University conducting a study in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctorate of Business Administration, specializing in Leadership. I am conducting a study entitled *Strategies for Health Care Administration Leaders to Reduce Hospital Employee Turnover*. The purpose of this study is to explore effective strategies for health care administrators to use to reduce hospital employee turnover. The digital voice recorder will allow me to accurately document the information you convey to me during the interview. I am the only person allowed access to the digital voice recorder, which will be eventually destroyed after they are transcribed without any of your personally identifying information attached to those recordings or transcriptions.

[May I turn on the digital voice recorder?]

[I will check my email inbox to ensure the participants reply to the informed consent forms by email with the words, "I consent" before proceeding. Participant must print or save a copy consent form for your records.]

Does anyone have any questions regarding the consent form to participate in interviews in this study?

Before each interview read the following script:

You all have read and reply to the informed consent form. The informed consent explains the purpose of this study. You are encouraged to ask any question or seek any explanations as you think necessary. The interview should last about one hour and will include a set of ten open-ended questions regarding your experiences working in hospitals and what you consider are effective strategies for reducing employee turnover in hospitals. All of your responses are confidential and are only used for the purpose of my study to develop a better understanding of hospital employee turnover. You may refuse to answer any questions. If at any time during the interview you are free to withdraw at any time before, during, or after I collect data from you. Any data that you share that is important to this research study may be used; your identity will not be revealed. In the final study, you will be alluded to with a distinctive pseudonym code (e.g., "Hospital Administrator # X", "Physician # X", or "Nurse # X"). Do you have any questions regarding the study before we begin?

[Begin Open-Ended Interview Questions]

[Concluding Interview Remarks]

Thank you for your participation in this interview. I will call on you to participate in the process of member checking after I have a chance to form some initial interpretations from the data I am collecting. Would you still be willing to make yourself available for the member checking process? If so, I will plan to send you via email a summary of my initial interpretations for your evaluation, added input, or clarifications you feel might add to this study. This should take about 25 minutes.

[Member Checking Correspondence]

Greetings, I appreciate your contributions to this study and am contacting you again to participate in the member checking process. Attached to this email you will find my initial interpretations of the data. I would like you to review this summary and comment on these initial findings. Please feel free to refute, clarify, add, or explain any of these initial findings for the purposes of enhancing the trustworthiness of this study. If you would like to review and email your added thoughts, meet in person to discuss your added input, or talk over the telephone, I am glad to do so at your convenience. I would like to add your input from this member checking process within the week to be able to continue with the final data analysis steps for the study. I look forward to your added thoughts and the opportunity to learn more from your experiences.

[I continued to interview new participants until a point of data saturation is established.]

Appendix B: Screening Questions

- 1. Are you a hospital administrator, physician, or nurse?
- 2. How long have you been a hospital administrator, physician, or nurse?
- 3. Do you have effective strategies to reduce employee turnover in hospitals?
- 4. What is your geographic location?

Appendix C: Invitation Letter

[Insert date]

["Health care Professional Name"] ["Health care Professional Address"] [City, State, Zip code]

Dear [Insert Health care Professional Name]:

My name is Malee Kirk, and I am a student at Walden University in the Doctor of Business Administration program. You are invited to participate in a study about how health care administrators reduce hospital employee turnover. I am seeking health care administrators in North Carolina who have successfully used strategies to reduce hospital employee turnover in North Carolina, who would be willing to participate in an interview with me consisting of approximately 10 questions. To participate in this study you should be currently employed as a medical professional in a North Carolina hospital, either as a hospital administrator, physician, or nurse. You must have at least 5 years of knowledge employed in a hospital setting. You should be at least 18 years of age. If you choose to participate in this study you will be asked to reply by email with the words "I consent" to the informed consent form. I will then ask 10 questions in a recorded semistructured interview session lasting approximately 1 hour. After the interview, I will summarize the interview and provide my one to two-page analysis of your responses to you in what is commonly called "member checking" to ensure my summary of your responses accurately represents the intent of your responses. The member checking process should take approximately 25 minutes

Your participation in this study is voluntary. There will be no incentive or compensation for participation. You may refuse to answer any questions and withdraw from the study at any time without any repercussions. The results of the study will be published; however, all responses will remain confidential, your personal information and organization identities will remain confidential and will not be disclosed to anyone. I plan to share the final results from the study with you and leaders of medicinal services. If you or willing to participate in the study, you may contact me via email at eastgemini@hotmail.com and/or home phone 804-715-9345. I attached a consent form to read, understand, ask questions about, and consent to if you decide to participate. Thank you for your time and consideration to voluntarily participate in this study.

Sincerely,

Malee Kirk Walden University Doctoral Student

Appendix D: Interview Questions

The interview questions designed for this study signified a guide for extracting participants' responses. The purpose was to gather data from health care administrators in Raleigh, North Carolina who successfully reduced turnover. The guiding interview questions were:

- 1. What strategies did you apply in your organization to reduce employee turnover?
- 2. Of the strategies that you applied, which strategies do you believe have been most effective in reducing staff turnover?
- 3. What strategies did you apply to salary structure help to reduce staff turnover?
- 4. What policies and procedures did you apply to help to reduce staff turnover?
- 5. What working conditions do you promote to reduce staff turnover?
- 6. What are your experiences with career growth opportunities that reduced staff turnover?
- 7. Of the strategies that you applied to reduce turnover, what strategies, if any, do you believe enhanced job satisfaction among staff?
- 8. Of the strategies that you applied to reduce turnover, what strategies, if any, do you believe decreased dissatisfaction among staff?
- 9. What publicly-available documents would you suggest that I review that could help me understand the strategies you used to reduce staff turnover?
- 10. What more can you add that we have not already discussed that can help me understand the strategies you used to reduce turnover of hospital staff?